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U ) mission is to provide the best possible

| Celiular Corporation

(“RCC”) is a wireless service carrier providing mobile phone and data services
in rural areas where tourism, agricutture and small businesses are prevalent.

From its array of services, RCC tailors its offerings fo address the unigue needs

ategic presence through acquisitions and other edge-out efforts. Today,

RCC's service area includes 6.5 milion population served (*POPs”) and over
700,000 customers located throughout portions of 15 states in the Midwest,

Northeast, South and Northwest regions of the United States.




CAPABILITY

TOTALLY UNWIRED.

To our shareholders, employees, customers, communities
and suppliers:

In 2005 we ran the race at full speed and are rnow positioned for the exciting opportunities
of today's wireless industry through our increased capability, coverage and capacity. We
take pride in our expanded networks and enter 2006 poised for success wifh well-developed
strategies and disciplines in place. ‘

RCC does business in two worlds. Qur core identity is that of a largely rural, regional carrier,
operating in areas where tourism, recreation and agriculture are predominant.

Another facet of our business is that we are a wireless provider for those who travel through
and converge on our service areas to work and play. Our customers and our roaming partners

UNICEL

information o be present wherever they go. ; THE WAY WIRELESS SHOULD BE.

have equal expectations for the convenience of communications, entertainment and

Customers want more out of their mobility every day and we aspire to exceed those
expectations by offering the right services and devices. We have an excellent plan in place
together with the conviction and dedication required to succeed in our industry.

Richard P. Ekstrand
President and Chief Executive Officer
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.. ToTALLY UNWIRLED.

Three years ago we set info motion a strategic plan for RCC's network growth. We
have followed our plan with consistency, resolve and discipline. Our wireless
network has widened as we've both edged out and filled in our coverage.

We implemented a three-point strategy:
convert our TDMA networks to CDMA/TXRTT
in the Midwest and to GSM/GPRS/Edge in
the Northeast, Northwest and South; fill in
our networks to more comprehensively
blanket our service areas with coverage;
and edge out our networks from our
existing footprint.

In 2005, we expanded our coverage areas
by building out our licenses in Fargo and
Grand Forks, ND; Lewiston/Auburn ME;
Lewiston, ID, and selected areas in Alabama.
Additionally, we made substanticl
progress toward completing the build-out
of the Lakes Region in New Hampshire.

We've grown our network from approxi-
mately 800 legacy cell sites in March 2004
to 1,100 new technology cell sites at the
end of 2005. Moving away from multiple
technology networks positions us for
greater efficiency, giving incentive to

expedite customer migration fo our new
technology products.

Equally as important as the number of
cell sites we operate is the quality of our
spectrum, which we own. Qur valuable
850 MHz licenses, which cover aimost 90%
of our service areas, provide expansive
coverage, uniquely meeting the needs of
our rural markets. MOUs have increased
dramatically throughout the year, a
resounding endorsement of our

network strategies.

We are only af the beginning of an
important and exciting opportunity to
provide enhanced information, entertain-
ment and communication services to the
marketplace. Our new networks and
increased capacity give us the capability
to offer customers relevant new data
services and devices. Roughly half of our
customers at year-end have adopted

new technology handsets and have em-
braced the benefits of improved voice calls
and advances like access to the Internet,
weather and customized information.

in the year ahead, we anticipate stepped
up demand for new devices that will allow
customers to take advantage of ever
expanding data offerings. Unicel's newly
centralized distribution systems continue fo
improve as we deliver our new network to
customers through storefronts, an extensive
group of authorized agents and business-
to-business sales channels. Unicel retail
stores are taking on'a new look, providing
a mere modern, streamlined shopping
experience. In addition, through extensive
product fraining and education, we have
a new focus on grooming our consumer
and business-to-business sales forces for
knowledge and service excellence.
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L. TOTALLY UNWIRED.

Through close collaboration of our network, ﬁales and marketing and customer
operations teams, we are innovatively and confidently executing hundreds of
things on a daily basis in a better manner than ever before.

In 2005, we worked aggressively fo improve
our netwarks, our billing systems and our
organization with the goal of improving
the overall customer experience and the
resulting retention. Today, we are in the
process of consolidating and leveraging
these gains.

Additionally, in 2005 we successfully
centralized our company's management
structure and we confinue to fine-tune our
organization and reallocate resources,
adding capacity and value.,

Community Initiafives
RCC'simproved capacity includes not only
our network, devices, and the latest data
offerings. Our capacity also encompasses
our intenfion and commitment o building
our local and regional communifies
through important initiatives.

The communities we serve benefit from
our presence whether through providing
customers with communication tools or
employment opportunities for local citizens.
While we have added to the economic
development of our communities, we've
also been present as a strong community
advocate and partner. Apart from the

wireless services we provide, we have
spcnsored activities and organizations that
have enriched our towns and cities.

Qur own Hometown and High
School Heroes programs rec-
ognize and honor individuals
who tirelessly give of themselves.

Unicel’'s StandUp! program is
designed to inform young
people, parents, feachers
and concerned community members
about the dangers of cyber bullying,
which occurs over the Internet and
through cell phone messaging. We are
leading the fight against this modern day
form of violence. Our efforts include
partnering with nationally known experts
fo speak at our local schools; We also
provide educational materials for students
and parents through Unicel retail stores
and our website.

We were
VX;\r/leBl%Slg @ 9 among the first
wireless carriers
Alerts CaLL To

PROTECT 401100 out the

The Wireless Association’s Wireless AMBER
Alerts™ initiative, allowing customers to

receive AMBER Alerts sent directly to their
phones. Through the year, we also partici-
pated in the Call to Protect®, furnishing
wireless phones and service to assist
victims of domestic abuse.

Unicel employees live out our company
values and are quick to respond to
humanitarian needs. This year, our
employees demonstrated compassion as
they mobilized relief efforts for hurricane
victims in our South territory.

We have given to our communities because
it's the right thing to do, because we're
responsible, and because our employees
care. This part of our corporate culture is
deeply ingrained.

Looking Ahead

Our seasoned management feam, network
sirength, and our engaged community
presence allows us 1o face the challenges
of 2006 with confidence. RCC's primary
focus is leveraging our technology
investments to produce customer and
revenue growith. A second key goalis
continued enhancement of the customer

experience fo improve retention.




FINANCIAL

Our financial strategies have
stayed the course over time and include
improving customer retention, increasing
local monthly service revenue per customer
("LSR"), and minimizing-acquisition cost per
customer. We have invested heavily in our
networks and are now managing the
related technology transition while
balancing the benefits and costs of
operating multiple technology networks.
Qur financial performance for 2005
reflects the success of these efforts with
year over year growth in service, roaming

RESULTS

and eguipment revenue culminating in 8%
growth in total revenue.

We have continued to expiore opfions on
how to improve our balance sheet. Through
the last few years, over $100 million of senior
exchangeable prefered stock has been
retired through either repurchases or
exchanges for Class A common stock. In
November 2005, we completed an offering
of $175 million of senior subordinated floating
rate notes, and redeemed our outstanding
9%% senior subordinated notes which

moved out our nearest term maturity to
2010. We also converted our outstanding
shares of Class T convertible preferred stock
into common stock. All of these efforts
have contributed to the improvement in
our total enterprise value as compared to
last year at this time.

For 2006, we continue to anticipate strong
roaming revenue and increasing LSR,
while being keenly focused on improving
retention and increasing our postpaid
customer base.

(in millions)

Rural Cellutar Corporation Highlights

SERVICE REVENUE

$123

o

ROAMING REVENUE

{in millions)

CELL SITES/BASE STATIONS

{For the years ended December 31)

2005 2004 2003 2002 200t
Financial nghllghTS (In thousands, except per share data)
Total revenue $544,935 $504,817 $507,389 $463,078 $445,688
Operating income $105,946 $101,713 $123,250 $135,012 $80,800
Net loss applicable to common shares {$71,296) ($71,856) ($50,082) (3456,458) ($102,136)
Net loss per basic and diluted share ($5.62) ($5.87) ($4.15) ($38.29) (¢8.61)
Weighted average shares outstanding 12,695 12,239 12,060 11,920 11,865
Operating Data:
Customers 705,602 729,811 745,516 722,373 661,908
Market penetration 9.5% 10.3% 1h.4% H.3% 10.7%
Retention 97.3% 97.9% 98.1% 98.2% 97.8%
Average monthly revenue per customer (“ARPU") $67 $60 $59 $57 $59
Local monthly service revenue per customer $50 $46 543 541 $42
Acquisition cost per customer $497 $444 $422 $377 $290
Cell sites/Base stations 1,061 857 754 732 684




SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual Meeting

of Shareholders

The Company’s annual meeting of
shareholders will be held on Thursday,
May 25, 2006, at 10 a.m. Central Daylight
Time at Heliday Inn Alexandria,

5637 Highway 29 South, Alexandria,
Minnesota 56308.

Shareholder, Investor

and Media Contact

Shareholders, investors, analysts and
members of the medic seeking company
information should contact Investor
Relations or Public Relations at the
Company's corporate offices at

(320) 762-2000 or visit our website at
www.unicel.com.

Stock Transfer Agent

and Registrar

Shareowners with questions about share
transfers, lost certificates or changes of
address may contact:

Wells Fargo, N.A. Shareowner Services
161 North Concord Exchange

South §t. Paul, MN 55075-1139
Phone: (651) 306-4341

Toll free: (800) 468-9716

Email: stocktranster@wellsfargo.com

Common Stock Market Data
Total shareholders of record: 170

Rural Celiular Corporation is listed

on The Nasdag National Market.
Symbol: RCCC

Newspaper listing: Rurlcella

Market Price Per Share

2005 High . Low 2004
First Quarter $8.85 | $5.10 First Quarter
Segond Quarter $5.77 $4.20 Secand Quarter
Third Quarter $12.92 1 $5.19 Third Quarter

Fourth Quartelr

FoqrthiQuarrer $17.12 81179

Corporate Counsel
Moss and Barnett

A Professional Association
Minneapolis, Minnesota
Independent Accountants
Deloitte & Touche LLP ‘
Minneapolis, Minnesota

Copies of Annual Reports

if you would like additional copies of
this report, contact Investor Relations at
(320) 762-2000 or access it online at
www.unicel.com and click onj

Investor Relations/annual report.

High Low
$14.38 $8.00
$10.20 $6.80

$9.71 $6.66

$7.18 $4.70
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PART |

item 1. Business

References in this Form 10-K to “'Rural Cellular,” "RCC,” "we,”
“our,” and "us” refer to Rural Cellular Corporation and its
subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that
those terms mean only the parent company.

We fite with, or furnish to, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "SEC”) annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, as well as various
other information. RCC makes these reports and other information
available free of charge on the Investor Relations page of our
website as soon as reasonably practicable after providing such
reports to the SEC. In addition, in the Corporate Governance section
of the Investor Relations page of our website, we make available
the Financial Code of Ethics and the charters for the Audit,
Compensation, and Nominating Committees. The internst address
for our website is at www.unicel.com.

Such reports may also be obtained by visiting the Public Reference
Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, NE, Washington D.C. 20549 or
by calling the SEC at (800) SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC
maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically.

Forward-Looking Information

This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements’” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act. All statements regarding us and our
expected financial position, business, and financing plans are
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be
identified by, among other things, the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “'should,” “‘seeks,”
“anticipates,” “intends,” or the negative or other variations of any
such term or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy
or intentions. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in

such foWard-looking statements are reasonable, our expectations
may prove not to be correct. A number of factors could cause our
actual results, performance, and achievements or industry results o
be materially different from any future results, performance, or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking state-
ments. See risks and uncertainties relating to our business under
ltem 1A. 'Risk Factors" of this document.

In addition, such forward-looking statements are necessarily
dependent upon assumptions, estimates, and data that may be
incorrect or imprecise and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties, and other factors. Accordingly, forward-looking state-
ments included in this report do not purport to be predictions of
future events or circumstances and may not be realized. Al
subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable
to us or to persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in
their entirety by the foregoing cautionary statements. Given these
uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
such forward-looking statements. We disclaim any obligation to
update any such factors or to announce publicly the results of any
revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained in this
report to reflect future events or developments,

(a) General Development of Business

We are a Twireless communications service provider focusing
primarily on rural markets in the United States. Our principal
operating objective is to increase revenue and achieve profitability
through increased penetration in our existing wireless markets.

Our operating territories include portions of five states in the
Northeast, three states in the Northwest, four states in the Midwest,
and three:states in the South. Within each of our four territories, we
have deployed a strong local sales and customer service presence
in the communities we serve. Our marketed networks covered a
total population (“POPs"”) of approximately 6.5 million and served
approximately 706,000 voice customers as of December 31, 2005,

The following table summarizes our existing wireless systems as of December} 31, 2005

Post and Prepaid Customers (Not includling paging and //ong;] distance)

Customers as of

Percentage Service Area December 31,
Ownership pops™ 2005 2004 Square Miles States
Territories
Cellular:
Midwest 100% 741,000 133,000 124,000 45,000 MN, ND, SD
Northeast 100% 2,174,000 251,000 267,000 48,000 MA, ME, NH, NY, VT
South 100% 2,011,000 97,000 118,000 79,000 AL, KS, MS
Northwest 100% 825,000 118,000 127,000 77,000 1D, OR, WA
Total 5,751,000 599,000 636,000 247,000
PCS:
Wireless Alliance 70% 754,000 11,000 13,000 19,000 MN, ND, SD, Wl
Wholesale N/A 96,000 81,000 N/A
Total 6,505,000 706,000 730,000 266,000

(1) Reflects 2000 U.S. Census Bureau population data updated for December 2002.
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We believe our markets have favorable characteristics for the
deployment of wireless networks. Because of the rural
demographics of our markets, which typically have lower population
densities, we face fewer competitors than more urban markets.
Also, in a number of our service areas, we are entitled to federal
support funds that subsidize our expansion into high-cost territories
that otherwise would not have telephone service, including wireless
Services.

We believe that our extensive network of local distribution
channels and our focus on focal customer service provide us with a
competitive advantage over larger wireless providers. We have
tailored our marketing and distribution strategy to rely on local
distributors and agents in areas where locating a direct retail store
might not be cost-effective based on the demographic characteris-
tics of those areas.

Qur coverage areas have a large number of vacation
destinations, substantial highway miles, and long distances between
popuiation centers, all of which we believe contribute to frequent
roaming on our network by customers of other wireless providers.
As a result, we have been able to negotiate long-term roaming
agreements with several of the country’s largest wireless carriers
that do not have as significant of a presence in our markets. Our
roaming agreements with other carriers help to provide us with a
base of roaming revenue, which generates higher margins than
local service revenue.

Qur networks utilize both 850 MHz and 1900 MHz spectrum
in our service areas. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 47%
of our wireless customers were using either CDMA or GSM
handsets with advanced features that can be utilized throughout
their respective service areas. With our networks, we are well
equipped to offer our customers regional and local wireless
coverage, and we manage our networks to provide high quality
service, with minimal call blocking and dropped calls and seamless
call delivery and hand-off.

In July 2005, we centralized and streamlined our business
organizational structure in order to redeploy resources to better
support our new products and services. Accordingly, RCC's sales,
customer service, network operations, and financial areas are now
managed on a functional basis through a centralized management
structure. We believe this change will allow us to more efficiently
apply best practices company-wide, streamline decision-making, and
improve our relationship with customers.

Qur 2005 operating results reflect the following:

» Continued construction of our 2.5G networks and, accordingly,
improved roaming minutes over the previous year,

» Continued transition of our customers to 2.5G handsets,

» Increased service revenue, primarily reflecting higher Local Service
Revenue (“LSR™) and Universal Service Fund (“USF"'} support,

« Increased costs required to support and market 2.5G networks,
products, and customers, and

« Increased customer churn and declining customers, reflecting
increased customer care needs, which we encountered during the

©

commercial introduction of our GSM networks and transition to a
new technology billing system.

For the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2004, service revenue increased 2.8% to
$387.8 million and LSR increased to $50 as compared with $46.
Contributing to the increase in LSR were increased levels of USF
support and increased access, data, and features revenue. USF
support payments increased to $40.8 miflion for the year ended
December 31, 2005 as compared to $28.2 million for the prior
year.

During 2005, our total customers decreased by 24,209 to
705,602 at year endsd December 31, 2005 as compared to
729,811 at December 31, 2004. We believe the reasons
contributing to the decrease include the transitional stage of our
networks, migration of customers to 2.5G products and services,
and the change in billing systems.

Roaming revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$122.8 million as compared to $105.5 million in the year ended
December 31, 2004, The increase in roaming revenue reflects
increased roaming outcollect minutes as compared to the compara-
ble period of the prior year partially offset by outcollect roaming
yield declining to $0.15 per minute in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2005 as compared to $0.16 per minute in the year ended
December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2005, substantially all of our 1,061 cell sites
were equipped with 2.5G technology. During the year ended
December 31, 2005 and year ended December 31, 2004, 2.5G
outcollect minutes accounted for 80% and 35%, respectively, of our
total outcollect minutes. As of December 31, 2005, approximately
47% of our postpaid customers were using new technology
handsets as compared to 6% at December 31, 2004.

Qur 2005 balance sheet reflects the following:

« Payment of four quarteriy dividends. On October 10, 2005,
our board declared payment of four quarterly dividends on our
outstanding senior exchangeable preferred stock {*‘Senior Ex-
changeable Preferred Stock™). These dividends, which were paid
on October 26, 2005, represented the quarterly dividends payable
on November 15, 2004, February 14, 2005, May 15, 2005 and
August 15, 2005, and totaled $118.69 per share, including
accrued interest. The aggregate total dividends of approximately
$17.8 million reduced the number of unpaid quarterly dividends
on the senior exchangeable preferred-stock to five, which
remedied the then existing "'Voting Rights Triggering Event” and
removed any uncertainty regarding our ability to incur indebted-
ness, including under the revolving credit facility. We did not
declare or pay the quarterly dividends due in November 2005 or
February 2008. Accordingly, there now exists a ““Voting Rights
Triggering Event.”

« Revolving Credit Facility. Effective October 18, 2005, we
received approval from a majority of the banks who are lenders
under our revolving credit facility to exclude $17.8 million of
senior exchangeable preferred dividends paid on October 26,




2005, from the interest coverage covenant calculation. We aiso
barrowed $58.0 million against the revolving credit facility on
November 3, 2005 and were in compliance with all of the credit
facility financial covenants as of December 31, 2005. Our failure
to pay the cash dividends on our senior exchangeable preferred
stock may affect our ability to incur additional debt under the
revolving credit facility.

Conversion of Class T Convertible Preferred Stock into

Common Stock. On QOctober 27, 2005, RCC converted all of its

outstanding shares of Class T convertible preferred stock into

43,000 shares of Class A and 105,940 shares of Class B

common stock. This conversion resulted in a gain of approxi-

mately $6.7 million, which partially offset preferred stock

dividends in 2005.

Offering of Senior Subordinated Floating Rate Notes.

On November 7, 2005, the Company completed an offering of

$175 million of Senior Subordinated Floating Rate Notes due

2012 which were sold at an original issue discount of

$2.2 million, or 1.25%. The effective interest rate at Decem-

ber 31, 2005 was 10.30%. Interest is reset quarterly. With the

proceeds of this offering, we redeemed all of our outstanding

9%:% senior subordinated notes. The total amount for such

repurchase was approximately $133.8 million, including

$125.0 million aggregate principal, $6.8 million accrued interest

to the repurchase date of December 7, 2005, and $2 million

premium for early repurchase.

» Exchange of Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock for
Class A Common Stock. in 2005, we exchanged an aggregate
of 10,535 shares of our senior exchangeable preferred stock for
an aggregate of 1,152,745 shares of our Class A common stock
in negotiated transactions. The shares were issued in reliance
upon the exemption from registration provided in Section 3(a)(9) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

« Repurchase of Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock. In
2005, we repurchased 14,932 shares of senior exchangeable
preferred stock for $13.4 million.

« Capital Expenditures. Inctuding the cost of our network
overlays, our total capital expenditures for 2005 were approxi-
mately $95.0 million compared to $94.4 million in 2004,

(b) Financial information about Segments

Our business consists of one reportable operating segment, the
operation of wireless communication systems in the United States.

(c) Description of Business/Service Areas
Marketing of Products and Services

Local Service

We have developed our marketing strategy on a market-by-market
basis and offer service plan options to our customers tailored to
address their specific needs and to encourage cellular usage. In

general, because our customers typically live in rural areas, they are

more likely to purchase plans that provide a regional footprint than
a national one. Most of our service plans have a fixed monthly

‘ access fée, which includes a specified number of minutes, and

incremental fees for enhanced services. As a result of our focus on

marketing strategies as well as the upgrade of our networks to

digital capability, we are able to offer our customers an array of
services on an individual or bundled basis including:

* Short Message Service—allows a customer to receive and send text
messages or content messages.

* Voicemail—allows a customer to receive and retrieve voicemail.

* Wireless Imaging Service—allows customers to receive and send
pictures to another wireless handset or PC.

» 256G Technology Data Services—includes picture phones, BREW and
Java service, data cards, and Internet accessibility allowing
customers to download ring-tones, games, graphics, entertain-
ment and information.

* Mobile Web—aflows customers to access the Internet from a
laptop computer through our wireless network.

During the second half of 2006, we anticipate expanding our
2.5G technology data services to include email and calendaring
capability:

In addition to tailoring our service plans based on features and
minutes of use, we also offer our customers regional calling plans
and national plans that atlow our customers to pay home usage
rates while traveling within specified regional zones, both within and
outside of our cellular service areas. We have also established
preferred roaming contracts and developed system integration with
adjacent cellular carriers, which permit our customers to receive
automatic. call defivery, call forwarding, voicemait, and call hand-off
nationwide.

Roaming

We have roaming agreements in our markets with various carriers.
Under most of our roaming agreements, the roaming vield per
minute we receive from outcollect calling minutes, in addition to the
cost per minute we pay for our customers’ incollect activity,
declines over time. We have structured our roaming agreements to
enable us to provide expanded network access to our customers
both regionally and nationally and provide roaming rates based upon
factors such as network coverage, feature functionality, and number
of customers. Under our agreements with Cingular and Verizon
Wireless, we have been able to attain preferred roaming status by
overlaying. our existing Northeast, Northwest, and South networks
with GSM/GPRS/EDGE and our Midwest territory with
CDMA/2000/1XRTT technology.

A substantial portion of our roaming revenue has been derived
from agreements with threg national wireless providers, Cingular,
T-Mobile, and Verizon Wireless. For the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004, and 2003, Cingular (on a pro forma basis giving effect
to its 2004 merger with AT&T Wireless (“AWE™)), Verizon Wireless,
and T-Mobile accounted for approximately 92%, 86%, and 89%,
respectively, of our total outcollect roaming minutes. For the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, Cingular (on a pro
forma hasis giving effect to its merger with AWE) accounted for
approximately 11.9%, 9.9%, and 14.5%, of our total revenue.
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Our agreements with our three maost significant roaming
partners are as follows;
« Cingular, which is effective through December 2009,
* T-Mobile, which is effective through December 2007, and
» Verizon, which is effective through December 2008,

Customer Equipment

We currently sell handsets manufactured by Audiovox Corporation,
LG Electronics, Inc., Motorola, Inc., and Nokia Telecommunications,
Inc. and accessories manufactured by a number of sources.

Distribution and Sales

We market our wireless products and services through direct sales
distribution channels, which include Company-owned retail stores
and account executives. We also utilize indirect sales distribution
channels, including independent sales agents. All distribution
channels are managed on a territorial basis.

Our distribution channels include the following:

« direct sales through:

« retail stores and kiosks that we operate and staff with our
employees. As of December 31, 2005, we had 89 stores,
primarily located in our more densely populated markets. in
addition, we had 9 stand-alone kiosks. Our retail locations
help us establish our local presence and promote customer
sales and service;

* account executives who are our employees and focus on
business and major account sales and service;

« telesales, which are conducted by customer service repre-
sentatives, internet, and toll-free phone services; and

* indirect sales through approximately 350 independent sales
agents. Our independent sales agents are established businesses
in their communities and include retail electronics stores, farm
implement dealers, automobile dealers, automotive parts suppliers,
college and university bookstores, video and music stores, and
local telephone companies. Most of the agents sell our services in
conjunction with their principal business. We provide cellular
equipment to the agents for sale to customers, and the agents
market our services utilizing a cooperative advertising program.

Customer Base

At December 31, 2005, our customer base consisted of three
customer categories: postpaid, wholesale, and prepaid. Postpaid
customers accounted for the largest partion of our customer base
as of that date, at 85%. These customers pay a monthly access
fee for a wireless service plan that generally includes a fixed
number of minutes and certain service features. In addition fo the
monthly access fee, these customers are typically billed in arrears
for long-distance charges, data usage, roaming charges, and

minutes of use exceeding the rate plans. Our wholesale customers
are similar to our postpaid customers in that they pay monthly fees
to utilize our network and services; however, the customers are
bilied by a third party (reseller), who has effectively resold our
service to the end user (customer). We in turn bili the third party
for the monthly usage of the end user. Wholesale customers
accounted for 13% of our total customer base as of December 31,
2005. Our prepaid customers accounted: for 2% of our customer
base as of December 31, 2005.

Customer Service

To provide consistent customer service in our service centers, we
have implemented local monitoring and control systems and
maintain customer service departments ¢onsisting of trained
personnel who are aware of the needs of the customers in our local
markets. Our customer service centers are located in Alexandria,
Minnesota; Bangor, Maine; Enterprise, Alabama; and Bend, Oregon.
Our customer service centers can be accessed 24 hours a day,
365 days a year, and are responsible for processing new service
orders and service changes for existing customers and maintaining
customer records.

Service Marks

in 2005, all of our territories used the UNICEL® brand, which we
own.

Network Operations

We develop and build our wireless service areas in response to
customer demand by adding channels to existing cell sites, building
new cell sites to increase coverage and:capacity, and upgrading
entire networks with advanced technology and services. Where
appropriate, we also upgrade acquired properties to enable us to
provide similar quality service over our entire network. We expect o
continue our wireless system expansion where necessary to add
and retain customers, enhance customer usage on our systems,
and increase roaming fraffic. We also enhance our systems through
scalable network equipment, cell site splitting, cell site sectorization,
and digital upgrades of our systems. In addition to improving
service quality, these enhancements generally provide improved
network system performance and efficiency of operations. Our
network consisted of 1,061 cell sites as of December 31, 2005.

Technology

As of December 31, 2005, we had substantially completed our
2.5G network overlay. 2.5G refers to wirgless technology and
capability usually associated with General Packet Radio Services
{"GPRS"), Enhanced Data rates for Global Evolution (“EDGE”), and




Code Division Multiple Access/1x Radio Transmission Technology
{“CDMA2000/1XRTT").

Technology Territory Deployment Description
COMAZ2000/1XRTT Midwest deployed in 2003 and 2004 and ‘ CDMA2000/1XRTT is an evolution of COMA
commercially launched in August 2004, 3 technology and represents a step towards
§ 3G technology and allows data transmission at
} approximately 50 kilobits per second (“‘Kbps").
GSM/GPRS Northeast, Northwest and South network ‘ GSM/GPRS facilitates certain applications that have
deployment is operational and commercially ! not previously been available over GSM networks due
launched throughout the first half of 2005. "o the limitations in speed of Circuit Switched Data
| and message length of the Short Message Service.
! Dataspeeds of up to approximately 35 Kbps are
' expected.
EDGE Northeast, Northwest, and South substantially EDGE is an evolution of GPRS technology and is a

overtaid in the first half of 2005.

system designed to increase the speed of data
transmission via cell phone, creating broadband
capability. EDGE technology data speeds are expected
to be approximately 70-135 Kbps.

Commercial introduction of CDMA/2000/1XRTT services in our
Midwest territory began in August 2004, and commercial introduc-
tion of GSM/GPRS/EDGE services began in our Northeast and
Northwest territories in January 2005 and in our South territory in
the summer of 2005. Our 2.5G technology networks utilize existing
850 MHz and 1900 MHz spectrum. At December 31, 2005,
substantially all of our cell sites incorporated 2.5G technology.

In addition to our 2.5G network overlay efforts throughout
2005, we expanded our coverage with the following initiatives:

» Midwest territory CDMA network expansion into the adjacent
markets of Hibbing and Virginia, Minnesota and Fargo and Grand
Forks, North Dakota,

» Northeast territory GSM network expansion into the adjacent
market of Lewiston-Auburn, Maine,

« Northeast territory GSM network expansion into the adjacent
Lakes Area territory in east central New Hampshire, and

* Northwest territory GSM network expansion into the adjacent
markets of Lewiston-Moscow, Idaho and Madras, Oregon.

We also have PCS networks in our Midwest and Northeast
territories that satisfy FCC build-out requirements and allow us to
receive outcollect revenue from our national roaming partners and
minimize .our incollect cost from our existing customers using their
phones in those areas. We do not market our wireless service to
residents ‘of these areas.

Licenses

Our reasons for building out our licenses can vary. We build out
many of our licenses primarily to market our wireless services
directly to that territory’s population and to capture outcollect
roaming minutes. We build out other licenses to minimize incollect
cost and capture outcollect roaming minutes while not marketing
our services to that territory's population. In some cases, we have
chosen not to build out licensed areas, usually because of
insufficient current financial incentive.
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Our total marketed service areas served 705,602 customers as of December 31, 2005. The following map Hlustrates the locations of
our 850 MHz Cellular and 1.8 GHz PCS licenses as of December 31, 2005,
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RCC 850 MHz Cellufar Licenses

Z/Z RCC 1.9 GHz PCS Licenses

Suppliers and Equipment Pariners

We do not manufacture any customer or network equipment. The
high degree of compatibility among different manufacturers’ models
of handsets and network facilities equipment allows us to design,
supply, and operate our systems without being dependent upon a
single source of equipment. Our legacy networks use equipment
manufactured by Northern Telecom, Inc., Lucent Technologies Inc.,
Harris, Inc., Alcatel, Ericsson, Inc., and Motorola, Inc. Qur

2.5G networks primarily utilize equipment manufactured by Ericsson,
Inc. and Nokia Telecommunications, Inc.

Competition

We compete against wireless carriers in each of our markets and
also compete with a number of enhanced specialized mobile radio

service providers. We compete for customers based on numerous
factors, inciuding wireless system coverage and quality, service
value equation {minutes and features over price), local market
presence, digital voice and features, customer service, distribution
strength, and brand name recognition. Some competitors also
market other services, such as landline local exchange and internet
access service, with their wireless service offerings. Many of our
competitors have been operating for a number of years, currently
serve a substantiai customer base, and have significantly greater
financial, personnel, technical, marketing, sales, and distribution
resources than we do.




The following table lists our major competitors by territory:

Sprint/ us ‘
Region Alitel  Cingular ~ Nextel ~ T-Mobile  Cellular  Verizon ) Other*
Midwest X X X X \ Dobson Communications, Quest
Northeast X X X X X —
Naorthwest X X X X X Quest, Infand Cellular, Snake River Wireless
South X X X X X Southern Linc, Pine Belt Wireless, Public Service Telephone,
; Westlink Communications, Panhandle Telecommunications,
? Cellular Telepak, Inc.

* National Third Party Resellers. We alsc compete with national third party resellers including Virgin Mobile USA, LLC., and TracFone Wireless, Inc.
These reseliers purchase bulk wireless services from wireless providers and resell through mass-market refail outlets, including Wal-Mart, Target, Radio
Shack, and Best Buy. TracFone purchases bulk wireless services from RCC in selected markets.

Continuing industry consolidation has resulted in the increased
presence of regional and national wireless operators within our
service areas. More recently, some national wireless operators have
begun to build small networks in more densely populated or well-
traveled portions of our service areas. National advertising and
promotional programs by naticnal wireless operators run in our
markets are a source of additional competitive and pricing pressures
gven though these operators may not provide service in those
markets.

in the future, we expect to face increased competition from
entities holding licenses for.PCS spectrum not yet opereting in our
markets. The FCC has issued licenses for both narrowband and
broadband PCS, and six broadband licenses were issued in each of
our cellular service areas. Under FCC rules, PCS license holders are
allowed to disaggregate the spectrum covered by their license.
Accordingly, we may face competition from additional providers of
PCS if the FCC approves a disaggregation of spectrum for any PCS
license in one of our service areas. In addition, the Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1993 required, among other things, the
alflocation to commercial use of a portion of 200 MHz of the
spectrum currently reserved for government use. Some portion of
this spectrum may be used to create new land-mobile sarvices or
to expand existing land-mobile services. Further, the FCC has
auctioned or announced plans to auction licenses in the 39 GHz
spectrum and 700 MHz spectrum that may be used for wireless
communications that would compete with our services.

We also compete to a lesser extent with resellers, landline
telephone service providers, fixed wirgless services, specialized
mobile radio, private radio systems and satellite-based telecommuni-
cations systems. A reseller provides wireless services to customers
but does not hold an FCC license and might not own facilities.
Instead, the reseller buys blocks of wireless telephone numbers and
capacity from a licensed carrier and resells service through its own
distribution network to the public. Thus, a reseller is both a
customer of a wireless licensee’s service and a competitor of that
licensee.

Cable companies are providing telecommunications services to
the home, and of these, some carriers are providing local and long
distance voice services using Voice over Internet Protocol, or VoIP.

In particular circumstances, these carriers may be able to avoid
payment Qf access charges 10 local exchange carriers for the use of
their netwarks on long distance calls. Cost savings for these carriers
could result in lower prices to customers and increased competition
for wireless services.

The telecommunications industry is experiencing significant
technologiba) changes, as evidenced by the increasing pace of
improvements in the capacity and quality of digital technology,
shorter cycles for new products and enhancements, and changes in
consumer{preferences and expectations. Accordingly, with the entry
of new competitors and the development of new technologies,
products, and services, competition in the wireless telecommunica-
tions industry has been dynamic and intense.

Qur abifity to compete successfully is dependent, in part, on
our ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive factors
affecting the industry. Our marketing and sales organization
monitors and analyzes competitive products and service offerings,
changes in consumer preferences, changes in demographic trends
and economic conditions, and pricing strategies by competitors that
could adversely affect our operations or present strategic
opportunities.

We believe that we are strategically positioned to compete
with other communications technologies that now exist. Continuing
technological advances in telecommunications and FCC policies that
encourage the development of new spectrum-based technologies
make it difficult, however, to predict the extent of future
competition.

Legislation and Regulation

The following summary of regulatory developments and legisiation
does not purport to describe all present and proposed federal, state,
and focal regulation and legislation affecting the telecommunications
industry. Many existing federal, state, and local laws and regulations
are currently the subject of judicial proceedings, legisiative hearings,
and adgministrative proposals that could change, in varying degrees,
the manner. in which the telecommunications industry operates.
Neither the :outcome of these proceedings nor their impact upon the
telecommunications industry or us can be predicted.
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QOverview

Our business is subject to varying degrees of federal, state, and
local regulation. The FCC has jurisdiction over all facilities of, and
services offered by, wireless licensees such as us, to the extent
those facilities are used to provide, originate, or terminate interstate
or international communications. The Communications Act of 1934,
as amended (the “‘Communications Act"), preempts state and local
regulation of the entry of, or the rates charged by, any provider of
commercial mobile radio service (“*CMRS"), which inciudes our
cellular service and broadband personal communications service.
Otherwise, state and local regulatory commissions may exercise
jurisdiction over most of the same facilities and services to the
extent they are used to originate or terminate intrastate or intra-
Major Trading Area communications and with respect to zoning and
similar matters. The manner in which we are regulated is subject to
change in ways we cannot predict.

Federal Licensing of Wireless Systems

Geographic Market Area Licenses, CMRS providers operate under
licenses granted by the FCC within a specified geographic market
area. For celiular systems, those market areas are typically
Metropolitan Statistical Areas (“MSAs") or Rural Service Areas
("RSAs"} as defined by the FCC. PCS systems are normally
licensed within market arsas known as Major Trading Areas
("MTAS") or Basic Trading Areas ('BTAs™), although it is possible to
obtain, and we currently hold, some PCS licenses that are for
market areas smaller than an entire MTA or BTA, known as a
partitioned area.

While the FCC has used an assortment of methods in the past
to grant licenses, most if not all new CMRS licenses granted by the
FCC are by auction, The FCC determines the availability of licenses
in particular frequency ranges, as well as the terms under which
license auctions are conducted. Our ability to secure new licenses
that could be used to introduce advanced ‘‘third generation”
wireless services may depend upon our success in future FCC
auctions. For example, in 2006 the FCC is expected to guction and
license 90 megahertz of spectrum in six blocks for third generation
and advanced wireless services. in the next several years the FCC
is also expected to auction additional spectrum below 3 GHz and in
the 700 MHz band.

Construction and Operation. Most cellular licensees, including RCC,
have substantially constructed their systems and have license rights
in their Cellular Geographic Service Areas that cut off rights of
others to obtain licenses on the same frequencies in the same
areas. We do not need to perform additional construction under our
cellular ficenses to retain those licenses. If we were to discontinue
operation of a cellular system for a period of at least 90 continuous
days, our license for such area would be automatically forfeited.
However, we have no intention of allowing any discontinuance of
service that may occur to last as long as 90 continuous days.

In order 1o retain licenses, PCS licensees, including RCC, are
required by the FCC's rules to construct facilities in the gsographic
areas authorized under their PCS licenses. That construction must

result in a signal level adequate to permit an offering of services to
a certain percentage of the popuiation covered by those licenses
within specified periods, based on the date of the grant of the
licenses. Qur PCS licenses are subject to revocation or nonrenewal
by the FCC, as are all similar licenses held by other companies, if
these build-out requirements are not satisfied in a timely manner,
Build-out requirements apply as to certain PCS licenses we have
acquired from other entities. We believe that our construction wiil
progress at a pace that allows for timely compliance with the
construction requirements.

Because we hold PGS licenses, we must comply with FCC
microwave relocation rules. A block of spectrum licensed for PCS
may be encumbered by a previously licensed microwave system. In
such a case, if the PCS licensee cannot avoid interference with the
microwave system, the FCC requires the PCS licensee to provide six
months' advance notice that interference may accur dpon simulta-
neous operation of the PCS and microwave facilities and direct the
microwave licensee to cease operation or move 1o other, non-
interfering frequencies after such period of time. A PCS licensee is
also obligated to participate in cost-sharing if a previous relocation
of a microwave incumbent benefits more than one PCS licensee.
However, a PCS licensee will not trigger any new cost-sharing
obligations for sites activated April 5, 2005 or later, due to the
termination of the FCC'’s cost-sharing plan as of April 4, 2005. We
believe that we are in compliance with applicable FCC microwave
relocation and cost-sharing rules.

CMRS providers also must satisfy a variety of FCC require-
ments relating to technical and reporting matters, including
coordination of proposed frequency usage with adjacent systems in
order to avoid electrical interference between adjacent systems. The
FCC also requires licensees to secure FCC consent to system
modifications in specified instances.

Entities such as RCC that own towers used for radio systems
are subject to Federal Aviation Administration and FCC regulations
respecting the location, marking, lighting, and construction of towers
and are subject to the requirements of the National Environmental
Policy Act, National Historic Preservation Act, and other environmen-
tal statutes enforced by the FCC. The FCC has also adopted
guidelines and methads for evaluating human exposure to radio
frequency emissions from radio equipment. We believe that all
wireless devices we currently provide to our customers, and all our
radio systems on towers that we own or occupy, comply with these
requirements, guidelings, and methods.

We use, among other facilities, common carrigr point-to-point
microwave facilities to connect cell sites and to link the cell sites to
the main switching office. These facilities are separately licensed by
the FCC and are subject to regulation as to technical parameters,
frequency protection, and service.

Renewal of Licenses. Near the conclusian of the generally ten-year
term of a spectrum license, a licensee must file an application for
renewal of the license to obtain authority to operate for up to an
additional ten-year term. An application for license renewal may be
denied if the FCC determines that the renewal would not serve the




public interest, convenience, or necessity. The FCC alse may revoke
a license prior to the end of its term in extraordinary circumstances.
In addition, at license renewal time, other parties may file
competing.applications for the authorization. The FCC has adopted
specific standards stating renewal expectancy will be awarded to a
spectrum licensee that has provided substantial service during its
license term and has substantially complied with applicable FCC
rules and policies and the Communications Act. [f the FCC awards
the licensee a renewal expectancy, its license renewal application
generally is granted and the competing applications are dismissed.

Although we are unaware of any circumstances that would
prevent the approval of any future renewal appfication, no assurance
can be given that the FCC will renew any of our licenses. Moreover,
the FCC has the authority to restrict the operation of a licensed
facility or revoke or modify licenses. None of our licenses has ever
been revoked or involuntarily modified.

Assignment of Licenses or Transfer of Control of Licensees. FCC ficenses
generally may be transferred and assigned, subject to specified
limitations prescribed by the Communications Act and the FCC. The
FCC’s prior approval is required for the assignment or transfer of
control of a license for a wireless system. Before we can complete
a purchase or sale, we must file appropriate applications with the
FCC, and the public is by law granted a period of time, typically
30 days or less, to oppose or comment on the proposed
transaction. In addition, the FCC has established transfer disclosure
requirements that require licensees who assign or transfer control of
a license acquired through an auction within the first three years of
their license terms to file associated sale contracts, option

" agreements, management agreements, or other documents disclos-
ing the total consideration that the licensee would receive in retumn
for the transfer or assignment of its license. In any instance where
a proposed transaction would result in an entity holding attributable
ownership interests in both the frequency Block A and frequency
Block B cellular carriers in the same MSA or RSA, or wiere the
acquiring entity would add to its own spectrum holdings in the
same area, the FCC conducts a case-by-case analysis cf the
potential effect upon competition and may disapprove of the
transaction or issue approval subject to conditions that rmay or may
not be acceptable to the parties. Non-controlling minority interests
in an entity that holds a FCC license generally may be bought or
sold without FCC approval, subject to any applicable FCC notification
requirements.

Limitation on Foreign Ownership. Ownership of our capital stock by
non-U.S. citizens is subject to limitations under the Communications
Act and FCC regulations. Under existing law, no more than 20% of
a licensee’s capital stock may be directly owned or voted by non-
U.S. citizens or their representatives, by a foreign government or its
representatives, or by a foreign corporation. If an FCC licensee is
controlled by another entity, up to 25% of that entity’s capital stock
may be owned or voted by non-U.S. citizens or their representa-
tives, by a foreign government or its representatives, or by a foreign
corporation. Indirect foreign ownership above the 25% level may be

i
allowed should the FCC find such higher levels not inconsistent with
the public interest.

Heguﬂa“mry Matters and Developments

Enhanced 911 Services. 850 MHz and 1900 MHz licensees must
comply with the FCC's rules regarding emergency 911 service.
There is a staged process for the required deployment of enhanced
911 services, referred 10 by the FCC as Phase | and Phase I,

Under Phase |, cellular and PCS licensees were required as of
April 1, 1998, or within six months of a request from the
designated Public Safety Answering Point (“PSAP”), whichever is
later, to be able to provide, if available to the serving carrier, the
telephone, number of the originator of a 911 call and to provide 1o
the designated PSAP the location of the cell site or base station
receiving a 911 call from any mobile handset accessing their
systems through the use of Automatic Number Identification and
Pseudo-Automatic Number Identification. We are in substantial
compliance with Phase | requirements.

Under Phase Il, cellular and PCS licensees must be able to
provide to- the designated PSAP the location of all wireless 911
callers, by longitude and latitude, in conformance with particular
accuracy requirements. To comply, licensees may elect either
network-based or mobile radio handset-based location technologies
and thereafter meet, according to a phased-in schedule, the
enhanced 911 service standards stated in the FCC’s rules. We
notified the FCC of our intention to utilize network-based location
technologies to provide Phase )l enhanced 911 service and
amended the notification to indicate that, where we utilize CDMA
network téchnology, we will rely upon a handset-based Phase Ii
solution. Pursuant to terms and conditions of an FCC “Order to
Stay”" adopted in July 2002, granting us an extension of the
compliance deadlines, we are subject to requirements of the FCC
where we have deployed a network-based Phase Il solution that we
provide Phase Il enhanced 911 service to at least 50% of a
requesting. PSAP's coverage area or population beginning March 1,
2003, or within six months of a PSAP request, whichever is later,
and to 100% of a requesting PSAP’s coverage area or population
by March 1, 2004 or within 18 months of such a request,
whichever s later. We have received requests from PSAPs for
deployment of Phase Il enhanced 911 service that relate to various
areas where we provide cellular or PCS service and we have met
the applicable 50%-coverage benchmark. Nevertheless, if the FCC
finds that the accuracy results produced by any of our Phase i
deployments are not in compliance with FCC rules, the FCC could
issue enforcement orders and impose monetary forfeitures upon us.
We have filed with the FCC a request for waiver of the applicable
FCC rule concerning field test results in the State of Vermont which
may not be compliant with FCC location accuracy requirements if
averaged only with results from the State of Vermont. To the extent
that we are not meeting the FCC’s EQ11 Phase Il location accuracy
requirements in Vermont and other states we may need to file one
or more additional petitions with the FCC to request a waiver of
those requi“rements. The FCC has issued notices of apparent liability
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requiring other CMRS providers to pay fines based upon violations
of enhanced 911 service requirements. The implementation of
enhanced 911 obligations may have a financial impact on us. We
are not yet able to predict the extent of that impact.

Imerconnection. FCC rules provide that a local exchange carrier
(“LEC”) must provide CMRS providers interconnection within a
reasonable time after it is requested, unless such interconnection is
not technically feasible or economically reasonable, and that CMRS
providers are entitled to compensation from LECs for terminating
wireline-to-wirelgss traffic that originates and terminates within the
same MTA. The FCC has a rulemaking proceeding in progress to
consider whether, and possibly how, to replace the current system
of reciprocal compensation for termination of local telecommunica-
tions traffic, and access charges for inter-MTA traffic, with a
uniform intercarrier compensation plan. That proceeding could result
in changes to compensation arrangements we have with LECs and
interexchange carriers for the exchange of telecommunications
traffic. Additionally, although key provisions of FCC arders imple-
menting the Communications Act’s interconnection requirements
have been affirmed by the courts, certain court challenges to the
FCC rules are pending.

Universal Service. The Communications Act mandates that telecom-
munications carriers, such as us, contribute to the federal USF, the
purpose of which is to ensure that basic telephone services are
available and affordable for all citizens and that consumers in rural
areas have similar choices in telecommunications services as
consumers living in urban areas. The USF is intended to promote
telecommunications infrastructure development in high cost areas
and to provide subsidies to low income persons, schools, libraries,
and rural health care providers. We also are required to contribute
to state universal service programs administered by some states.
The federal USF is administered jointly by the FCC, the fund
administrator, and state regulatory authorities. Because we are a
collection agent for customer contributions, we expect that our
obligation to remit USF contributions will have a minimal financial
impact on us.

1996 amendments to the Communications Act allow wireless
carriers such as us to pursue eligibility to receive USF funding for
constructing, maintaining and improving our facilities and services in
high-cost areas. When declared eligible for USF funding we are alsa
obligated to offer discounts to low-income customers, which
amounts are reimbursed to us through the federal Lifeline and Link-
up programs. We must be designated as an eligible telecommunica-
tions carrier (“ETC”) by the state where we provide service (or, in
some cases, the FCC) and the state (or, in some cases, wej must
certify our eligibility to the FCC so that we may ultimately receive
USF support. We have received ETC designation in the states of
Alabama, Kansas, Maine, Minnesota, Mississippi, New Hampshire,
Oregon, South Dakota, Vermont and Washington. We are currently
receiving USF support, or expect soon 1o begin receiving USF
support, in each of these staies. To be eligible from year-to-year to
receive USF support, our ETC certifications must be renewed each
year. Qur ability to receive USF support, and our obligations to pay

into state and federal universal service funds, are subject to change
based upon pending regulatory proceedings, court challenges, and
marketplace conditions.

The federal universal service program is under legislative,
regulatory and industry scrutiny as a result of growth in the fund
and structural changes within the telecommunications industry. The
structural changes include an increase in the number of ETCs
receiving support from the USF and a migration of customers from
wireline service providers to providers using alternative techinologies,
like VoIP that, today, are not required to contribute to the universal
service program. There are several FCC proceedings underway that
are likely to change the way universal service programs are funded
and the way these funds are disbursed to program recipients. The
specific proceedings are discussed in greater detail below.

On March 17, 2005, the FCC issued an order strengthening
the conditions for telecommunications carriers to receive and
maintain ETC designation. The new standards are mandatory when
the FCC is responsible for evaluating ETC applications and
recommended when state regulatory agencies are responsible for
gvaluating ETC applications. Effective October 1, 20086, the new
standards require ETCs to: (1) provide a five-year plan demonstrat-
ing how support will be used to improve coverage, service quality or
capacity, including annual progress reports; (2) demonstrate the
network’s ability to remain functional in emergencies; (3} demon-
strate how they will satisfy consumer and quality standards; (4) offer
a “local-usage” plan comparable to the ILEC; and (5) acknowledge
that they may be required to provide equal access to interexchange
carriers in the event they become the sole ETC within a designated
service area. The new standards are not expected to affect our
universal service receipts. Further, additional certification require-
ments were imposed on ETC recipients. Some states have adopted,
or are considering adopting, the same or similar reguirements. The
new FCC requirements are subject to both reconsideration requests
pending at the FCC and judicial appeals.

On June 14, 2005, the FCC issued a notice of proposed
rulemaking initiating a broad inguiry into the management and
administration of the universal service programs. The notice of
proposed rulemaking seeks comment on ways to streamling the
application process for federal support and whether and how to
increase audits of fund contributors and fund recipients to deter
waste and fraud. The FCC is also considering proposals regarding
the contribution methodology, which could change the category of
service providers that contribute to the fund and the basis upon
which they contribute. At this time, we cannot estimate the impact
that the potential changes, if any, would have on our operations.

Finally, the FCC mandated that, effective October 1, 2004, the
Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC”) begin account-
ing for the USF program in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles for federal agencies, rather than the account-
ing rules that USAC formerly used. This change in accounting
method subjected USAC to the Anti-Deficiency Act (the “'ADA”), the
effect of which could have caused delays in payments to USF
program recipients and significantly increased the amount of USF
regulatory fees charged to wireline and wireless consumers. In




December 2004, Congress passed legisiation to exempt USAC from
the ADA for one year to allow for a more thorough review of the
impact the ADA would have on the universal service program. In
April 2005, the FCC tentatively concluded that the high-cost and
low-income programs of the universal service fund comply with ADA
requirements and has asked the Office of Management and Budget
("OMB") to make a final determination on this issue. In November

- 2005 Congress extended the exemption for an additional year and
is contemplating a permanent solution to alleviate the ADA issues
and the related negative impact to the universal service program.

Local Number Portability. The FCC has adopted rules on telephone
number portability in an effort to achieve more efficient number
utilization. Cellular and PCS licensees are required to provide
number portability, which enables customers to change providers
and services without changing their telephone number. By Novem-
ber 24, 2003, CMRS providers in the top 100 markets were
required to offer number portability without impairment of quality,
reliability, or convenience when customers switch wireless service
providers, including the ability to support roaming throughout their
netwarks. Providers in other markets were to comply by May 24,
2004 if they received a “bona fide request” to be open for porting-
out of customer numbers at lgast six months prior from another
wireless service provider. Where our operations are subject to the
FCC mandate we are in compliance. In other areas any failure to
comply with this obligation could result in a fine or revocation of
our licenses.

In addition, the FCC provided guidance to the wireling and
wireless industries in the form of a decision released November 10,
2003 in response t0 a petition filed by the Cellular Telecommunica-
tions & Internet Association requesting that wireline carriers be
required to allow their customers to retain their numbers when
switching to a wireless carrier. The FCC concluded that, as of
November 24, 2003, upon the request of a customer, wireline
carriers in the top-100 markets must port numbers to wireless
carriers where the wireless carrier's “‘coverage area” overlaps the
geographic location of the rate center in which the customer’s
wireline number is provisioned, provided that the porting-in carrier
maintains the number’s original rate center designation following the
port. The wireless “coverage area” was defined by the FCC as the
area in which wireless service can be received from the wireless
carrier. Wireline carriers outside the top-100 markets were given
until May 24, 2004 to comply with the same porting obligations.
The FCC subsequently granted an extension of time until May 24,
2004 to wireline carriers in the top-100 markets that serve fewer
than two percent of the nation’s customer lines if such wireline
carriers had not received a request for local number porting from
either a wireline carrier prior to May 24, 2003, or a wireless carrier
that has a point of interconnection or numbering resources in the
rate center where the customer's wireline number is provisioned. in
addition, state pubiic utility commissions have authority under the
Communications Act to suspend or extend FCC number poriability
requirements faced by wireline carriers that serve fewer than two
percent of the nation’s customer lines. Several organizations

representing wireling carviers petitioned the U.S. Court of Appeals,
D.C. Circuit, for review of the FCC's decision ordering wireline
carriers to port numbers to wireless carriers. The court ordered the
FCC to conduct a regulatory flexibility analysis concerning the effect
of the number portability regulations upon small wireline carriers
and, in the meantime, the court suspended the regulations to the
extent they would apply to small wireline carriers.

Meanwhile, the FCC invited and has received written com-
ments on issues that bear upon wireless carriers’ obligations to port
numbers to wireline carriers upon customer request. We expect 1o
face oblig‘ations that will aflow our customers to port their numbers
to wireling carriers.

CALEA, Telecommunications carriers also are subject to the Commu-
nications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act (“CALEA”), which is
administered by the Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of
lnvestigatibn (“FBI") and the FCC. CALEA requires carriers to have
a specificnumber of open ports available for law enforcement
personnel with the appropriate legal authority to perform wiretaps
on each carrier's network. Full implementation of CALEA's assis-
tance capébility requirements was previously required by June 30,
2000. However, because the FCC found that there was a lack of
equipment available to mest these requirements, it accepted
petitions fer a two-year extension of this deadline on a carrier-by-
carrier basis. We submitted such a petition and were granted a
two-year extension, until June 30, 2002, to comply with CALEA's
assistance capability requirements. We petitioned the FCC for
another two-year extension and received from the FBI a letter of
support for our petition for extension. We also petitioned for
additional time, through September 30, 2005, to complete final
installation of CALEA feafures on a switch located in Alexandria,
Minnesota., We received from the FBI a letter of support for our
petition for extension. At this time CALEA features are installed and
operational at all but one of our switching facilities. Additional
requirements interception of digital packet mode telecommunica-
tions. We will become obligated to comply with these requirements
only if and'when we commence to offer services that make use of
digital packet mode technology. If we are not able to comply with
CALEA prior to the applicable deadlines, we could be subject to
substantial fines that, under existing law, could be as much as
$10,000 per day. We cannot predict yet whether we will be able to
comply with CALEA requirements prior to the applicable deadlines.

Other FCC-Mandated Payments. We also are required to contribute
annually to the Telecommunications Relay Service Fund and the
North American Numbering Plan Administration Fund and to remit
regulatory fees to the FCC with respect to our licenses and
operations. We do not expect that these financial obligations will
have a material impact on us.

Access by the Disabled. The FCC has adopted rules that determine
the obligations of telecommunications carriers 10 make their services
accessible o individuals with disabilities. The rules require wireless
and other providers to offer equipment and services that are
accessible to and useable by persans with disabilities. While the
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rules exempt telecommunications carriers from meeting general
disability access requirements if these results are not readily
achievable, it is not clear how the FCC will construe this exemption.
Accordingly, the FCC occasionally adopts rules that may require us
to make material changes to our network, product line, or services
at our expense. By the regulatory deadline of September 15, 2005,
we had begun to offer hearing aid compatible COMA and GSM
handsets. By September 16, 2006, we must either suspend all of
our offerings of TDMA handsets or begin to offer hearing aid
compatible TDMA handsets, which may not exist or be available to
us. By February 18, 2008, 50% of all phone models offered must
meet the MT3 performance level for acoustic coupling to
accommodate hearing aid compatible functions. We are required to
file and we do file with the FCC periodic progress reports on our
preparation for implementing these offerings.

Heafth and Safety. Various media reports and plaintiffs’ attorneys in
lawsuits not involving us have suggested that radio frequency
emissions from wireless handsets may be linked to an assortment
of health concerns, including cancer, and may interfere with some
electronic medical devices, including hearing aids and pacemakers.
The FCC and forsign regulatory agencies have updated and may
continue to update the guidelines and methods they use for
evaluating radio frequency emissions from radio equipment, includ-
ing wireless handsets. In addition, interest groups have requested
that the FCC investigate claims that wireless technologies pose
health concerns and cause interference with airbags, hearing aids,
and medical devices. The FDA has issued guidelines for the use of
wireless phones by pacemaker wearers. Safety concerns have also
been raised with respect to the use of wireless handsets while
driving. Federal, state, and local legislation has been proposed and,
in some instances, enacted in response to these issues. Concerns
over radio frequency emissions may have the effect of discouraging
the use of wireless handsets, and thus decrease demand for
wireless products and services.

Regulatory Oversight. The rapid growth and penetration of wireless
services has prompted the interest of the FCC, state legisiatures,
and state public utility commissions o oversee certain practices by
the wireless industry, generally in the form of efforts 1o regulate
service quality, customer billing, termination of service arrange-
ments, advertising, filing of “informational” tariffs, certification of
operation, and other matters such as detetrence of spam
messaging to wireless devices. While the Communications Act
generally preempts state and local governments from regulating the
entry of, or the rates charged by, wireless carriers, a state has
authority to regulate “other terms and conditions™ of service
offerings by CMRS providers and may petition the FCC to allow it to
regulate the rates of CMRS providers. Several states have proposed
or imposed consumer protection regulations on CMRS providers.
Moreover, in securing ETC status, we may become subject to such
rules (as we-already are in Maine and Vermont), may be required to
offer a specific “'universal service” rate plan, as we have in Maine,
or may become subject to other state-imposed requirements as a
condition of their granting ETC status. In some states, we are or

expect to be required annually to demonstrate that funds we collect
from the high-cost fund are used for the required purpose of
constructing, maintaining, or improving our facilities and servicss.
These additional regulatory obligations can be expected to increase
our costs of daing business.

The FCC has rules that require CMRS providers to report to
the FCC network outages of at least 30 minutes duration that
potentially affect at least 900,000 user minutes.

On August 4, 2004 the FCC adopted a Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking to consider how the Emergency Alert System (“EAS”)
can become a more effective mechanism for warning the American
public of an emergency. The proceeding inquires whether EAS
should be extended beyond broadcast and cable TV to other
services such as commercial wireless. We may be obligated to
purchase additional hardware and/or software to comply with any
EAS requirements the FCC ultimately adopts that are applicable to
wireless carriers.

At the local level, wireless facilities typically are subject to
zoning and land use regulation and may be subject to fees for use
of public rights of way. Although local and state governments
cannot categorically prohibit the construction of wireless facilities in
any community, or take actions that have the effect of prohibiting
construction, securing state and local government approvals for new
tower sites may become a more difficult and tengthy process.

The FCC has expanded the flexibility of cellular, PCS, and
other CMRS providers to provide fixed as well as mobile services.
Such fixed services include, but need not be limited to, “wireless
local loop” services to apartment and office buildings and wireless
backup services to private business exchanges and local area
networks to be used in the event of interruptions due to weather or
other emergencies. The FCC has determined that fixed services
provided as ancillary services to a carrier's mobile service will be
regulated as commercial mobile radio services.

The FCC authorizes spectrum leasing for a variety of wireless
services. Such rules may provide us with opportunities to expand
our services into new areas, or provide us with access to additional
spectrum, without need for us o purchase licenses, but the same
rules also have the potential to induce new competitors to enter our
markets. In addition, proceedings relating to human exposure to
radio frequency emissions, the feasibility of making additional
spectrum available for unlicensed devices, and the provision of
spectrum-based services in rural areas are pending before the FCC.
All of these initiatives could have an effect on the way we do
business and the spectrum that is available to us and our
competitors.

The FCC does not currently specify the rates CMRS carriers
may charge for their services, nor does it require the filing of tariffs
for wireless operations. Howsver, the FCC has the authority to
requlate the rates, terms, and conditions under which we provide
service because CMRS carriers are statutorily considered to be
common carriers and thus are required to charge just and
reasonable rates and are not allowed to engage in unreasonable
discrimination. The FCC has adopted rules and has proposed further
rules relating to the use of customer proprietary network information




(“CPNI"} and to require filing with the FCC of certification of carrier
compliance with rules that concern CPNI. Additionally, the FCC has
adopted rules governing billing practices. While none of these
existing requirements has a material impact on our operations, there
is no assurance that future regulatory changes will not materiatly
impact us. The FCC has ruled that the Communications Act does
not preempt state damages claims as a matter of law, but whether
a specific damage award is prohibited would depend upon the facts
of a particular case. This ruling may affect the number of class
action suits brought against CMRS providers and the amount of
damages awarded by courts.

Employees and Sales Agents

As of December 31, 2005, we had 1,011 employees, including 432
in sales and marketing, 276 in customer service, 187 in network
and systems operations, 69 in administration, and 47 in finance
and accounting. Approximately 23 of our employees were part-time.
None of our employees is represented by a labor organization, and
we believe we have excellent relations with our employees. In
addition, we utilize approximately 350 independent sales agents.

item 1A. Risk Factors

We encourage you to read the risk factors below in connection with
the other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our future operating results could fluctuate
significantly.

We believe that our future operating resuits and cash flows may
fluctuate due to many factors, some of which are outside our
control. These factors include the following:

» increased costs we may incur in connection with our networks
and the further development, expansion, and upgrading of our
wireless systems;

» fluctuations in the demand for our services and equipment and
wireless services in general;

* increased competition, including price competition,

* changes in our roaming revenue and expenses due to renegoti-
ation of our roaming agreements and the development of
neighboring or competing networks;

* changes in the regulatory environment;

« changes in the level of support provided by the Universal Service
Fund (“USF");

» the cost and avaiiability of equipment components;

* seasonality of roaming revenug;

* changes in travel trends;

* acts of terrorism, political tensions, unforeseen health risks,
unusual weather patterns, and other catastrophic occurrences that
could affect travel and demand for our services; and

« changes in general economic conditions that may affect, among
other things, demand for our services and the creditworthiness of
our customers.

We incurred net losses applicable to common shares of
approximately $71.3 million, $71.9 mitlion, and $50.1 million in the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

We may continue to incur significant net losses as we seek to
increase our customer base in existing markets. We may not
generate profits in the short-term or at all. If we fail to achieve
profitability, that failure could have a negative effect on the market
vaiue of our common stock.

!
Our implementation of 2.5G network technology
has resulted in networl capacity constraints and
heightened customer churn.

We have recently deployed 2.5G technology in all of our territories
and have éxperienced and may continue to experience technical
difficulties and network coverage issues. In addition, we have
experiencéd network capacity constraints relating to the initial
migration of our TDMA customers to 2.5G. We have incurred, and
may continue to incur, costs to address these issues, including
costs for engineering, additional equipment, and additional spectrum
in certain markets. These costs may be significant. As our
customers' migrate from TDMA to 2.5G service, some have been
dissatisfied with our service and switched to a competitor, resulting
in increased churn and reduced revenues and profitability. Continu-
ing problems could damage our reputation and affect our ability to
aftract new customers. [n addition, network quality issues could
affect our roaming arrangements. To the extent we are required to
spend significant amounts on correcting problems with our network,
we will have fewer resources available for marketing and customer

acquisitionéactivities, which would affect our customer growth.

We may not be successful in reversing the six
quarter trend of declining postpaid customers,
which would force us to change our business plan
and financial outlook and would likely negatively
affect the price of our stock.

Our current business plans assume that we will increase our
customer base over time, providing us with increased economigs of
scale. If we are unable to attract and retain a growing customer
base, we would be forced o change our current business plans
and financial outlook and there would likely be a material negative
affect on the price of our common stock.

|
As we dedicate more resources to 2.5G technology,
our TDMA customers may seek other competitive
offerings, resulting in a loss of customers and
reduced profitability.

We expectito continue operating our TOMA network for the
foreseeable future while current customers migrate to 2.5G
technotogy! However, we will not upgrade our TDMA network with
the same features as are available on our 2.5G networks, and we
expect manufacturers will not produce innovative TDMA handsets
with upgraded functions.

As we dedicate more spectrumn to 2.5G networks, our
remaining TOMA customers may experience difficulties in using our
services. Further, as our TDMA customers attempt to roam while
traveling outside of our service areas, their service may be
degraded due to the removal of TDMA capability within other

N

L

©g]

)

YU

= ©

2{](

/




A

oARm UO=LK

=
I

I‘

A

carriers’ cell sites. All of these potential developments could drive
our TDMA customers to our competitors rather than to our 2.5G
product offerings and thereby reduce our market share and
revenue.

We have required and will continue to require
substantial amounts of capital to maintain our
upgrade to 2.5G technologies and to meet various
obligations under our financing arrangements. Our
ability to generate the required capilal depends on
many factors, including some that are beyond our
control. '

We have required, and will continue to require, substantial capital to
maintain our wireless network, to satisfy obligations on our debt and
exchangeable preferred stock, and for other operating needs.
Including the cost of our 2.5G technology overlays, our total capital
expenditures for 2005 were $95.0 million. We believe that we have
sufficient funds to finance our planned capital expenditures for
network construction, but we may require additional capital in the
event of significant departures from our current business plan,
unforeseen delays, cost overruns, unanticipated expenses, regulatory
changes, engineering design changes, and other technological
issues or if we acquire additional licenses.

We will likely need additional financing to repay or refinance
our debt at its final maturities and to meet mandatory redemption
provisions on our preferred stock. To the extent that we do not
generate sufficient cash from operations to satisfy these needs, we
will need to explore other sources of capital, which may include
public and private equity and debt financings, including vendor
financing. The availability of additional financing is dependent on
conditions in the capital markets. We may not be able to obfain
additional financing on terms acceptable o us and within the
limitations contained in the instruments governing our debt and our
preferred stock or any future financing arrangements.

If we fail to obtain any required financing, we may need to
delay or abandon our development and expansion plans and we
may fail to meet regulatory requirements for build-out of our
network and not be in compliance with certain regulations, such as
CALEA. Any failure to upgrade could also have a negative effect on
our roaming revenues, since most of our roaming partners’
customers will likely use the latest technology handsets as our
roaming partners upgrade their networks. Qur ability to meet our
debt service requirements and our customers’ needs may also be
impaired, which would have a material adverse effect on our
business. See “ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”

We have committed a substanitial amount of capital
to upgrade our wireless networks to offer 2.5G data
services. If the demand for wireless dala services
does not grow, or if we fail to capitalize on such
demand, it could have an adverse effect on our
growth.

We have committed significant resources to wireless data services
and our business plan assumes increasing demand for such
services. Although demand for wireless data services is growing, it
is currently a small portion of our revenues. Continued growth in
demand for wireless data services is dependent on development
and availability of popular applications and availability of handsets
and other wireless devices with features, functionality, and pricing
desired by customers. If applications and devices are not developed
or do not become commercially acceptable, our revenues could be
adversely affected. Even if such demand does develop, our ability to
deploy and deliver wireless data services relies, in many instances,
on new and unproven technology. Existing technology may not
perform as expected, and we may not be able to obtain new
technology to effectively and economicdlly deliver these services. We
cannot give assurance that there will be widespread demand for
advanced wireless data services, that revenues from data services
will constitute a significant portion of our total revenues in the near
future, or that we can provide such services on a profitable basis.

Our business could be materially and adversely
affected by our fallure to anticipate and react {o
frequent and significant technological changes.

The telecommunications industry is subject to rapid and significant

changes in technology that are svidenced by:

« the introduction of 3.0G digital handsets and applications;

» evolving industry standards;

« the availability of new radio frequency spectrum allocations for
wireless services;

* ongoing improvements in the capacity and quality of digital
technology;

* shorter development cycles for new products and enhancements;

« developments in emerging wireless transmission technologies; and

« changes in end-user requirements and preferences.

It is possible that we may select a technology that does not
achieve widespread commercial success or that is not compatible
with the technology selected by one or more of our roaming
partners, and as a result, our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
Moreover, one or more of the technologies that we currently utilize
may become inferior or obsolete at some time in the future,




A significant portion of our revenue is from
roaming charges. Quicollect roaming yields have
been declining over the last few years and are
expected to continue to decline in the future. As a
result, our future operating results could be
adversely affected if increases in roaming minutes
do not offset anticipated decreases in roaming
yield.

In 2005, 2004, and 2003, approximately 23%, 21%, and 26%,
respectively, of our revenue was derived from roaming charges
incurred by other wireless providers for use of our network by their
customers who traveled within our coverage areas. A substantial
portion of our roaming revenue is derived from Cingular, Verizon
Wireless, and T-Mobile. Changes in their operations or a significant
decling in the number of their customers could adversety affect our
business. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003, Cingular {on a pro forma basis giving effect to its 2004
merger with AT&T Wireless (“'AWE™)), Verizon Wireless, and
T-Mobile accounted for approximately 92%, 86%, and 89%,
respectively, of our total outcollect roaming minutes. For the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, Cingular (on a pro
forma basis giving effect to its 2004 merger with AWE) accounted
for approximately 11.9%, 9.9%, and 14.5%, of our total revenue.
Changes in the network footprints of these providers could have a
material adverse effect on our outcollect revenue and incollect
expenses. For example, if a roaming partner from which we derive
a significant amount of revenue in one of our service areas were o
build its own network in that service area, our outcollect revenue
derived from our roaming relationship with that partner in that
service area might decrease or even cease altogether, and our
ability to negotiate favorable incollect rates in that partner's other
service areas could suffer as well,

Any overbuild of our service areas by our roaming partners
would also result in increased competition, which could have a
negative impact on our outcollect roaming revenues, business,

" operating resuits, and retention.

Our roaming agreements have varying terms, from month-to-
month- to up to five years, and some are terminable with 30 days'
written notice. When these agreements expire or are terminated, we
may be unable to renegotiate these roaming agreements or to
obtain roaming agreements with other wirgless providers: upon
acceptable terms. Failure to obtain acceptable roaming agreements
could lead to a substantial decline in our revenue and operating
income.

Our roaming revenue is subject to some effects of
seasonality, and as a result, our overall revenue
and operating income are also subject lo seasonal
fluctuations.

In 2005, 2004, and 2003, a substantial amount of our revenue
was derived from roaming charges incurred by other wireless
providers for use of our network by their customers who traveled
within our service areas. Our service areas include a number of
resort destinations. As a result, our roaming revenue increases

during va¢ation periods, introducing a measure of seasonality to our
revenue and operating income. See “lem 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Other Matters—Seasonality.”

We operate in a very competitive business
environment, which can adversely affact our
business and operations. Competitors who offer
more services than we do may atlract our targeted
customers.

We operate in highly competitive markets, and there is substantial
and increasing competition in all aspects of the wireless communi-
cations business. Some competitors may market services we do not
offer, such as cable telgvision, internet access, landline local
exchange,: or long distance services, which may make their services
more aftractive 1o custorners. Competition for customers is based
primarily upon services and features offered, system coverage,
technical quality of wireless systems, price, customer servics,

capacity, and strength of distribution channels. i SQ
in each of our markets we compete with several other : %
wireless licensees. To a lesser extent, we also compete with =)

L

wireless internet, paging, dispatch services, resellers, and landline

telephone service providers in some of our service areas. @
Increasingly, cellular services have become a viable alternative to -”A*

landline voice services for certain customers, putting cellular
licensees in direct competition with traditional landline telephone
service providers. , \

Cable and other companies are providing telecommunications
services to the home, and of these, some carriers are providing
local and long distance voice services using Voice over Internet
Protocol, or VoIP. In particular circumstances, these carriers may be
able to avoid payment of access charges to local exchange carriers
for the usé of their networks on long distance calls. Cost savings
for these carriers could result in lower rates for customers and
increased competition for wireless services.

Continuing industry consolidation has resulted in the increased
presence of regional and national wireless operators within some of
our service areas. Many of these national operators provide services
comparable to ours and, because they operate in a wider
geographid area, are able 1o offer no or low cost roaming and toll
calls over a wider area. In addition, some national wireless
operators have recently begun to build networks in certain of the
more densely populated or well-traveled portions of our service
areas. National advertising and promotional programs by national
wireless operators run in our markets are also a source of
additional competitive and pricing pressures, even though these
operators may not provide service in thase markets. If the wireless
communications industry continues to consolidate and we do not
participate 'in that consolidation, even stronger competitors may be
created. The FCC has eliminated the spectrum cap and the celiular
cross-interest restriction in ali markets. These regulatory actions
may facilitate the creation of larger and more formidable
competitors.
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Several of our competitors also operate in multiple segments
of the industry. In the future, we expect to face increased
competition from entities providing similar services using other
communications technologies. Given the rapid advances in the
wireless communications industry, it is possible that new technolo-
gies will evolve that will compete with our products and services. In
addition, a number of our competitors have substantially greater
financial, technical, marketing, sales, and distribution resources.
With so many companies targeting many of the same customers,
we may not be able to successfully attract and retain customers
and grow our customer base and revenues, which could have a
materially adverse effect on our future business, strategy, opera-
tions, and financial condition.

arket prices for wireless service may decline in
the future.

We expect significant price competition among wirelgss providers
that may lead to increasing movement of customers between
operators, resulting in reductions in average monthly service
revenue per customer. While we will try to maintain or grow our
customer base and average monthly service revenue per customer,
we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so. A significant
decline in the pricing of services could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Wireless number poriability may continue to have a
negative impact on our customer retention and
increase our markeiing costs.

Wireless number portability allows customers to keep their wireless
phone number when switching to a different service pravider.
Wireless number portability has increased and may continue to
increase competition and reduce retention. Since implementation of
wirgless number portability in our markets, we have experienced
increased churn. A high rate of churn would adversely affect our
results of operations by reducing revenue and increasing the cost of
adding new custoemers. Such costs generally include commission
expense and/or significant handset discounts, which are significant
factors in income and profitability. We may be required to grant
promotional credits, subsidize product upgrades, and/or reduce
pricing to match competitors’ initiatives and to retain customers,
which could adversely impact our operating results.

If we encounter significant problems, such as
delays, inaccuracies, or loss of customer
information from our database, in the process of
upgrading our billing funciion, we could experience
customer dissaiisfaction and increased churn,
which could have a material adverse impact on our
financial performance.

During the second half of 2005, we transferred our Northeast,
Northwest and South territory GSM customers to the VeriSign data
processing and bitling system. This process has caused disruption
in our billing cycles, including delays in mailing of and errors in
Statements sent to customers, and customers may be dropped from

our database. In addition, the transition has caused additional
customer service calls to be made to our call center. If such
problems are significant or prolonged, our customers may become
dissatisfied and decide to switch to a rival carrier. Also, we are
dependent on future performance of an outside contractor. Any
significant or prolonged problems with our billing function could
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

Regulation or potential litigation relating o the use
of wireless phones while driving could adversely
affect our resulis of operations. Further, if wireless
handsets are perceived to pose health and safety
risks, we may be subject fo new regulations, and
demand for our services may decrease.

Some studies have indicated that using wireless phones while
driving may distract drivers' attention, making accidents more likely.
These concerns could lead o litigation relating to accidents, deaths,
or serious bodily injuries, or to new restrictions or regulations on
wireless phone use, any of which alse could have material adverse
effects on our resuits of operations. A number of U.S. states and
local governments are considering or have recently enacted
legislation that would restrict or prohibit the use of a wireless
handset while driving or, alternatively, require the use of a hands-
free telephone. Legislation of this sort, if enacted, would require
wireless ssrvice providers to provide hands-free enhanced services,
such as voice activated dialing and hands-free speaker phones and
headsets. If we are unable to provide hands-free services and
products to customers in a timely and adequate fashion, our ability
10 generate revenues could suffer.

It has been suggested that certain radio frequency emissions
from wireless handsets may be linked to various health concerns,
including cancer, and may interfere with various electronic medical
devices, including hearing aids and pacemakers. Concerns over the
effect of radio frequency emissions may discourage the use of
wireless handsets, which would decrease demand for our services.

Our business s subject to exlensive government
regulation, which could adversely affect our
business by increasing our expenses. We also may
be unable to obtain or retain regulatory approvals
necessary (o operate our business, which would
negatively alfect our resulls of operations.

The FCC regutates many aspects of our business, including the
licensing, construction, interconnection, operation, acquisition, and
sale of our wireless systems, as well as the number of wireless
licenses issued in each of our markets. State and local regulatory
authorities, to a lesser extent, also regulate aspects of our business
and services. In addition, the Federal Aviation Administration
regulates aspects of construction, marking, and lighting of commu-
nications towers on which we place our wireless transmitters.
Changes in legislation and regulations governing wireless activities,
wireless carriers, and availability of USF support, our failure to
comply with applicable regulations, or our loss of or failure to obtain




any license or ficensed area could have a material adverse effect on
our operations.

The FCC and state authorities are increasingly locking to the
wireless industry to fund various initiatives, including federal and
state universal service programs, telephone number administration,
services to the hearing-impaired, and emergency 911 services. In
addition, many states have imposed significant taxes on providers in
the wireless industry and have adopted or are considering adoption
of regulatory requirements regarding customer billing and other
matters. These initiatives have imposed and will continue to impose
increased costs on us and other wireless carriers and may
otherwise adversely affect our business. Under Phase II of its
emergency 911 service rules, for example, the FCC has mandated
that wireless providers supply the geographic coordinates of a
customer’s location, by means of network-based or handset-based
technologies, to public safety dispatch agencies.

We have received requests from PSAPs for deployment of
Phase Il enhanced 911 service that refate to various areas where
we provide cellular or PCS service and we have met the applicable
50%-coverage henchmark. Nevertheless, if the FCC finds that the
accuracy results produced by any of our Phase Il deployments are
not in compliance with FCC rules, the FCC could issue enforcement
orders and impose monetary forfeitures upon us. We have filed with
the FCC a request for waiver of the applicable FCC rule concerning
field test results in the State of Vermont, which may nct be
compliant with FCC location accuracy requirements if averaged only
with results from the State of Vermont. To the extent that we are
not meeting the FCC's E911 Phase Il location accuracy require-
ments in Vermont and other states we may need to file one or
more additional petitions with the FCC to request a waiver of those
requirements. The FCC has issued notices of apparent liability
requiring other CMRS providers to pay fines based upon violations
of enhanced 911 service requirements. The implementation of
enhanced 911 obligations may have a financial impact on us. We
are not yet able to predict the extent of that impact.

Each of our wireless licenses is subject to renewal upon
expiration of its current term, which is generally ten years. Grants of
wireless license renewals are governed by FCC rules establishing a
presumption in favor of incumbent licensees that have complied
with their regulatory obligations during the ten-year license period.
However, we cannot provide assurance that the FCC will grant us
any future renewal applications or that our applications will be free
from challenge. In addition, FCC rules require wireless licensees to
meet build-out requirements with respect to particular licenses, and
failure to comply with these and other requirements in a given
licensed area could result in revocation or nonrenewal cf our license
for that area or the imposition of fines by the FCC.

}
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Our designation or certification as an Eligible
Telecommunications Carrier (“ETC”) in any state
where we conduct business could be refused,
conditioned, or revoked due to circumstances
beyond our conirel, thus depriving us of financial
support in that state from the Universal Service
Fund (“USF”). In addition, we cannot be certain
that we will continue to recefve payments at the
current levels.

In order to receive financial support from the USF in any state, we
must receive ETC certification in that state. Currently, we are ETC
certified in ten of the states in which we offer wireless services. If
designation or certification in any of these states were revoked or
conditioned, our financial results could be adversely affected.
Further, there are several FCC proceedings underway that are likely
to change the way universal service programs are funded and the
ways these funds are disbursed to program recipients. At this time,
it is not clear what impact changes in the rules, if any, will have on
our continued eligibility 1o receive USF support. Loss of USF
revenues could adversely affect our future financial performance.

If we are unable to comply with obligations
imposed by the Communications Assistance for
Law Enforcement Act (“CALEA”), our financial
results could be adversely affected.

The Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act
("CALEA™) requires us to make services accessible to law
enforcement for surveillance purposes. Additional requirements have
been adopted to require ceflular and PCS licensees to accommodate
interception of digital packet mode telecommunications. We will
become obligated to comply with these requirements only if and
when we commence fo offer services that make use of digital
packet mode technology. If we are not able to comply with CALEA
prior to the applicable deadlines, we could be subject to substantial
fines. We icannot predict yet whether we will be able to comply with
CALEA requirements prior to the applicable deadlines.

Equipment failure and natural disasters may
adversely afisct our operations.

A major equipment failure or a natural disaster affecting any of our
central switching offices, microwave links, or cell sites could have a
material adverse effect on our operations. Our inability to operate
any portion of our wireless system for an extended time period
could resift in a loss of customers or impair our ability to attract
new customers, which would have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Difficulties in the continued upgrade of our wireless
systems could increase our planned capital
expendjiweg, delay the continued build-out of our
networks, and negatively impect our roaming
arrangements.

Whenever we upgrade our networks, we need to:
« select appropriate equipment vendors;
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* select and acquire appropriate sites for our transmission
equipment, or cell sites;

» purchase and install low-power transmitters, receivers, and control
equipment, or base radio equipment;

« build out any reguired physical infrastructure;

+ obtain interconnection services from local telephone service
carriers; and

« test cell sites.

Our ability to perform these necessary steps successfully may

be hindered by, among other things, any failure to;

* obtain necessary zoning and other regulatory approvals;

* |ease or obtain rights to sites for the location of our base radio
equipment;

* obtain any necessary capital;

« acquire any additional necessary spectrum from third parties; and

.= commence and complete the construction of sites for our

equipment in a timely and satisfactory manner.

In addition, we may experience cost overruns and delays not
within our control caused by acts of governmental entities, design
changes, material and equipment shortages, delays in delivery, and
catastrophic occurrences. Any failure to upgrade our wireless
systems on a timely basis may affect our ability to provide the
quality of service in our markets consistent with our current
business plan, and any significant delays could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Failure to meet upgrade milestones
or to comply with other requirements under our roaming agree-
ments could have an adverse effect on our roaming revenue.

Qur future financial resulls could be adversely
impacted by asset impairments or other charges.

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (““SFAS™) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142", As a result, we are required
to test both goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets,
consisting primarily of our spectrum licenses, for impairment on an
annual basis based upon a fair value approach, rather than
amortizing them over time. We are also required to test goodwili for
impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circum-
stances change that would more likely than not reduce our
enterprise fair value below its book value. Additionally, the value of
our licenses must be tested between annual tests if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the value might be impaired.
The amount of any such annual or interim impairment charge could
be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our
reported financial results for the period in which the charge is
taken. See “ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates—Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangi-
ble Assets.”

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
{("SFAS No. 144"). As a result, we are required to assess the
impairment of our long-lived assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be

recoverable as measured by the sum of the expected future
undiscounted cash flows. See “ltem 7. Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets.”

Any operating losses resulting from impairment charges under
SFAS No. 142 or SFAS No. 144 could have an adverse effect on
the market price of our securities.

We may not be able to successiully integrate
acquired or exchanged properiies, which could
have an adverse effsct on our financial results.

We seek to improve our networks and service areas through
selective acquisitions of other providers’ properties and other assets,
and in some instances, we may exchange our properties or assets
for the properties and assets of another carrier. We will be required
to integrate with our operations any properties we acquire, which
may have billing systems, customer care systems, and other
operational characteristics that differ significantly from those of our
networks. We may be unsuccessful in those efforts, and customer
retention in acquired properties and surrounding areas may suffer
as a result, which could have an adverse effect on our business
and results of operations.

We will continue o incur increased costs as a
result of being a public company subject o the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOA”), as well as
new rules implemenied by the Securilies and
Exchange Commission and The Nasdag Stock
Warket.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and
other expenses. In addition, the SOA, as well as new rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and The Nasdaq Stock
Market, have required changes in corparate governance practices of
public companies. We expect these new rules and regulations to
increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make
certain activities more time-consuming and costly.

In addition, the new rules could make it more difficult for us
to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer
liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy
limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the
same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons
to serve on our board of directors, our board committees, or as
gxecutive officers.

IF we fafl to malntain an effective system of internal
and disclosure controls, we may not be able (o
accurately report our financial resulls or prevent
fraud.

Effective internal and disclosure controls are necessary for us to
provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud and to
operate successfully as a public company. If we cannot provide
reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and




aperating results would be harmed. We may in the future discover
‘iaterial weaknesses in our internal controls as defined under
interim standards adopted by the Public Company Accounting
Jversight Board (“"PCAOB”) and significant deficiencies and defi-
ciencies in certain of our disclosure controls and procedures. Under
ihe PCAOB standards, a “"material weakness™ is a significant
deficiency or combination of significant deficiencies that results in
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the
annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. A “significant deficiency” is a control deficiency or
combination of control deficiencies that adversely affect a com-
pany’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report
external financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles such that there is a more than remote
likelihood that a misstatement of a company's annual or interim
financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be
prevented or detected.

While we have taken steps to improve our internal and
disclosure controls, we cannot be certain that we will b2 able to
maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and
reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain effective controls or
timely effect any necessary improvement of our internal and
disclosure controls could harm operating results or cause us to fail
to meet our reporting obligations, which could affect our ability to
remain listed with The Nasdag National Market. Ineffective internal
and disclosure controls could also cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information, which would likely
have a negative effect on the trading price of our securities.

Qur common stocl price has been and may
continue to be volatile. Litigation instituted against
us and our officers and directors as a result of
changes in the price of our securities could
materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and operating results.

The trading price of our Class A common stock has been and is

likely to continue to be highly volatile and couid be subject to wide

fluctuations in responsg to factors such as:

* actual or anticipated variations in operating results;

* our ability to finance our operations and meet obligations under
our financing arrangements

* conditions or trends in the wireless communications industry and
changes in the economic performance and/or market valuation of
other wireless communications companies;

* our strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;
and

» additions or departures of key personnel.

In addition, the stock market in general has experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been
unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performarice of the
affected companies. These broad market and industry factors may
materially and adversely affect the market price of our securities,
regardless of our actual operating performance.

\
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Often a drop in a company's stock price is followed by
lawsuits against the company and its officers and directors alleging
securities fraud. The defense and eventual settlement of or
judgment rendered in any such actions could result in substantial
costs. Also, the defense of any such actions could divert
management’s attention and resources. Both the costs and the
diversion of management could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and operating results. In addition, any
material adverse judgment could trigger an event of default under
our indebtedness.

We have a significant amount of debt and preferred
stocls, which may fimit our ability to meet our debt
service and dividend obligations, obtain future
financing, make capilal expenditures in support of
our business plan, react to a downturn in our
business, or otherwise conduct necessary
corporate activities.

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately $1.8 billion of
long-term liabilities (which includes $465.3 million of senior and
junior exchangeable preferred stock), and approximately $171.0 mil-
fion of Class M preferred stock, and shareholders’ deficit of
approximately $652.0 million. Of the outstanding preferred stock,
$514.3 million can be exchanged, at our option, subject to
compliance with certain leverage ratios under our credit facility and
the indentures related to our outstanding notes, for senior
subordinated indebtedness.

The current levels of our debt and preferred stock entail a
number of risks, including the following:
¢ we must use a substantial portion of our cash flows from

operations to make interest payments on our debt, thereby
reducing funds that would otherwise be available to us for
working -capital, capital expenditures, future business opportuni-
ties, and other purposes;

* we may: not be able to obtain additional financing for working
capital, capital expenditures, and other purposes on terms
favorable to us or at all;

» borrowings under our floating rate notes and our revolving credit
facility are at variable interest rates, making us vulnerable to
increases in interest rates;

» we may, have more debt than many of our competitors, which
may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

* we may: have limited flexibility to react to changes in our
business; and

« we may- not be able to refinance our indebtedness or preferred
stock on terms that are commercially reasonable or at all.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to
pay the principal or liquidation preference of, and interest or
preferred dividends on, our indebtedness and preferred stock is not
certain. In particular, if we do not meet our anticipated revenue
growth anb operating expense targets, our future debt and preferred
stock service obligations could exceed the amount of our available
cash.
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The restrictive covenants in our existing debt and
preferred stocl instruments and agreements may
fimit our ability to operate our business.

The instruments governing our debt and the certificates of

designation governing our preferred stock impose significant

operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions limit,

among other things, our ability and the ability of certain of our

subsidiaries to:

« incur additional debt;

« pay cash dividends on capital stock;

« repay junior debt and preferred stock prior to stated maturities;

+ allow the imposition of dividend restrictions on certain
subsidiaries;

* sell assets;

* make investments;

* engage in transactions with shareholders and affiliates;

* create liens; and

* engage in some types of mergers or acquisitions.

Our failure to comply with these restrictions could lead to a
default under the terms of the relevant debt or a violation of the
terms of the preferred stock even if we are able to meet debt
service and dividend obligations.

Our revolving credit facility requires us to maintain specified
financial ratios if we draw against it. Substantially all our assets are
subject to liens securing indebtedness under our revolving credit
facility and senior secured notes. These restrictions could limit our
ahility to obtain future financing, make needed capital expenditures,
withstand a downturn in our business, or otherwise conduct
necessary corporate activities.

If there were an event of default under our revolving credit
facility or other debt, the holders of the affected debt could elect to
declare all of that debt to be due and payable, which, in turn, could
cause all of our other debt to become due and payable. We might
not have sufficient funds available, and we might be unable to
obtain sufficient funds from alternative sources on terms favorable
to us or at all. If the amounts outstanding under our revolving-credit
facility were accelerated and we could not obtain sufficient funds to
satisfy our obligations, our lenders could proceed against our assets
and the stock and assets of our subsidiaries that guarantee our
revolving credit facility and senior secured notes.

Qur faflure to pay the cash dividends on our senior
exchangeable preferred stocl may affect our ability
to incur additional debt or refinance our existing
indebtedness.

We are required to pay dividends on our senior exchangeable
preferred stock. Beginning in August 2003, we did not declare or
pay cash dividends on our senior exchangeable preferred stock.
Because, as of November 15, 2004, we had failed to pay six or
more quarterly dividends, a ‘“Voting Rights Triggering Event,” as
defined in the certificate of designation for the senior exchangeable
preferred stock, existed. While a Voting Rights Triggering Event
exists certain terms of our senior exchangeable preferred stock, if

enforceable, may prohibit incurrence of additional indebtedness,
including borrowing under our revolving credit facility and the
refinancing of existing indebtedness.

On October 26, 2005, we paid four quarterly dividends on our
outstanding senior exchangeable preferred stock. These guarterly
dividends totaled $118.69 per share, including accrued interest. The
aggregate total dividends of approximately $17.8 million were paid
from existing cash. The payment of these dividends reduced the
number of unpaid quarterly dividends to five and eliminated the
then existing **Voting Rights Triggering Event'” and any uncertainty
regarding our ability to incur indebtedness, including under the
revolving credit facility, allowing us to draw $58 million under the
revolving credit facifity and issue $175 million in new senior
subordinated floating rate notes. Subsequent to the issuance of the
new notes and horrowing under our credit facility, we elected not to
pay cash dividends in November 2005 or February 2006 on our
senior exchangeable preferred stock and a “'Voting Rights Triggering
Event” again exists. Management does not anticipate paying
additional dividends in the foreseeable future.

Qur failure to pay the cash dividends omn our junior
exchangeable preferred stock may result in
changes in our board of directors and aifect our
ability to incur additional debt.

Since May 2005, we have not declared or paid cash dividends on
our junior exchangeable preferred stock. If we do not pay any of
the future dividends on our junior exchangeable preferred stock, a
“Voting Rights Triggering Event,” as defined in the certificate of
designation for the junior exchangeable preferred stock, will occur in
August 2006. At that time, the holders of the junior exchangeable
preferred stock will be entitled to elect the lesser of two directors or
the number of directors equal to 25% of our board of directors. In
addition, should a “Voting Rights Triggering Event” exist under the
junior exchangeable preferred stock, our ability to incur indebted-
ness may be impaired.

We have shareholders who could exercise
significant influence on management.

The holders of our Class M convertible preferred stock currently are
able to elect two members to our board of directors and can vote,
on an as-converted basis, approximately 2,181,239 shares of our
Class A common stock, which represented, as of December 31,
2005, approximately 10.9% of the voting power of our commaon
stock. Our Board of Directors also includes two directors elected by
our senior exchangeable preferred stockholders. If any of these
holders were to disagree with decisions made by management or
the board of directors about our plans or operations, they might be
able to bring significant pressure to change such plans or
operations.

The holders of our junior exchangeable preferred stock, under
certain circumstances, may aiso be able to elect members of our
board of directors in the future.




Antitakeover provisions could adversely affect the
price of our Class A common stock.

Some of the provisions of our Articles of Incorporation, Amended
and Restated Bylaws, and Minnesota law could delay or prevent a
change of control or a change in management that may be
beneficial to shareholders. These provisions include:

« provisions for a classified board of directors;

* provisions for advance notice for director nominations and
shareholder proposals;

* provisions allowing holders of our Class B common stock ten
votes per share as compared to one vote per share for our
Class A common stock;

« provisions for supermajority votes to approve mergers or amend
specified provisions of the Articles and Bylaws; and

» statutory limits regarding share acquisitions and business
combinations.

We also have adopted a rights plan that could discourage,
delay, or prevent someone from acquiring us at a premium price.
The rights plan provides that. preferred stock purchase rights
aftached to each sharg of our common stock become exercisable to
purchase shares of common stock at 50% of market value, causing
substantial dilution to a person or group acquiring 15% or more of
our common stock if the acquisition is not approved by our board of
directors.

In addition, the documents governing our indebtedness contain
limitations on our ability to enter into a change of control
transaction. Under these documents, the occurrence of a change of
control transaction, in some cases after notice and grace periods,
would constitute an event of default permitting acceleration of the
indebtedness.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
|

Not Appllicable

ltem 2 Properties

|
Our corporate facilities include the following:

Leased/  Square
‘ Address Owned  Feet
Midwest: -
Principal Corporate HQ 3905 Dakota Street SW Owned 50,000
‘ Alexandria, Minnesota
Northeast:
Territory Office 302 Mountain View Drive Leased 10,413
! Colchester, Vermont
Territory Office 6 Telcom Drive Owned 36,250
| Bangor, Maine
Territory Office 323 North Street Owned 4,000
: Saco, Maine
Northwest:
Territory Office 300 SE Reed Market Road |_eased 9,272
Bend, Oregon
South:
621 Boll Weevil Circle, Leased 18,000

Territory Office
1 Suite 2
Enterprise, Alabama

Our network consisted of the following cell sites at year end:
!

2005 2004

Midwest 232 214
Northeast 327 240
Northwest. 169 138
South 333 265
Total 1,061 857

Our leased sites consist of land leases, tower leases or both.
We own all the equipment within the leased sites. The leases
covering these sites have various expiration dates and are with
numerous:lessors. These leases generally have renewal options that
we would -anticipate exercising. Due to our network design, loss of
a leased location would not have a material impact on the
operations, of a territory’s business.

We have 98 retail locations, of which almost all are leased.
The leases covering these locations have various expiration dates.
We believe that the loss of any one of these retail sites would not
have a material impact on our business as we would likely be able
to obtain substantially equivalent alternative space.

ltem 3. Legal Procecdings

We are involved from time to time in routing legal matters and
other claims incidental to our business. We beligve that the
resolution of such routing matters and other incidental claims,
taking into account established reserves and insurance, will not
have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
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ltem £. Submission of Matters to @ Volte of
Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the
fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth cerfain information with regard to
each of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

Richard P. Ekstrand 56 President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

Wesley E. Schuitz 49 Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Director

Ann K. Newnhall _ 54 Executive Vice President, Chief
Operating Officer and Director

David J. Del Zoppo 50 Senior Vice President, Finance

and Accounting

Richard P. Ekstrand has served as our President, Chief
Executive Officer, and a director since 1990. He currently serves on
the board of directors and executive committee of the Cellular
Telecommunications & Internet Association (CTIA) and the Wireless
Foundation. Mr. Ekstrand previously served as Chairman of the
Board of Directors of both CTIA and the Wireless Foundation. He
also was a founding director of the Rural Cellular Association
("“RCA”} and served as a director until 2000. He was again elected
to the RCA Board in September 2000. In addition, he is past
President of the Minnesota Telephone Association, the Association of
Minnesota Telephone Utilities, and the Minnesota Telecommunica-
tions Association. He currently serves on the board of directors of

the Minnesota Zoo Foundation. Mr. Ekstrand is the sole shareholder,
president, and a director of North Holdings, Inc. {formerly Lowry
Telephone Co., Inc.), which is a shareholder of Rural Cellular. From
1980 through 2000, Mr. Ekstrand had served as vice president and
a director of Lowry Telephone Co., Inc. North Holdings, Inc. is a
member of Lowry Telephone Company, LLC, of which Mr. Ekstrand
is the treasurer and a member of the board of governors.

Wesley E. Schultz has served as Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer since 2000 and as a director since 1999. He
joined us in 1996 as Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial
Officer. In 1999, he was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer and Assistant Secretary. Mr. Schultz is a certified
public accountant and served for three years as an auditor with
Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Ann K. Newhall has served as Executive Vice President, Chief
Operating Officer, and Secretary since 2000 and as a director since
1999, She joined us as Senior Vice President and General Counsel
in 1999. Prior to joining us, Ms. Newhall was a shareholder
attorney with Moss & Barnett, A Professional Association, most
recently serving as President and a director of the firm.

Ms. Newhall received her J.D. from the University of Minnesota Law
Schaol in 1977. She serves on the board of directors of Alliant
Energy Corporation, a gas and electric utility.

David J. Del Zoppo has served as Vice President, Finance and
Accounting since 1999 and was appointed Senior Vice President,
Finance and Accounting in February 2006. He joined us in 1997 as
Controller and was appointed Vice President in 1998. Mr. Del
Zoppo is a certified public accountant and served for four years as
an auditor with KPMG, LLP.
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ltem 5.

Market for Registrant’s Commomn

Equity end Related Stockholder
Matters and lssver Repurchase of

Egquity Securities

Market Price/Holders

The following table indicates the high and low sales price of the
Class A Common Stock for each quarter of the 2005 and 2004

fiscal years as quoted on The Nasdag National Market.

High Low

2005

First Quarter $ 8.85 $ 510

Second Quarter $ 577 $ 420

Third Quarter $12.92 $ 519

Fourth Quarter $17.12 $11.79
2004

First Quarter $14.38 $ 8.00

Second Quarter $10.20 $ 6.80

Third Quarter $ 9.71 $ 6.66

Fourth Quarter $7.18 $ 4.70

Our Class B common stock is not publicly traded.

As of February 28, 2006, there were approximately 156
holders of record of our Class A common stock and approximately

12 holders of record of our Class B common stock.
Dividend Policy

RCC has never paid dividends on its Common Stock. The terms of
our credit facility, outstanding notes, and exchangeable preferred
stock limit our ability to pay dividends on our Common Stock.

Our ability to pay cash dividends on and to redeem for cash

our senior exchangeable preferred stock and junior exchangeable
preferred stock when required is restricted under various covenants
contained in documents governing our outstanding preferred stock
and our indebtedness, including the notes. In addition, under

{
|

Minnesota law, we are permitted to pay dividends on or redsem our
capital stock, including the senior exchangeable preferred stock and
the junior exchangeable preferred stock, only if our board of
directors determines that we will be able to pay our debts in the
ordinary course of business after paying the dividends or completing
the redemption. In addition, in order to redeem the junior
exchangeable preferred stock, our hoard of directors must deter-
mine that we have sufficient assets to satisfy the liquidation
preferences of the senior exchangeable preferred stock. As of
December 31, 2005, we would have been able to make a total of
$73.0 million in restricted payments.

On October 26, 2005, we paid four quarterly dividends on our
outstanding senior exchangeable preferred stock. These quarterly
dividends totaled $118.69 per share, including accrued interest. The
aggregate total dividends of approximately $17.8 million were paid
from existing cash. The payment of these dividends reduced the
number of, unpaid quarterly dividends to five and eliminated the
then existing “'Voting Rights Triggering Event’” and any uncertainty
regarding our ability to incur indebtedness, including under the
revolving credit facility. Subsequent to the issuance of the floating
rate subordinated notes and borrowing under our credit facility, we
glected not to pay cash dividends in November 2005 or February
2006 on Qur senior exchangeable preferred stock and, accordingly
a "Voting ‘Rights Triggering Event’ currently exists. Management
does not gnticipate paying additional dividends in the foreseeable
future.

i

Issuance of Common Stock

In October 2005, RCC converted all of the outstanding shares of
Class T convertible preferred stock into the 43,000 shares of
Class A and 105,940 shares of Class B common stock. Dividends
are not payable if the shares are converted. This conversion
resulted ih a gain of approximately $6.7 million, which reduced
preferred stock dividends in 2005.
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ltem 6. Selected Financisl Data

The following tables set forth certain of our consolidated financial
and operating data as of and for each of the five years in the
period ended December 31, 2005, which we derived from our
consolidated financial statements. The data set forth below shouid

be read in conjunction with “item 7. Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations'’ and the
consalidated financial statements and accompanying notes included

glsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share and other operating data) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Service $ 387,848 $377,219 $ 355,038 $319,933 $310,520
Roaming 122,774 105,504 131,896 122,703 116,541
Equipment 34,313 22,094 20,455 20,442 18,627
Total revenue 544,935 504,817 507,389 463,078 445,688
Operating expenses:
Network costs, excluding depreciation 120,322 104,071 96,069 97,200 101,509
Cost of equipment sales 58,266 40,372 37,636 29,184 28,415
Selling, general and administrative 182,238 135,129 131,761 119,185 122,387
Stock based compensation—SG&A Gl 41 — — —
Depreciation and amortization 100,463 76,355 76,429 82,497 112,577
impairment of assets 7,020 47,136 42,244 — —
Total operating expenses 433,989 403,104 384,139 328,066 364,888
Operating income 109,946 101,713 123,250 135,012 80,800
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (171,831) {(163,977) {136,262) (114,478) (130,432)
Interest and dividend income 2,221 1,727 916 562 1,172
" Other (B878) (76) 891 66 (752)
Other expense, net (170,488) (162,326) (134,455) (113,850) (130,012
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative change
in accounting principle (64,340) (60,613 (11,205) 21,162 (49,212)
Income tax benefit (418) (1,672 — — —
Income (loss) before cumulative change in accounting
principle (64,122) (58,941) (11,205) 21,162 (49,212)
Cumulative change in accounting principle — — — (417,064) 1,621
Net loss (64,122) (58,941) (11,205) (395,902 (47,591)
Preferred stock dividend (7,174) (12,915) (38,877) (60,556) (54,545)
Net loss applicable to common shares § (71,283) $ (71,856) $ (50,082 $(456,458) $(102,136)
Weighted average common shares outstanding 12,698 12,239 12,060 11,920 11,865
Net loss applicable to common shares before cumulative
change in accounting principle $ (3.52) $ (587 $ @415 $ (3.30) $ (874
Cumulative change in accounting principle o —_ — (34.99) 13
Net loss per basic and diluted share $ (5.32) $ (687 $ (4.15) $ (3829 $ @861




As of December 31,

(in thousands, except other operating data) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (deficit) $ 129,922 $ 457308 $ 86,135 $ (55,496 $ (18,273)
Net property and equipment 277,408 276,133 226,202 240,536 244,980
Total assets 1,480,682 1,417,450 1,521,058 1,462,978 1,836,779
Total long-term liabilities 1,847,994 1,733,079 1,764,867 1,211,026 1,286,301
Redeemable preferred stock 170,976 166,296 153,381 569,500 508,836
Total shareholders’ deficit $ (651,982) $ (596,338) $ (526,830) $ (483115) $ (33,830)
Other Operating Data: ‘
Customers (not including long distance and ‘
paging): !
Postpaid 597,769 628,614 656,110 639,221 599,514
Prepaid 11,663 20,391 22,302 27,452 33,255
Wholesale 96,170 80,806 67,104 55,700 29,139
Total customers 703,602 729,811 745,516 722,373 661,908
Marketed POPs!" ®,505,000 6,279,3000 5,962,000 5,893,000 5,893,000
Penetration® 8.5% 10.3% 11.4% 11.3% 10.7%
Retention® 97.3% 97.9% 98.1% 98.2% 97.8%
Local monthly service revenue per customer® $ 50 $ 46 $ 43 $ 4 $ 42
Average monthly revenue per customer® $ 67 $ | 60 $ 59 $ 57 $ 59
Acquisition cost per customer® $ 497 $ 444 $ 422 $ 377 $ 290
Cell sites/Base stations: 1,061 857 754 732 684

(1) Updated to reflect 2000 U.S. Census Bureau Official Statistics.

(2) Represents the ratio of wireless voice customers, excluding wholesale customers, at the end of the period to population served.

(3) Determined for each period by dividing total postpaid wireless voice customers discontinuing service during such period by the average postpaid wireless
voice customers for such period {customers at the beginning of the period plus customers at the end of the pericd, divided by two), dividing that result

by the number of months in the period, and subtracting such result from one.

(4) Determined for each period by dividing service revenue (not including pass-through regulatory fees by the monthly average postpaid customers for such

period.

(5) Determined for each period by dividing service revenue (not including pass-through regulatory fees) and roaming revenue by the monthily average postpaid

customers for such period.

(6) Determined for each period by dividing selling and marketing expenses, net costs of equi‘pment sales, and depreciation of rental telephone equipment by
the gross postpaid and prepaid wireless voice customers added during such period.
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Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financlal Measuraes

We utilize certain financial measures that are calculated based on
industry conventions and are not calculated based on Generally

Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP"). Certain of these financial
measures are considered non-GAAP financial measures within the
meaning of ftem 10 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Retention
Postpaid wireless voice customers discontinuing

service™ 197,477 161,222 150,745 136,237 153,078
Weighted average 12 month aggregate postpaid

wireless voice customers® 7,362,780 7,667,797 7,780,921 7,409,873 6,954,051
Chum (1) = (2) 2.7% 2.1% 1.9% 1.8% 2.2%
Retention (1 minus churn) 97.3% 97.9% 98.1% 98.2% 97.8%
Acquisition Cost Per Gustomer
{in thousands, except customer gross additions and

acquisition cost per customer)
Selling and marketing expense $ 59,201 $ 54,077 $ 52150 $ 50563 $ 49,808
Net cost of equipment 23,953 18,278 17,181 8,742 9,788
Adjustments to cost of equipment 3,990 2,399 8,549 15,647 7,373
Total costs used in the calculation of Acquisition

cost per customer® $ 87,144 $ 74754 $ 77,880 $ 74,952 $ 66,969
Customer gross additions'® 175,324 168,330 184,522 198,923 230,895
Acquisition cost per customer (3) + (4) $ 497 $ 444 $ 422 $ 377 $ 290
Local Service Revenue Per Customer (“LSR”)
(in thousands, except weighted average 12 month

aggregate postpaid wireless voice customers

and LSR)
Revenues (as reported on Consolidated Statements

of Operations)
Service revenues $ 387,848 $ 377,219 $ 355,038 $ 319,933 $ 310,520
Non postpaid revenue adjustments (20,253) (20,743) (24,016) - (18,399 (16,814)
Service revenues for LSR® $ 367,595 $ 356,476 $ 331,022 $ 301,538 $ 293,706
Weighted average 12 month aggregate postpaid

wireless voice customers® 7,362,780 7,667,797 7,780,921 7,409,873 6,954,051

LSR (5) + (6) $ 50

$ 46 $ 43 $ 41 $ 42

Average Revenue Per Customer (“ARPU”)

(in thousands, except weighted average 12 month
aggregate postpaid wireless voice customers
and ARPU)

Revenues (as reported on Consolidated Statements
of Operations)

Service revenues $ 387,848 $ 377,219 $ 355,038 $ 319,933 $ 310,620
Roaming revenues 122,774 105,504 131,896 122,703 116,541

Total 510,622 482,723 486,934 442,636 427,061
Non postpaid revenue adjustments: (20,283) (20,743) (24,016) (18,395) (16,814)
Service revenues for ARPU™ $ 490,369 $ 461,980 $ 462,918 $ 424,241 $ 410,247
Weighted average 12 month aggregate postpaid

wireless voice customers® 7,362,780 7,667,797 7,780,921 7,409,873 6,954,051
ARPU (7) + (8) $ 67 $ 60 $ 59 $ 57 $ 59




tem 7. Menagement’s Discussion amnd
Anealysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations

Business Qverview

We are a wireless communications service provider focusing
primarily on rural markets in the United States. Our principal
operating objective is to increase revenue and achieve profitability
through increased penetration in our existing markets.

Our operating territories include portions of five states in the
Northeast, three states in the Northwest, four states in the Midwest,
and three states in the South. Within each of our four territories, we
have a strong local sales and customer service presence in the
communities we serve.

Our marketed networks covered a total population of approxi-
mately 6.5 million POPs and served approximately 706,000 voice
customers as of December 31, 2005. We have national roaming
agreements in our markets with Cingular (effective through
December 2009) and Verizon (effective through December 2009).
Under these agreements, we are able to attain preferred roaming
status by overlaying our existing TDMA networks in our South,
Northeast and Northwest networks with GSM/GPRS/EDGE technology
and our Midwest network with CDMA technology. We also have
various agreements with T-Mobile, which are effective through
December 2007.

Operating Revenue

Our revenue primarily consists of service, roaming, and equipment

revenue, gach of which is described below:

« Service revenue includes monthly access charges, charges for
airtime used in excess of the time included in the service
package purchased, long distance charges derived from calis
placed by customers, data related services, as well &s wireless
and paging equipment lease revenue. Also included are charges
for features such as voicemall, call waiting, call forwarding, and
incollect revenue, which consists of charges to our customers
when they use their wireless phones in other wireless markets.
We do not charge installation or connection fees. We also include
in service revenue the USF support funding that we receive as a
result of our ETC status in certain states and the USF pass-
through fees we charge our customers.

» Roaming revenue includes only outcollect revenue, which we
receive when other wireless providers’ customers use our
network.

« Equipment revenue includes sales of wireless equipment and
accessaries to customers, network equipment reselling, and
customer activation fees.

Operzting Expenses

Our operating expenses include network costs, cost of equipment
sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation
and amortization, each of which is described below:

* Network costs include switching and transport expenses and
expenses associated with the maintenance and operation of our
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wireless network facilities, including salaries for employees

involved in network operations, site costs, charges from other

service ‘providers for resold minutes, and the service and expense
associated with incollect revenue.

Gost of equipment sales includes costs associated with telephone

equipment and accessories sold to customers. In recent years, we

and other wireless providers have increased the use of discounts
on phone equipment to attract customers as competition between
service providers has intensified. As a result, we have incurred,
and expect to continue to incur, losses on equipment sales per
gross additional and migrated customer. We expect to continue
these discounts and promotions because we believe they wil
increasg the number of our wireless customers and, consequently,
increase service revenue.

» Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A’) expenses include
salaries, benefits, and operating expenses such as marketing,
commis:sions, customer support, accounting, administration, and
billing. We also include in SG&A contributions payable to the USF.

» Depreciation and amortization represents the costs associated with
the depreciation of fixed assets and the amortization of customer
lists and spectrum relocation.

Other Expenses

In addition to the operating expenses discussed above, RCC also
incurs other expenses, primarily interest on debt and dividends on
preferred 'stock.

* Interest expense primarily results from the issuance of outstanding
notes and exchangeable preferred stock, the proceeds of which
were used to finance acquisitions, repay other borrowings, and
further develop our wireless network.

Interest' expense includes the following:

. InFerest expense on our credit facility , senior secured notes,
senior notes, and senior subordinated notes,

» Amortization of debt issuance costs,

* Early extinguishment of debt issuance costs,

» Dividends on senior and junior exchangeable preferred stock,

. Amortization of preferred stock issuance costs,

« Gain (loss) on derivative instruments, and

* Gains on repurchase and exchange of preferred stock.

* Preferred stock dividends are accrued on our outstanding Class M
convertible preferred stock ana had been accrued on our Class T
convertible preferred stock, which was converted to common
stock in October 2005.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The foIIoWing discussion and analysis is based upon our consoli-
dated financial statements, which have been prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of '‘America. The preparation of our consolidated financial
statements requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets,
and liabilities during the periods reported. Estimates are used when
accounting for certain items such as unbilled revenue, allowance for
doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization periods, income

FOL WE]

>

[




q

AN
LA

7.0

et e
e nin

P

N

taxes, valuation of intangible assets, and litigation contingencies. We
base our estimates on historica!l experience, where applicable, and
other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. We beligve that the following critical accounting
policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible
Assels

We review goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment based on the requirements of SFAS No. 142. Goodwill
is tested for impairment at the reporting unit fevel on an annual
basis as of October 1st or on an interim basis if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying value. These events or circum-
stances would include a significant change in the business climate,
legal factors, operating performance indicators, competition, sale or
disposition of a significant portion of the business or other factors.
in analyzing goodwill for potential impairment, we use projections of
future cash flows from the reporting units. These projections are
based on our view of growth rates, anticipated future economic
conditions, the appropriate discount rates relative to risk, and
gstimates of residual values. We believe that our estimates are
consistent with assumptions that marketplace participants would use
in their estimates of fair value. If changes in growth rates, future
gconomic conditions, discount rates, or estimates of residual values
were to occur, goodwill may become impaired.

Additionally, impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible
assets, consisting of FCC licenses, are required to be performed on
an annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would indicate the asset might be
impaired. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF")
No. 02-7, “Unit of Accounting for Testing of Impairment of
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets” (“EITF No. 02-7"), impairment
tests for FCC licenses are performed on an aggregate basis for
each unit of accounting. We utilize a fair value approach,
incorporating discounted cash flows, to complete the test. This
approach determines the fair value of the FCC licenses, using start-
up model assumptions and, accordingly, incorporates cash flow
assumptions regarding the investment in a network, the develop-
ment of distribution channels, and other inputs for making the
business operational. These inputs are included in determining free
cash flows of each unit of accounting, using assumptions of
weighted average costs of capital and the long-term rate of growth
for each unit of accounting. We believe that our estimates are
consistent with assumptions that marketplace participants would use
in their estimates of fair value. If any of the assumptions were to
change, our FCC licenses may become impaired.

Under SFAS No. 142, we performed annual impairment tests
in 2003, 2004, and 2005 for our indefinite lived assets. Based on
these tests, we recorded a noncash impairment charge of
$47.1 million {included in operating expenses) in the fourth quarter
of 2004. There was no impairment charge in 2003 and 2005
related to our annual assessment under SFAS No. 142

Revenuve Recognition—Service

We recognize service revenue based upon contracted service fees
and minutes of use processed. As a result of our billing cycle cut-
off times, we are required to make estimates for service revenue
earned, but not yet billed, at the end of each month. These
estimates are based primarily upon historical minutes of use
processed. We follow this method since reasonable, dependable
estimates of the revenue can be made. ‘Actual billing cycle results
and related revenue may vary from the results estimated at the end
of each quarter, depending on customer usage and rate plan mix.
For customers who prepay their monthly access fees, we match the
recognition of service revenue to their corresponding usage.
Revenues are net of credits and adjustments for service.

We receive USF revenue reflecting our ETC status in certain
states. We recognize support revenue depending on the level of our
collection experience in each ETC qualified state. Where we do not
have adequate experience to determine the time required for
reimbursement, we recognize revenue upon cash receipt. Where we
do have adequate experience as to the amount and timing of the
receipt of these funds, we recognize revenue on an accrual basis.

We include the pass-through fees we collect from customers
as service revenue with a corresponding charge to SG&A expense.
These pass-through fees, which we have the option of passing to
our customers, include state and federal USF fees, together with
city utility and state gross receipt taxes.

Revenue Recognition—Roaming Revenue and
Incollect Cost

Roaming revenue and incollect cost information is provided to us
primarily through a third party centralized clearinghouse. From the
clearinghouse we receive monthly settlement data. We base our
accrual of roaming revenue and incollect expense on these
clearinghouse reports. We follow this method since reasonably
dependable estimates of roaming reventie and incollect cost can be
made based on these reports.

Allowance for Doubtiul Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses that will resuit from failure of our customers to pay amounts
owed. We base our estimates on the aging of our accounts
receivable balances and our historical wiite-off experience, net of
recoveries. If the financial condition of our customers were to
deteriorate, we may be required to maintain higher allowances.

Depreciation of Properly and Equipment

We depreciate our wireless communications equipment using the
straight-line method over estimated useful lives. We periodically
review changes in our technology and industry conditions, asset
retirement activity, and salvage to determine adjustments to
estimated remaining useful lives and depreciation rates. Total
depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004, and 2003, was $81.5 million, $57.4 million, and $56.2 mil-
lion, respectively.




During the fourth quarter of 2005, we reviewed the lives of
our TDMA assets and reduced the remaining useful life of this
equipment from approximately 21 months to 15 months. Accord-
ingly, all TDMA equipment will be fully depreciated by Decem-
ber 31, 2006. The net book value of this equipment as of
December 31, 2005, was approximately $47.0 million.

While we will continue to provide service to existing TOMA
customers for the foreseeable future, the amount of future cash
flows to be derived from the TDMA network assets is highly
dependent upon the rate of transition of existing customers using
TDMA equipment to 2.5G capable equipment as well as other
competitive and technological factors. We determined that a
reduction in the useful lives of these assets was warranted based
on the projected transition of network traffic. We will continue to
review the useful lives of the TDMA assets throughout the period of
transition to 2.5G capable equipment to determine whether further
changes are warranted.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assels

We review long-lived assets, consisting primarily of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives, for impairment
in accordance with SFAS No. 144. In analyzing potential impair-
ment, we use projections of future undiscounted cash flows from
the assets. These projections are based on our view of growth rates
for the related business, anticipated future economic conditions, the
appropriate discount rates relative to risk, and estimates of residual
values. We believe that our estimates are consistent with
assumptions that marketplace participants would use in their
estimates of fair value. If changes in growth rates, future economic
conditions, discount rates, or estimates of residual values were to
occur, long-lived assets may become impaired.

On June 28, 2005, our customer relationship management
and billing managed services agreement with Amdocs was mutually
terminated. As a result of the termination of the agreement, we
recorded a charge to operations during the quarter ended June 30,
2005 of $7.0 million, reflecting the write-down of certain
development costs previously capitalized.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.”" As part of the process of preparing
the consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate
income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This
process involves estimating actual current fax exposure together
with assessing temporary differences resulting from diffaring
treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. Thase
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. We must
then assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income and, if we believe that recovery is not
likely, we must establish an appropriate valuation allowance. To the
extent we increase or decrease the valuation allowance in a period,
we must include an expense or benefit within the tax provision in
the consolidated statement of operations.

Sign‘iﬂcant management judgment is required in determining
the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities,
and any valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax
assets, As of December 31, 2005, our valuation aflowance was
$160.5 million due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize
the deferred tax assets. The deferred tax assets consist principally
of certainl‘net operating losses ('NOLs”) being carried forward, as
well as impairment write-downs of intangible assets not currently
deductible for tax purposes. The valuation allowance is based on
our historical operations projected forward and our estimate of
future taxable income and the period over which deferred fax assets
will be re¢overable. It is possible that we could be profitable in the
future at levels that cause us to conclude that it is more likely than
not that we will realize a portion or all of the NOL carryforward.
Upon rea¢hing such a conclusion, we would immediately record the
estimated, net realizable value of the deferred tax asset at that time
and would then provide for income taxes at a rate equal to our
combined' federal and state effective rates, which would be
approximately 38% under current tax law. Subsequent revisions to
the estimated net realizable value of the deferred tax asset could
cause the provision for income taxes to vary significantly from
period to period, although our cash tax payments would likely
remain unaffected until the benefit of the NOLs is utilized or the
NOLs expire unused.

Mﬁgaﬁibm and Other Loss Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to litigation and
other contingencies. Management must use its best judgment and
estimates of probable outcomes when determining the impact of
these contingencies. We assess the impact of claims and litigation
on a regular basis and update the assumptions and estimates used
to prepare the consolidated financial statements.

Recently lssued Accouniing Pronouncements

Accounting for Share-Based Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
{"FASB'").issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” which
is a revision of SFAS No. 123 and supersedes Accounting Principles
Board {"APB") QOpinion No. 25. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-
based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock
options, to be valued at fair value on the date of grant and to be
expensed over the applicable vesting period.

Commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2006, we will
adopt SFAS No. 123(R), utilizing the modified prospective method
for all share-based awards granted on or after January 1, 2006.
Under the' modified prospective method SFAS No. 123(R) requires
compensation cost to be recognized for all share-based compensa-
tion expense arrangements granted after the adoption date and all
remaining unvested share-based compensation arrangements
granted prior to the adoption date. Prior periods will not be
restated. .

We use the Black-Scholes model to value our stock option
grants. Compensation expense for the unvested awards will be
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measured based on the fair value of the awards previously
calculated in developing the pro forma disclosures in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 123,

Through December 31, 2005, we applied APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpreta-
tions to account for our employee and director stock options and
did not record compensation expense for share-based payment
award transactions since the exercise price had been the fair value
of RCC’s common stack at the grant date.

Results of Operations

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
Revenue

Operating Revenue:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $ Increase % Increase
Service $387,848 $377,219  $10,629 2.8%
Roaming 122,774 105,504 17,270 16.4%
Equipment 34,313 22,094 12,219 55.3%

Total operating
revenue  $544,835 $504,817  $40,118 7.9%

Service Revenue. Service revenue growth for the year ended
December 31, 2005 primarily refiects LSR increasing to $50
compared to $46 for the year ended December 31, 2004, partially
offset by declining customers. The LSR increase in 2005 was due
to an increase of $2 in USF payments and $2 in access, data and
features. LSR includes USF support of $6 for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and $4 for the year ended December 31,
2004.

We are currently receiving USF support in the states of
Alabama, Kansas, Maine, Minnesota, Mississippi, New Hampshire,
Oregon, South Dakota, Vermont, and Washington. Primarily reflect-
ing the full year’s impact of being ETC certified in these states as
compared to 2004, USF support payments increased to $40.8 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to
$28.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. We expect
the amount of USF support in 2006 to be approximately
$40 million.

Service Revenus:

Years Ended December 31,

$ Increase % Increase
(in thousands) 2005 2004 (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Local service $332,31@ $337,361 $ (5,051) (1.5)%
USF support 40,792 28,154 12,638 44.9%
Regulatory pass-
through 13,891 11,204 2,687 24.0%
Other 835 500 355 71.0%
Total service
revenue  $387,848 $377,219  $10,629 2.8%

The decling in local service revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2005 reflects the decrease in customers as we have
transitioned our TDMA networks to 2.5G technology.

Gustomers, Primarily reflecting customer retention declining to 97.3%
for the year ended December 31, 2005.as compared to 97.9% for
the year ended December 31, 2004, our total customers decreased
to 705,602 at December 31, 2005 as compared o 729,811 at
December 31, 2004. Our decline in customer retention reflects a
multitude of technology related issues, including increased customer
care needs (which we encountered during the commercial introduc-
tion of our GSM networks in the second quarter of 2005), GSM
billing system changes, the transitional stage of our networks, and
increased national carrier competition. Postpaid customer gross
adds for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased to 166,626
as compared to 151,161 for the year ended December 31, 2004,

As of December 31, 2005, approximately 47% of our postpaid
customers were using new technology handsets as compared to 6%
at December 31, 2004. We believe our new technology customers
provide higher retention rates and LSR and therefore plan to
aggressively migrate our legacy customer base to new technology
products throughout 2006. We anticipate positive net postpaid
customer growth in 2006.

Roaming Revenue. The 16% increase in roaming revenue during the
year ended December 31, 2005 primarily reflects a 40% increase
in outcollect minutes partially offset by a decline in roaming yield.
Our outcollect vyield for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$.15 per minute as compared to $.16 per minute in the year ended
December 31, 2004. Declings in TDMA outcollect minutes were
offset by increases in new technology GSM and CDMA outcollect
minutes.

Negatively impacting roaming revenue primarily during 2004
and the first and second quarters of 2005 was the transition by our
national roaming partners to 2.5G technology handsets. Because
these partners converted their customer base to this new
technology before we had fully operational 2.5G networks, we did
not capture a portion of available roaming revenue. At Decem-
ber 31, 2005, substantially all of our 1,061 cell sites were
equipped with 2.5G technology. For the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004, 2.5G outcoliect minutes accounted for 80% and
35%, respectively, of our total outcollect minutes. For the years




ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, Cingular (on a pro forma
basis giving effect to its 2004 merger with AWE), Verizon Wireless,
and T-Mobile accounted for approximately 82% and 86%, respec-
tively, of our total outcollect roaming minutes. For the vears ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, Cingular (on a pro forrna basis
giving effect to its merger with AWE) accounted for approximately
11.9% and 9.9% of our total revenue.

Roaming revenue has also been affected by the transfer of our
Oregon RSA 4 service area to AWE on March 1, 2004,

We anticipate 2006 roaming minute increases to offset
anticipated roaming vyield declines, which together with the full year
operation of our new technology networks, should result in 2006
roaming revenue exceeding 2005 levels.

Equipment Revenue. Equipment revenue increased 55% to $34.3 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to

$22.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2004,
Contributing to equipment revenue in 2005 was the 59% increase
in customer migrations to 199,248 as compared to 124,925 during
the year ended December 31, 2004. Also contributing to equipment
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 was an increase of
gross postpaid customers. In 2005, gross postpaid customer
additions increased to 166,626 as compared to 151,161 in 2004.

Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31,

$ Increase % Increase
{in thousands) 2005 2004 (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Network cost
Incollect cost $ 46,880 ¢ 45745 $ 1,135 2.5%
Other network
cost 73,442 58,326 15116 25.9%
120,322 104,071 16,251 15.6%
Cost of equipment
sales 58,266 40,372 17,894 44.3%
Selling, general
and
administrative 152,238 135,129 17,109 12.7%
Stock-based
compensation—
SGRA 680 41 639 1,558.5%
Depreciation and
amortization 100,483 76,355 24,103 31.6%
Impairment of
assets 7,020 47,136  (40,116) (85.1)%
Total
operating
expenses  $438,989 $403,104 $35885 8.9%

Network Cost. Network cost, as a percentage of total revenues,
increased to 22.1% in the year ended December 31, 2005 as

i
|
i
|
|

compared to 20.6% in the year ended December 31, 2004. This
increase (eflects additional costs of operating multipie networks
(analog, TOMA and 2.5G networks), increased incollect usage by
2.5G customers, and additional cell site costs related to our
network improvement and expansion. Cell sites increased to 1,061
at December 31, 2005 as compared to 857 at December 31,
2004. Per minute incollect cost for the year ended December 31,
2005 waé approximately $0.11 per minute as compared to $0.13
in the year ended December 31, 2004. We anticipate continued
increases, in network costs in 2006 over 2005 levels, reflecting the
full year impact of 2.5G network overlay substantially completed in
2005.

Cost of Equipment Sales. Cost of equipment sales increased 44.3% to
$58.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, reflecting the
cost of increased customer migration to new technology handsets
together with increases in gross customer additions. As a
percentage of revenue, cost of equipment sales for the year ended
December 31, 2005 increased to 10.7% as compared to 8.0% in
the year ended December 31, 2004. Postpaid customer gross adds
for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased to 166,626 over
151,161 Ifor the year ended December 31, 2004. As of

December 31, 2005, approximately 47% of our postpaid customers
were using new technology handsets as compared to 6% at
December 31, 2004.

Because of the improved retention from new technology
customer$ and the higher LSR that these customers demonstrate,
we plan to aggressively pursue migrating our legacy customer base
to new technology products throughout 2006. Accordingly, we
anticipate cost of equipment sales to increase in 2006 compared fo
2005 levels.

Selling, General and Administrative. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A
increased to 27.9% in the year ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to 26.8% during the year ended December 31, 2004,
Primarily contributing to the increase in G&A were increased
contract labor and services related to our rofl-out of new technology
products and billing system conversion costs. Sales and marketing
costs increased due to the market launch of 2.5G technology
products.; We also incurred higher bad debt expense during the
year, partially reflecting billing system difficulties and the resulting
decline in customer retention. Regulatory pass-through fees in-
creased to $14.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to $11.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2004,
reflecting a change in federally managed rates.

QGiven the stabilization of our billing platforms and the
substantial completion of our 2.5G technology overlay, we expect
SG&A in 2006 to be comparable to 2005.
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Componenis of SG&A are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $ Increase % Increase
General and

administrative ~ $ 64,887 $ 59,853 § 5,034 8.4%
Sales and

marketing 59,876 54,077 5,299 9.8%
Bad debt, net of

recoveries 13,769 9,762 4,007 41.0%
Requlatory pass-

through fees 14,208 11,478 2,728 23.8%

$152,238 $135170 $17,068 12.6%

Stock-based compensation—S8G&A. For the year ended December 31,
2005, we recorded $680,000 of non-cash stock compensation
expense related to the restricted stock grants to employees
compared to $41,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004,

in accordance with our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), stock-
based compensation in future financial statements will include cost
to be recognized for all stock-based compensation expense
arrangements, including employee and non-employee stock options
granted after January 1, 2006 and all remaining unvested stock-
based compensation arrangements granted prior to January 1,
2006, commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2006.
Accordingly, we expect stock-based compensation to increase in
2006.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense
increased 31.6% during the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$100.5 million as compared to $76.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This increase primarily reflects the accelerated
depreciation of our legacy TDMA networks and depreciation on the
recently activated 2.5G networks in our Northeast, Northwest, and
South territories. At December 31, 2005, substantially all of our
1,061 cell sites were equipped with 2.5G technology. For these
reasons, we anticipate increased levels of depreciation and
amortization in 2006 over 2005 levels.

Impairment of Assets. Effective June 28, 2005, our agreement with
Amdocs was mutually terminated. Reflecting the termination of the
agreement, we recorded a charge to operations during the quarter
ended June 30, 2005 of $7.0 million, reflecting the write-down of
certain development costs previously capitalized.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Expense. Increased interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2005 reflects the Company's higher debt level
resulting from the November 2005 issuance of $175 million floating
rate senior subordinated notes and the borrowing of $58 million
under the revolving credit facility.

Partially offsetting the impact of increased debt were gains
resuiting from repurchases of senior exchangeable preferred stock
and gains from exchanges of senior exchangeable preferred stock

&

for common stock. In addition, the write-off of debt issuance costs
were lower in the year ended December 31, 2005 than in the year
ended December 31, 2004.

Cash interest expense, which included $17.8 million in senior
exchangeable preferred stock dividends paid in October 2005, was
$133.0 miltion for all of 2005 as compared to $101.4 million in
2004.

Components of Interest Expense

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004
Interest expense on credit facility $ €691 $ 5135
Interest expense on senior secured

notes 41,517 29,753
Interest expense on senior notes 32,098 32,094
Interest expense on senior

subordinated notes 45,252 41,281
Amortization of debt issuance costs 4,892 4,674
Write-off of debt issuance costs 1,933 12,605
Senior and junior preferred stock

dividends 54,778 55,373
Effect of derivative instruments (1,997) 5,208
Gain on repurchase and exchange of

senior exchangeable preferred

stock (8,722) (22,572)
Other (1,008) 426

$171,831 $163,977

Gain on repurchase of Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock. During the
years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, we
repurchased 14,932 and 80,500 shares of senior exchangeable
preferred stock for $13.4 million and $68.4 million, respectively.
The corresponding $5.5 million and $22.6 million gains, not
including transaction commissions and other related fees, were
recorded as a reduction of interest expense.

Gain on exchange of Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock for Class A
Common Stock. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we
exchanged an aggregate of 10,535 shares of our senior exchangea-
ble preferred stock for an aggregate of 1,152,745 shares of our
Class A common stock in negotiated transactions, resulting in a
gain of $168,241. The shares were issued in reliance upon the
exemption from registration provided in Section 3{a)(9) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Preferred Stock Dividends

Preferred stock dividends for the year ended December 31, 2005
decreased by 44.5% to $7.2 million as compared to $12.9 million
in the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily reflecting the
$6.7 million gain resulting from the Octaber 2005 conversion of our
outstanding shares of Class T convertible preferred stock into the
43,000 shares of Class A and 105,940 shares of Class B common
stock.




Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
Revenue
Operating Revenue:

Years Ended December 31,

$ Increase % Increase

(in thousands) 2004 2003  (Decrease} {Decrease)
Service $377,219 $355,038 $22,181 6.2%
Roaming 105,506 131896 (26,392 {20.00%
Equipment 22,094 20,455 1,639 8.0%
Tota! revenue  $504,817 $507,389 § (2,572) 0.5)%

Service Revenue. Service revenue growth for the year ended
December 31, 2004 reflects USF support payments increasing to
$28.2 million as compared to $8.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. During 2004, we received USF support in the
states of Alabama, Kansas, Maine, Minnesota, Mississippi, Gregon,
Vermont, and Washington. LSR increased to $46 for the year ended
December 31, 2004, as compared to $43 for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Contributing to the increase in LSR were
increased levels of USF of approximately $2 and increased access
and features revenue of approximately $1.

Reflecting FCC changes to the USF rate structure, our
customer pass-through charges were $11.2 million during the year
ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $8.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003.

Service revenue was negatively impacted by a decrease in
customers resulting from the AWE property exchange completed on
March 1, 2004 and customers lost due to the transition of our
TDMA networks to 2.5G technofogy.

Customers. Our total customers decreased to 729,811 at Decem-
ber 31, 2004 as compared to 745,516 at December 31, 2003,
primarily dug to the transfer of approximately 35,000 Cregon RSA 4
customers to AWE on March 1, 2004, As part of the property
exchange, we received from AWE operations in Alabama and
Mississippi, including approximately 14,000 customers.

Customer reconciliation giving effect to the
AWE property exchange:

(not including long distance and paging)

Postpaid Prepaid Wholesale Total
Customers at December 31,
2003 656,110 22,302 67,104 745516
Net customer adds (l0ss) (5,487) (2,710) 13,746 5,549
AWE Property Exchange:
South territory customers
acquired 12,858 979 — 13,837
Oregon RSA 4 customers
transferred (34,867) (180} 44)  (35,091)
Net customer change  (22,009) 799 44 (21,254
Customers at December 31,
2004 628,614 20,391 80,806 729,811

During the year ended December 31, 2004, postpaid retention
declined to 97.9% as compared t0 98.1% in the year ended
December 31, 2003. A primary contributor to the decling in
retention was the transition stage of our networks from TDMA to
2.5G technology throughout 2004. We believe TDMA technology is
not as attractive to customers as newer technologies. Accordingly,
total customer net additions decreased to 5,549 in 2004 as
compared to 23,143 in 2003.

Roaming Revenue. The 20.0% decrease in roaming revenue during
the year ended December 31, 2004 primarily reflects the effect of
the transfer of our Northwest Territory Oregon 4 (“Oregon 47)
service area 10 AWE on March 1, 2004. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, the Oregon 4 service area provided
approximately $3.6 million of roaming revenue compared to
approximately $14.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2003. In addition, our outcollect yield for the year ended
December 31, 2004 was $0.16 per minute as compared to $0.21
per minute in 2003,

Also impacting roaming revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2004 was the accelerated transition by our national
roaming pariners to 2.5G technology handsets. Qur most significant
roaming partners are performing overlays of their existing networks
with 2.5G technology at an accelerated pace. We believe that
during 2004 these partners converted their customer base o this
new technology before our 2.5G networks became operational. As a
result, we believe we did not capture a portion of available roaming
revenue. At December 31, 2004, approximately 67% of our
857 cell sites had been overlaid with 2.5G technology.

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, Cingular
{on a pro forma basis giving effect to its merger with AWE), Verizon
Wirelgss, and T-Mobile accounted for approximately 86% and 838%,
respectively, of our total outcollect roaming minutes. For the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, Cingular (on a pro forma
basis giving effect to its merger with AWE) accounted for
approximately 9.9% and 14.5% of our total revenue.
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Equipment Revenue. Equipment revenue increased 8.0% to

$22.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to $20.5 million during the year ended December 31,
2003. Primarily contributing to increased equipment revenue was
our adoption of EITF No. 00-21, which was effective for us,
prospectively, on July 1, 2003 and resulted in our classifying
activation fees as equipment revenue rather than as service
revenue. Revenue reflecting EITF No. 00-21 was $3.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004, as compared to $1.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003. Partially offsetting
increased equipment revenue was a decline in equipment reselling
during the year ended December 31, 2004 to $735,000 as
compared to $1.5 million during the year ended December 31,
2003.

Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31,

$ Increase % Increase
(in thousands) 2004 2003 {Decrease)  (Decrease)
Network cost
incollect cost  § 45,745 $ 44,055 $ 1,690 3.8%
Other network
cost 53,326 52,014 6,312 12.1%
104,071 96,069 8,002 8.3%
Cost of equipment
sales 40,372 37,636 2,736 7.3%
Selling, general and
administrative 133,170 131,761 3,409 2.6%
Depreciation and
amortization 76,35% 76,429 (74) 0.1)%
Loss on impairment
of assets 47,136 42,244 4,892 11.6%
Total operating
gxpenses  $403,108 $384,139  $18,965 4.9%

Network Cost. Network cost, as a percentage of total revenues,
increased to 20.6% in the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to 18.9% in the year ended December 31, 2003. Our
increased network cost reflects the additional costs of operating
multiple networks (TDMA and 2.5G networks), increased incollect
expense, additional cell sites and additional costs resulting from the
AWE property exchange. Per minute incollect cost for 2004 was
approximately $0.12 per minute as compared to $0.15 in 2003.

Cost of Equipment Sales. Cost of equipment sales increased 7.3% to
$40.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2004, reflecting the
increased cost of customer migration. As a percentage of revenue,
cost of equipment sales for 2004 increased to 8.0% as compared
to 7.4% in 2003. Post and prepaid gross customer additions in
2004 were approximately 169,000 as compared to 185,000 in
2003

Selling, General and Administrative. Contributing to the increase in
SG&A was an increase in regulatory pass-through fees to

56

$11.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared
to $9.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. Additionally,
sales and marketing costs increased by 3.7% as a result of the
market launch of 2.5G technology products and costs relating to
brand name change activities. As a percentage of revenue, SGRA
increased to 26.8% in the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to 26.0% during the year ended December 31, 2003.

Components of SG&A are as foilows:

Years Ended December 31,

$ Increase % Increase

(in thousands) 2004 2003 {Decrease}) (Decrease)
General and

administrative $ 59,853 $ 60,860  $(1,007) (1.7)%
Sales and

marketing 54,077 52,150 1,927 3.7%
Bad debt, net of

recoveries 9,762 9,412 350 3.7%
Regulatory pass-

through fees 11,478 9,339 2,139 22.9%

$135,170 $131,761  $3,409 2.6%

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense was unchanged at
$76.4 million for both 2004 and 2003. A $7.2 miltion decline in
phone service depreciation in 2004 as compared to 2003 was
pffset by an increase in depreciation resulting from the 2.5G
technology overlay and the accelerated depreciation of TDMA
gquipment. As of December 31, 2004, our network had 857 cell
sites.

Loss on Impalrment of Assets

Under SFAS No. 142, we performed our annual impairment test for
our indefinite lived assets. Based on this analysis, we recorded a
noncash impairment charge of $47.1 milfion (included in operating
expenses) in the fourth quarter of 2004. There was no impairment
charge in 2003 related to our annual assessment under

SFAS No. 142,

In October 2003, we entered into an agreement with AWE to
exchange certain wireless properties. In connection with this
transaction, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge on assets
held for sale, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, of $42.2 million
effective in the third quarter of 2003. This transaction was
completed on March 1, 2004,

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the year ended December 31,
2004, including the effect of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (*SFAS No. 133"),
and SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial instruments
with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity”

(“SFAS No. 150", increased 20.3% to $164.0 million as compared
to $136.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. This
increase reflects a full year's effect of the adoption of




SFAS No. 150, effective July 1, 2003. Pursuant to SFAS No. 150,
our 11%:% senior exchangeable and 12.% junior exchangeable
preferred securities were reclassified to Long-Term Liabilities, and
dividend expense related to these instruments is reported as interest
expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Prior to

July 1, 2003, dividends on our 11%% senior exchangeable and
12Y.% junior exchangeable preferred securities were reported as a
component of "“Preferred Stock Dividend” in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. SFAS No. 150 does not permit
reclassification of prior year amounts to conform to the current year
presentation.

Also contributing to the increase in interest expense were
$12.6 million in the write-off of debt issuance costs related to the
repayment of our previous credit facility in March 2004 as
compared to $6.1 million in 2003 and an increase in the effective
rate of interest on our debt (exciuding senior and junior
exchangeable preferred stock) to 8.97% in 2004 as compared to
8.03% in 2003. Partially offsetting these increases were gains on
repurchase of senior exchangeable preferred stock.

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2004 2003
Interest expense on credit facility $ 5,135 $ 44574
Interest expense on senior secured

notes 29,733 —
Interest expense on senior notes 32,094 13,372
Interest expense on senior

subordinated notes 41,281 41,281
Amortization of debt issuance costs 4,674 4,773
Write-off of debt issuance costs 12,605 6,134
Senior and junior preferred stock

dividends 55,373 27,973
Effect of derivative instruments 5,208 (3,502)
Gain on repurchase of senior

exchangeable preferred stock (22,572) —
Other 426 1,657

$163,977 $136,262

Gain on repurchase of senior exchangeable preferred stock. Curing the
year ended December 31, 2004, we repurchased 80,500 shares of
our 11¥%:% senior exchangeable preferred stock for $68.4 million.
The corresponding $22.6 million gain on repurchase of preferred
shares was recorded as a reduction of interest expense:,

Preferred Stock Dividends

Preferred stock dividends for the year ended December 31, 2004
decreased by 66.8% to $12.9 million as compared to $38.9 mitlion
in the year ended December 31, 2003. The decline in preferred
stock dividends results from the adoption of SFAS No. 150, as
described above, which requires that dividends on certain preferred
stock be treated as interest expense.

Liquidity and Capltal Resources

We need cash primarily for working capital, capital expenditures
primarily related to our network construction efforts, debt service,
customer growth, and purchases of additional spectrum. In past
years, we have met these requirements though cash flow from
operations, borrowings under our credit facility, sales of common
and preferred stock, and issuance of debt.

Qur cell site count has increased from approximately
800 TDMA sites in early 2004 to 1,061 new technology sites at the
end of 2005, resulting in expansion of our network capability and
coverage in all of our territories. Our 2.5G equipment purchases
and installation commitments to our equipment vendors and
roaming partners are largely met. Capital expenditures for the year
ended December 31, 2005 were approximately $35.0 million
compared to approximately $34.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

We Dbelieve our network overlay and expansion efforts will
improve our ability to attract customers in addition to providing
customers of our roaming partners greater access to our networks.
Although we do not anticipate adding as many cell sites in 2006 as
we did in 2005, we plan to add capacity within our networks,
allowing them to carry increased roaming traffic and to accommo-
date the new technology customer migration. We anticipate our total
expenditures for 2006 will be in the $70 million range. We expect
to fund these capital expenditures primarily from cash on hand and
operating cash flow.

Senior and Junior Exchangeable Preferred Stock. Until August 2003, we
paid the dividends on our senior exchangeable preferred stock by
issuing additional shares of exchangeable preferred stock and until
February 15, 2005, we paid the dividends on our junior
gxchangeable preferred stock by issuing additional shares of junior
preferred stock. Because we had failed to pay six or more quarterly
dividends on our senior exchangeable preferred stock, a “Voting
Rights Triggering Event,” as defined in the terms of our senior
preferred stock, existed as of November 15, 2004. Accordingly, the
holders of senior exchangeable preferred stock exercised their right
to elect two directors. Additionally, while a “Voting Rights Triggering
Event” exists, certain terms of our senior preferred stock, if
enforceable, may prohibit incurrence of additional indebtedness,
including borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

On October 26, 2005, we paid four quarterly dividends on our
outstanding senior exchangeable preferred stock. These quarterly
dividends totaled $118.69 per share, including accrued interest. The
aggregate total dividends of approximately $17.8 miltion were paid
from existing cash. The payment of these dividends reduced the
number of unpaid quarterly dividends to five and eliminated the
then existing “'Voting Rights Triggering Event” and any uncertainty
regarding our ability to incur indebtedness, including under the
revolving credit facility, allowing us to draw $58 million under the
revolving credit facility and issue $175 million in new senior
subordinated floating rate notes. Subsequent to the issuance of the
new notes and borrowing under our credit facility, we elected not to
pay cash dividends in November 2005 or February 2006 on our
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senior exchangeable preferred stock and a ‘'Vating Rights Triggering
Event” again exists. Management does not anticipate paying
additional dividends in the foreseeable future,

Beginning in May 2005 our junior exchangeabie preferred
stock dividends are to be paid in cash. We did not declare or pay
the quarterly dividends payable in May 2005, August 2005,
November 2005, or February 2006 on the junior exchangeable
preferred stock. If we elect not to pay the required cash dividends
on our junior exchangeable preferred stock for six or more quarters,
the holders will have right to elect directors and our ability to incur
debt may be limited.

Total accrued dividends in arrears for both the junior and
senior exchangeable preferred securities, through December 31,
2005, were approximately $61.0 million.

Senior Subordinated Floating Rate Notes. On November 7, 2005, the
Company completed an offering of $175 million of Senior
Subordinated Floating Rate Notes due 2012, which were sold at an
original issue discount of $2.2 million, or 1.25%. The effective
interest rate at December 31, 2005 was 10.30%. With the
proceeds of this offering, we redeemed all of our outstanding Senior
Subordinated 9%:% notes. The total amount for such repurchase
was approximately $133.8 miliion, including $125.0 million aggre-
gate principal, $6.8 million accrued interest to the repurchase date
of December 7, 2005, and a $2.0 million premium for early
repurchase.

Credit Facility. The credit facility is subject to various covenants,
including the ratic of senior secured indebtedness to annualized
operating cash flow (as defined in the credit facility), the ratio of
total indebtedness to annualized operating cash flow, and the ratio
of annualized operating cash flow to interest expense. Effective
October 18, 2005, we received approval from a majority of the
banks who are lenders under the revolving credit facility to exclude
$17.8 million of senior exchangeable preferred dividends paid on
October 26, 2005, from the interest coverage covenant calculation.
As of December 31, 2005, we had borrowed $58.0 million against
the revolving credit facility. We were in compliance with the
covenants as of December 31, 2005.

Our borrowings -under the revolving credit facility bear interest
at rates based on, at our option, either (i) the one, two, threg, six,
or, if made available by the lender, nine or twelve month Eurodollar
rate, which is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBOR rate,
or (i) the Alternate Base Rate, which is the higher of the prime
lending rate on page 5 of the Telerate Service and the Federal
Funds Effective Rate plus /2 of 1 percent. In each case, we are
required to pay an additional margin of interest above the Eurodollar
rate or the Alternate Base Rate. The margin is based on the ratio of
our senior secured debt to our adjusted cash flow. The margin
ahove the Alternate Base Rate ranges from 1.50% fo 2.00%. The
margin above the Eurodollar rate fluctuates from 2.50% to 3.00%.

Liquidity. Primarily reflecting the borrowing of $58.0 million against
the revolving credit facility and the issuance of the senior
subordinated floating rate notes, RCC’s cash and cash equivalents

and short-term investments increased to $153.6 million as
compared to $85.3 million at December 31, 2004. As of
December 31, 2005, we would have been able to make a total of
$73.0 million in restricted payments. Cash interest payments during
the year ended December 31, 2005 were $133.0 million as
compared to $101.4 million during the year ended December 31,
2004. We expect to fund our anticipated cash requirements
primarily from cash on hand and operating cash flow and anticipate
that we will be in compliance with our revolving credit facility
covenants in 2006.

Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with the year ended December 31, 2004:

December 31, December 31,

2005 2004 Change

Net cash provided by

operating activities $ 72937  $130,277 $(57,340)
Net cash used in investing

activities (161,585) (81,459  (80,126)
Net cash provided by (used

in) financing activities 90,131 (106,026) 196,157
Net increase (decrease) in

cash and cash

gquivalents 1,483 (57,208) 58,691
Cash and cash equivalents,

at beginning of year 85,339 142547 (57,208)
Cash and cash equivalents,

at end of year $ 86822 $ 85339 $ 1,483

Net cash provided by operating activities was $72.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005. Adjustments to the $64.1 mil-
fion net loss to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities
inciude $100.5 million in depreciation and amortization, a $7.0 mil-
lion impairment of assets, and a $33.2 million increase in accrued
preferred stock dividends. Partially offsetting these items were
increases of $14.3 million in accounts receivable, $5.2 million in
inventory, and $5.7 million in gains on repurchase and exchange of
preferred stock.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2005 was $161.6 million. This amount included
$95.0 million for purchases of property and equipment and
$66.8 million in net short-term investment purchases. The majority
of property and equipment purchases are related to our 2.5G
network overlay. Our 2.5G network construction commitments to our
roaming partners and to equipment vendors were substantially met
as of December 31, 2005.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2005 was $90.1 million, primarily reflecting the
completed offering of $175 million aggregate principal amount of
our floating rate senior subordinated notes and the borrowing of
$58 million under our credit facility, partially offset by the payment
of $125.0 million to redeem our 9%:% senior subordinated notes




and $13.4 million to repurchase of senior exchangeable preferred
stock.

Under the documents governing our indebtedness, we are able
to make limited restricted payments, including the repurchase of
senior subordinated notes or preferred stock and the payment of
dividends to holders of our equity securities. As of December 31,
2005, we had approximately $73.0 million of restricted payments

80,500 shares of senior exchangeable preferred stock for
$13.4 million and $68.4 million, respectively.

Based upon existing market conditions and our present capital
structure, we believe that cash flows from operations, cash, cash
gquivalents, and short term investments will be sufficient to enable
us to meet required cash commitments through the next twelve-
month period.

capacity. During 2005 and 2004, we repurchased 14,932 and

Contractuel Obligations Summary

The following table summarizes our contractual commitments, including dividends, interest, and principal amounts that are payable in cash,
as of December 31, 2005 through the mandatory redemption dates (in thousands) for the securities listed below.

Senior Senior and
Subordinated 9¥:% Senior Junior
Floating Rate Subordinated 9% Senior Senior Exchangeable Class M
Operating Purchase Ling of Credit Notes Notes Notes Secured Preferred Preferred
Leases Commitments”  (due 3/252010)°  (due 11A1/2012%  (due 115/2010)  (due 211/2010) Notes® Securities®™ Securities® Total
2006 $17,140 $7,200 $ 4217 $ 17,571 $ 20250 $32094 $43261 $55411 3 — § 206,144
2007 15,065 — 4,217 17,571 29,250 32,094 43,261 55,411 — 196,869
2008 12,746 — 4,217 17,671 29,250 32,094 43,261 55,411 — 194,550
2009 10,242 — 4217 17,571 29,250 32,094 43,261 55,411 — 192,046
2010 5172 — 58,970 17,571 301,219 327,674 191,792 226,331 — 1,128,729
Thereafter 4,551 — — 207,254 — — 384,729 292,747 284,487 1,173,768
Total $64,916 $7,200 $75,838 $295,109 $418219  $456,050 $749,565 $740,722 $284,487 $3,092,106

(1) In 2003, we entered into a five-year $56.6 million purchase commitment with a vendor to install 2.5G network equipment. Through December 31, 2005,
we have incurred $49.4 million in equipment purchases related to this agreement.

(2) The Line of Credit matures March 25, 2010. The Line of Credit interest rate obligations are reflected at December 31, 2005 rate level of 7.3%.
Increases or decreases in LIBOR will impact interest expense in future years.

(3) The floating rate notes mature November 1, 2012. Floating interest rate obligations are reflected at December 31, 2005 rate level of 10.3%. Increases or

decreases in LIBOR will impact interest expense in future vears.
(4) The senior secured notes consist of two notes, one fixed rate 8% and

one floating rate. The floating rate notes mature March 15, 2010 and the 8":%

notes mature March 15, 2012. Floating interest rate obligations are reflected at December 31, 2005 rate level of 9.0%. Increases or decreases in LIBOR

will impact interest expense in future years.

(5) This table assumes cash dividends are paid each year. If dividends are not paid in cash, they accrue and compound until paid. If senior exchangeabie
preferred cash dividends are not declared and paid at any time prior to the mandatory redemption date of May 15, 2010, and the junior exchangeable
preferred cash dividends are not declared and paid at any time prior to the mandatory redemption date of February 15, 2011, the total liquidation
preference plus accumulated and unpaid dividends will be $829.7 million.

(6) Dividends on the Class M convertible preferred stock are compounded quarterly, accrue at 8% per annum and are payable upon redemption. The

scheduled redemption date for Class M preferred stock is April 3, 2012,

Off-Balance Sheet Financings and Liabilities. We do not have any off-
balance sheet financing arrangemenis or liabilities. We do not have
any majority-owned subsidiaries or any interests in, or relationships
with, an material special-purpose entities that are not included in
the consolidated financial statements.

Other Matters
Inflation
The impact of inflation on our operations has not been significant.

Seasonality

We experience seasonal fluctuations in revenue and operating
income. Qur average monthly roaming revenue per cellular customer

Dividends are not payable if the preferred stock is converted into equity.

increases during the second and third calendar quarters. This
increase reflects greater usage by our roaming customers who
travel in our cellular service area for weekend and vacation
recreation or work in seasonal industries. Because our cellular
service area includes many seasonal recreational areas, we expect
that roaming revenue will continue to fluctuate seasonally more than
Service revenue.
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Certain quarterly results for 2005 and 2004 are set forth below (in thousands, except per share data):

/<
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EORIMEEOX

2005 Quarter Ended 2004 Quarter Ended
iar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec

Revenue;
Service $ 04695 § 98865 §$ 98287 $ 96,001 |¢ 88585 $ 94979 $ 97,093 $ 96,562
Roaming 19622 25112 41785 36255 | 25740 26,266 29,739 23,759
Equipment 9,054 9,420 8,220 7,619 5,523 5,338 5,589 5,644

Total Revenue $123,371  $133,397 $148292 $139,875 | $119,848 $126,583 $132,421 $125,965
Operating income (l0ss) $ 23814 $ 21,033 $ 35931 25,168 | $ 38,831 $ 38,291 $ 40,156 $(15,565)
Net income (loss) before income tax

benefit $(18574) $(16269 $ (7.721) $(21,976)| $(15348) $ 6,597 $ 5437 $(57,299)
Net income (loss) applicable to

common shares $(21.804) $(19,597) $(11,151) $(18,744)| $(18,482) $ 3403 $ 2,184 $(58,961)
Net income (loss) per basic share $ 177y 8 (159 § (089 $ (138)$ (151) $ 028 $ 018 $ (4.81)
Net income (loss) per diluted share $ (077 % (159 § (089 $ (138)|$ (151 $ 027 $ 017 $ (4.81)

Item 7A. QCuamntitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Rislk

We have used senior secured notes, senior notes, senior
subordinated notes, preferred securities, and bank credit facilities to
finance, in part, capital requirements and operations. These financial
instruments, to the extent they provide for variable rates of interest,
gxpose Us to interest rate risk. One percentage point of an interest
rate adjustment would have changed our cash interest payments on
an annual basis by approximately $3.9 million in 2005.

Financial Instruments

We have invested in short term investment securities which have
maturities of six months or less and are comprised primarily of
obligations of the U.S. Treasury, including bills, notes and bonds or
obligations issued or guaranteed by agencies of the U.S. govern-
ment. These securities are recorded at cost.

At December 31, 2005, the carrying value of our short-term
investments was approximately $66.8 million. Based on available
market quotations, the carrying value of the short-term investments
at December 31, 2005, was less than their fair value by
approximately $141,000, which is comprised of gross unrecognized
holding gains. We did not have any short-term investments at
December 31, 2004.

In connection with the issuance of $175 million of senior
subordinated floating rate notes in November 2005, the Company
entered into a collar to manage interest rates. This collar effectively
limits interest from exceeding 5.87% and from being less than
4.25% on a $175 million notional amount, through its termination
date of November 1, 2008.

ltem 8. Financia! Statements and
Supplementary Data

See Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in this
report on page 46.

ltem @. Changes in and Disagreements
with Accoumntants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure

None

em 9A. Comntrols and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

RCC maintains a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports that it
files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms. As of December 31,
2005, based on an evaluation carried out under the supervision and
with the participation of RCC’s management, including the chief
executive officer (CEO} and the chief financial officer (CF0), of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, the CEO
and CFO have concluded that RCC's disclosure controls and
procedures are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Cver
Financial Reporting

The management of RCC is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). RCC’s internal
control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
company’s management and board of directors regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed,
have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined
to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect
to financial statement preparation and presentation.

RCC's management assessed the effectiveness of the com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control—integrated Framework. Based on




our assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2005, the
company’s internal controls over financial reporting were effective.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been
audited by Deloitte and Touche LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included
herein.

Changes to Internal Contro! over Financial
Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2005 that

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,

our internal control over financial reporting.

Iltem 98. Other Information
None
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Iltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers

of the Registramnt

Information regarding directors of Rural Cellular is set forth in the
Proxy Statement under the heading “'ltem No. 1—¢Election of
Directors” and is incorporated herein by reference. Information
regarding our executive officers is contained in Part | of this
Form 10-K. Information required by ftem 401(h) and () and
ftem 405 of Regulation S-K is included in the Proxy Statement
under the headings ‘'tem No. 1—Election of Directors” and
“ltem No. 2—Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors."
We have adopted a financial code of ethics that applies to our
directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Carporate
Controller and other employees involved in preparation of our
financial statements. This financial code of ethics, which is one of
several policies within our Code of Business Conduct, is posted on
our website. Also included on our website are all of our SEC filings,
including our Form 10-K. The internet address for our website is
http:/unicel.com.

Number of Securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

We intend to satisfy the disclosure reguirement under Item 10
of Form 8-K regarding an amendment ta, or waiver from, a
provision of this code of ethics hy posting such information on our
website, at the address and location specified above.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is set forth in the Proxy Statement
under the headings “ltem No. 1—¢lection of Directors” and
"Executive Compensation” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 12. Security Qwnership of Certaimn
Bemneficial Owners and
Management and Related
Stockholder Watters Eguity _
Compensation Plamn [nformatiomn

The following table summarizes share and exercise price information
about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2005.

Number of securities
remaining available for future
issuance under equity
compensation plans (excluding
securities reflected in the first

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,

Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders™ 1,863,029 $15.09 379,605
Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders® — —

TOTAL 1,863,029 $15.09 379,605

(1) Includes stock subject to outstanding options and stock available for issuance under our 1995 Stock Compensation Plan, Stock Option Plan for

Nonemployee Directors, and Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

{2) We have not adopted any equity compensation plans that have not been approved by our shareholders.

The remaining information required by this Item 12 is set forth
in the Proxy Statement under the heading "“Ownership of Voting
Securities” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 13. GCertain Relationships and

Related Transactions

Information required by this item is set forth in the Proxy Statement
under the heading ''Certain Transactions' and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and
Services

Information required by this item is set forth in the Proxy Statement
under the heading “ltem No. 2-—Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Auditors.” '




PART [V

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements
Rural Cellular Corporation

REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
Consolidated Statements of Sharehclders’ Deficit for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RCC Minnesota, Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004

Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003

Statements of Shareholder’'s Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003

Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
Notes to Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this Form 10-K:

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All schedules not included are omitied either because they are not applicable or because the information
required therein is included in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(3) Exhibits
See Exhibit Index on page 83
(b) Exhibits
See Exhibit Index
(c) Financial Statement Schedules

See ltem 15(a)(2), above
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SIGHATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: March 14, 2006

Rural Cellular Corporation

By:

/s/ Richard P. Ekstrand

Richard P. Ekstrand

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Richard P. Ekstrand

Richard P. Ekstrand

/s/  Wesley E. Schultz

Wesley E. Schultz

/s/ David J. Del Zoppo

David J. Del Zoppo

/s/  Ann K. Newhalt

Ann K. Newnhall

/s/  George W. Wikstrom

George W. Wikstrom

/s/ Don C. Swenson

Don C. Swenson

/s/ George M. Revering

George M. Revering

/s/  Anthony J. Bolland

Anthony J. Bolland

/s/  Paul J. Finnegan

Paul J. Finnegan

/s/ Jacques Leduc

Jacques Leduc
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James V. Continenza

President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive

Officer) and Director

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Director
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Accounting Officer)

Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
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Director
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Director

Director
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March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006

March 14, 2006




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

1o the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Rural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries
Alexandria, Minnesota

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rural Cellular Corporation and subsidiaries (the “‘Company"”} as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ deficit and comprehensive loss, and
cash fiows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
gvaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rural Cellular
Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
sffectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated March 10, 20086, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 10, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT RERISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Rural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries
Alexandria, Minnesota

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, that Rural Cellular Corporation and supsidiaries (the ““Company") maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Comrmittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our. responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controf over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
gvaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's Board of Directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting inciudes those poiicies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in alt material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations on the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internat control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations on the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ deficit and
comprehensive loss, and cash flows, and the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 for the year ended December 31,
2009, of the Company and our report dated March 10, 2008, which expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and
financial statement schedule.

" Deloitte & Touche LLP
Minneapalis, Minnesota
March 10, 2006




iural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Shests

December 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004
Assets
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 86822 $ 85339
Short-term investments 68,778 —
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $3,567 and $2,456 72,387 62,549
Inventories 12,349 7,658
QOther current assets 4,280 4175
Total current assets 243,616 159,721
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 277,408 276,133
LICENSES AND OTHER ASSETS:
Licenses, net 548,513 548,513
Goodwill, net 348,684 348,682
Customer lists, net 29,301 47 868
Deferred debt issuance costs, net 27,022 30,228
Other assets, net 6,138 6,305
Total ticenses and other assets 959,658 981,596
$1,480,682 $1,417,450
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 53,492 $ 52,465
Current portion of long-term debt - 81
Advance billings and customer deposits 11,885 11,076
Accrued interest 39,336 41,112
Other accrued expenses 8,281 9,679
Total current liabilities 113,694 114,413
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 1,847,994 1,733,079
Total liabilities 1,961,688 1,847,492
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)
REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK 170,976 166,296
SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT:
Class A common stock; $.01 par value; 200,000 shares authorized, 13,530 and 11,836
outstanding 133 118
Class B common stock; $.01 par value; 10,000 shares authorized, 427 and 540 outstanding 4 5
Additional paid-in capital 212,420 193,347
Accumulated deficit (862,742) (791,446)
Unearned compensation (1,799) (698)
Accumulated other comprehensive income - 2,336
Total sharehoiders’ deficit (©51,982) (596,338)
$1,480,682 $1,417,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Rural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,

{in thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003
REVENUE;
Service $ 387,848 $377,219 $ 355,038
Roaming 122,774 105,504 131,896
Equipment 34,313 22,094 20,455
Total revenue 544,93 504,817 507,389
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Network costs, excluding depreciation 120,322 104,071 96,069
Cost of equipment sales 53,266 40,372 37,636
Selling, gensral and administrative 152,238 135,129 131,761
Stock based compensation—SG&A 680 41 —
Depreciation and amortization 100,463 76,355 76,429
Impairment of assets 7,020 47136 42,244
Total operating expenses 438,989 403,104 384,139
OPERATING INCOME 105,946 101,713 123,250
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense {171,831) (163,977) (136,262)
Interest and dividend income 2,221 1,727 916
Other (878) (76) 891
Other expense, net (170,488) (162,326) (134,455)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX BENEFIT (64,540) (60,613) (11,205)
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (418) (1,672 —
NET LOSS (64,12%) (58,941) (11,205)
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDEND (7,174) (12,915) (38,877)
LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON SHARES $ (71,298) $ (71,856) $ (50,082)
BASIC AND DILUTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES USED TO COMPUTE
LOSS PER SHARE: 12,695 12,239 12,060
NET LOSS PER BASIC AND DILUTED SHARE $ (5.62) $ (.87 $ (415

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Rural Cellufar Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Sharsholders’ Deficit and Comprehensive Loss

For the Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2004 and 2003
Class A Class A (lass B Class B Accumulated
Common  Common  Common  Common Additional Other Total
Stock Stock Stock Stock Paid-In Accumulated Unearned Comprehensive Shareholders’ Comprehensive
{in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Compensation income (Loss) Deficit Loss
BALANCE, December 31, 2002 11,229 $112 693 $7 $192,204  $(669,508) § — $(6,020) $(483,115)
Conversion of Class B common stock
to Class A common stock 141 1 (141) (1) 0 — - — — —
Stock issued through employee stock
purchase plan 147 2 — — 112 — — — 114 —
Stock options exercised 5 0 — — 17 — - — 17 —
COMPONENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE
LOSS
Net loss applicable to common
shares — — — — — (50,082) — — {50,082) $(50,082)
Current year effect of
SFAS No. 133 — — — — — — — 6,236 6,236 6,236
Total comprehensive loss — —_ — — — — — — $(43,846)
BALANGE, December 31, 2003 11,522 115 552 6 192,423 (719,590 — 216 (526,830)
Conversion of Class B common stock
to Class A common stock 12 1 (12) M — — — — — —_
Stack issued through employee stock
purchase plan 166 1 -— — 145 — — — 146 —_
Stock options exercised 15 0 — — 41 — — — 41 —
Restricted Stock Issuances 121 1 — — 738 — (739 — — _
Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — — 41 — 41 —
COMPONENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE
LOSS
Net loss applicable to common
shares — — — — — (71,856) — — (71,856) $(71,856)
Current year effect of
SFAS No. 133 — — — — — — — 2120 2120 2120
Total comprehensive loss $(69,736)
BALANCE, December 31, 2004 11,836 118 540 5 193,347 (791,446) {698) 2,336 {596,338)
Stock issued through employee stock
purchase plan 7 1 - — 378 — — — $ 39 —
Stock options exercised 169 2 — — 1,189 — — — 1,191 —
Class A common issued in exchange
for senior exchangeable preferred
stock 1,153 12 — — 13,423 — — — 13,435 -
Conversion of Class B common stock
to Class A common stock 218 2 {218) @ — — — — — —
Conversion of Class T preferred Stock
to Class A and Class B common
stock 43 — 105 1 2,476 — — — 2477 —
Restricted stock activity 40 — — — 1,607 — (1,599) — 8 —
Amortization of uneared compensation — — — — — — 498 — 498 —
COMPONENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE
LOSS
Net loss applicable to common
shares — — — — — {71,296) — — (71,296) $(71,296)
Current year effect of derivative
financial instruments — — — — — — — (2,336) (2,336) (2,336)
Total comprehensive 10ss $(73,632)
BALANCE, December 31, 2005 13,630 $135 427 $4 $212,420  $(862,742) $(1,799) § — $(651,982)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




AL

T
YRXSIENES

G

liny

'
=
it

Rural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (64,122) $ (58,941) $ (11,205
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities: /
Depreciation and customer list amortization 100,463 76,355 76,429
Loss on write-off of debt and preferred stock issuance costs 1,833 12,605 6,134
Mark-to-market adjustments—financial instruments 339 4,339 (2,225)
Gain on repurchase and exchange of senior exchangeable preferred
stock (8,722) (22,573) —
Non-cash senior and junior exchangeable preferred stock dividends 3,797 28,626 13,074
Impairment of assets 7,020 47,136 42,244
Stock based compensation 880 41 —
Deferred income taxes {418) {1,672 —
Other ®,325 7,693 4,013
Change in other operating elements:
Accounts receivable (14,282) (1,821) {14,286)
Inventories (8;,191) 547 (1,581)
Other current assets {109) 89 (1,076)
Accounts payable ©,7%7 6,153 4678
Advance billings and customer deposits 809 482 146
Accrued senior and junior exchangeable preferred stock dividends 33,211 26,747 14,889
Accrued interest 2,021 6,598 12,188
Other accrued expenses (698) 2127 1,089
Net cash provided by operating activities 72,937 130,277 144,521
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (94,951) (94,417) (63,704)
Purchases of short-term investments (66,778) —_ —
Purchases of wireless properties — {725) (7,200)
Net proceeds from property exchange —_ 13,567 —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 247 92 624
Other (103) 24 (174
Net cash used in investing activities (181,585) (81,459) (60,454)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to employee stock
purchase plan and stock options 1,570 188 131
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt under the credit facility 58,000 — 120,000
Repayments of long-term debt under the credit facility —_ (525,724} (394,628)
Proceeds from issuance of senior subordinated floating rate notes 172,816 — —
Proceeds from issuance of 97:% senior notes —_ — 325,000
Proceeds from issuance of 8Y:% senior secured notes — 350,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured floating rate notes - 160,000 —
Redemption of 9%:% senior subordinated notes (125,000) —
Repurchases of senior exchangeable preferred stock (13,38%) (68,351) —
Payments to settle interest rate swaps —_ (7:645) —
Payments of debt issuance costs (3,798) (14,293) (13,374
Repayment of swaption —_ — (34,184)
Proceeds from unwinding hedge agreements —_ — 2,632
Other (102) {201) (885)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 90,131 {106,026) 4,692
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH 1,483 (57,208 88,759
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at beginning of year 83,339 142,547 53,788
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at end of year $ 86,822 $ 85,339 $ 142,547

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consalidated financial statements.




lural Cellular Corporation

lotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Jecember 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003

i. Organization and Nature of Business:

iural Cellular Corporation {“RCC" or the “Company') is a wireless
:;ommunications service provider focusing primarily on rural markets
n the United States. The Company’s principal operating objective is
.0 increase revenue and achieve profitability through increased
enetration in existing wireless markets.

RCC’s operating territories include portions of five states in the
lortheast, three states in the Northwest, four states in the Midwest,
and three states in the South. Within each of its four territories,
3CC has deployed a strong local sales and customer service
Jresence in the communities it serves. RCC's marketed networks
covered a total population of approximately 6.5 million POPs and
served approximately 706,000 voice customers as of December 31,
2005.

The Company has preferred roaming relationships with
Cingular Wireless, T-Mobile, and Verizon Wireless in its various
territories.

RCC began a 2.5G network overlay and expansion process in
late 2003. As of December 31, 2005, RCC's network has grown
from approximately 800 cell sites in early 2004 1o 1,061 and its
2.5G networks are operational in all of its four territories,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RCC
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and its majority-owned joint
venture, Wireless Alliance, LLC (*Wireless Alliance™). All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been sliminated.

Revenue Recognition—Service

The Company recognizes service revenue based upon contracted
service fees and minutes of use processed. As a result of its billing
cycle cut-off times, the Company is required to make estimates for
service revenue earned, but not yet billed, at the end of each
month. These estimates are based primarily upon historical minutes
of use processed. The Company follows this method since
reasonable, dependable estimates of the revenue can be made.
Actual billing cycle results and related revenue may vary from the
results estimated at the end of each quarter, depending on
customer usage and rate plan mix. For customers who prepay their
monthly access fees, the Company matches the recognition of
service revenue to their corresponding usage. Revenues are net of
credits and adjustments for service. The Company adopted
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF") No. 00-21, "Accounting for
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” ("EITF
No. 00-21"") effective July 1, 2003 on a prospective basis. The
adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company receives Uriversal Service Fund ("USF”) revenue
reflecting its eligible telecommunications carrier (“ETC") status in

certain states. The Company recognizes support revenue depending
on the level of its collection experience in each ETC qualified state.
Where the Company does not have adequate experience to
determing the time required for reimbursement, it recognizes
revenue upon cash receipt. Where the Company does have
adequate experience as to the amount and timing of the receipt of
these funds, it recognizes revenue as earned.

The Company includes the pass-through fees it collects from
customers as service revenuge with a corresponding charge to
selling, general and administrative expense. These pass-through
fees, which the Company has the option of passing to customers,
include state and federal USF fees, together with city utility and
state gross receipt taxes.

Revenue Recognition—Roaming Revenue and
Incollect Cost

Roaming revenue and incollect cost information is provided to the
Company primarily through a third party centralized clearinghouse.
From the clearinghouse the Company receives monthly settlement
data. The Company bases its accrual of roaming revenue and
incollect expense on these clearinghouse reports. The Company
follows this method since reasonably dependable estimates of
roaming revenue and incollect cost can be made based on these
reports.

Revenue Recognition—Equipment

Equipment revenue includes sales of wireless and paging equipment
and accessories o customers, network equipment reselting, and
customer activation fees, which are recognized at the time of sale
to the customer.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounis

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for
estimated losses that will result from failure of its customers to pay
amounts owed. The Company bases its estimates on the aging of
accounts receivable balances and its historical write-off experience,
net of recoveries, If the financial condition of the Company’s
customers were to deteriorate, the Company may be required to
maintain higher allowances.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Short-term [nvestments

The Company considers all debt securities with maturities of more
than three months but less than one year as short-term investments
and classifies these investments as held to maturity. Short-term
Investments primarily consist of direct obligations of the U.S.
Treasury, including bitls, notes and bonds or obligations issued or
guaranteed by agencies of the U.S. government and are recorded at
cost. At December 31, 2005, the carrying value of our short-term
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investments was approximately $66.8 million. Based on available
market quotations, the carrying value of the short-term investments
at December 31, 2005, was less than their fair value by
approximately $141,000, which is comprised of gross unrecognized
holding gains. The Company did not have any short-term
investments at December 31, 2004,

Inventories

Inventories consist of cellular telephone equipment, pagers, and
accessories and are 'stated at the lower of cost, determined using
the average cost methad, or market. Market value is determined
using replacement cost.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Additions, improve-
ments, or major renewals are capitalized, while expenditures that do
not enhance or extend the asset’s useful life are charged to
operating expense as incurred.

The components of property and equipment and the useful
lives of the Company’s assets are as follows as of December 31 {in
thousands):

2005 2004 Useful Lives
Land $ 7,214 $ 7,200 N/A
Building and towers 101,110 98,367  15-39 Years
Equipment"” 443,408 350,385  2-7 Years
Phone service
equipment 1,217 2,938 19 Months
Furniture and fixtures® 28,928 29,759 3-7 Years
Assets under
construction 15,449 37,232 N/A
597,324 525,881
Less—accumulated
depreciation (319,916) (249,748)
Property and

equipment—net $ 277,408 $276,133

(1} Includes the cost of cell site radio equipment, switch equipment, billing
hardware and related software.

(2) Includes the cost of furniture, in-house computer hardware/software, and
phone system equipment.

The Company's network construction expenditures are re-
corded as assets under construction until the system or assets are
placed in setvice and ready for their intended use, at which time

the assets are transferred to the approgriate property and
equipment category. During the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004, and 2003, the Company capitalized $3.7 million, $4.2 mil-
lion, and $1.9 million, respectively, in salaries of the Company’s
employees. The Company capitalized interest cost in 2005, 2004,
and 2003 of $1.8 million, $1.9 million, and $204,000, respectively.

The Company depreciates its wireless communications equip-
ment using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives.
RCC periodically reviews changes in itstechnoiogy and industry
conditions, asset retirement activity, and salvage to determine
adjustments to estimated remaining useful lives and depreciation
rates. Total depreciation expense for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004, and 2003 was $81.5 million, $57.4 million, and
$56.2 million, respectively.

Ouring the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company reviewed the
lives of its TDMA assets and reduced the remaining useful life of
this equipment from 21 months to 15 months. As a result, all
TDMA equipment will be fully depreciated by December 31, 2006.
The net book value of this equipment as of December 31, 2005,
was approximately $47.0 million. Reflecting the shortened useful
lives of TDMA equipment, the Company recorded an additional
$2.9 million of depreciation expense during the fourth quarter of
2005.

While the Company will continue o sell and market TDMA
services for the foreseeable future, the amount of future cash flows
to be derived from the TDMA network .assets is highly dependent
upon the rate of transition of existing customers using TDMA
equipment to 2.5G capable equipment; as well as other competitive
and technological factors. The Company determined that a reduction
in the useful lives of these assets was warranted based on its
projected transition of network traffic. The Company will continue to
review the useful lives of the TDMA assets throughout the period of
transition to 2.5G capable equipment to determine whether further
changes are warranted.

Licenses and Other Intangible Assels

Licenses cansist of the value assigned to the Company’s personal
communications services ('PCS") licenses and cellular licenses.
QOther intangibles, resulting primarily from acquisitions, include the
value assigned to customer lists and goodwill. Amortization is
computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated
useful life of the asset. Customer lists are the only intangible asset
with a finite useful life; all others are considered to have indefinite
useful fives.




The components of licenses and other intangible assets are as follows:

As of Year Ended December 31, 2005 As of
December 31, Impairment Amortization December 31,
(in thousands) 2004 Acquisition of Assets Expense 2005
Licenses, net $548,513 58 — $  — $ — $548,513
Goodwill, net 348,682 2 — — 348,684
Customer lists —
Gross Valuation 144,415 — — — 144,415
Accumulated amortization (96,547) — — (18,567) (115,114)
47,868 — — — 29,301
Total $945,063 $ 2 $ — $(18,567) $ 926,498
As of Year Ended December 31, 2004 As of
December 31, Impairment Amortization December 31,
{in thousands) 2003 Acqguisition of Assets Expense 2004
Licenses, net $563,283 $16,582 $(31,352) $ — $548,513
Goodwill, net 360,796 3,670 (15,784) — 348,682
Customer lists —
Gross Valuation 142,616 1,789 — — 144,415
Accumulated amortization (78,041) — — (18,506) (96,547)
64,575 1,799 — (18,506) 47,868
Total $988,654 $22,051 $(47,136) $(18,506) $ 945,063

Customer list amortization expense for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was approximately
$18.6 million, $18.5 million, and $20.0 million, respectively.
Customer list amortization expense is estimated to be approximately
$18.6 million in 2006, $8.2 million in 2007, $2.4 millicn in 2008,
and $86,000 in 2009. The Company does not anticipate customer
list amortization expense in 2010.

The Company reviews goodwill and other indefinite-lived
intangible assets for impairment based on the requirements of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (““SFAS™) No. 142,
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” ("'SFAS No. 142™). In
accordance with this statement, goodwill is tested for impairment at
the reporting unit level on an annual basis as of October 1st or on
an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that
would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying
value. These events or circumstances would include a significant
change in the business climate, legal factors, operating performance
indicators, competition, sale or disposition of a significant portion of
the business or other factors. In analyzing goodwill for potential
impairment, the Company uses projections of future cash flows from
the reporting units. These projections are based on its view of
growth rates, anticipated future economic conditions, the appropriate
discount rates refative 1o risk, and estimates of residual values. The
Company believes that its estimates are consistent with assumptions
that marketptace participants would use in their estimates of fair
value. If changes in growth rates, future economic conditions,
discount rates, or estimates of residual values were to occur,
goodwill may become impaired.

Additionally, impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible
assets, including FCC licenses, are required to be performed on an

annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would indicate the asset might be
impaired. In accordance with EITF No. 02-7 (“EITF 02-7"), Unit of
Accounting for Testing of Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets, impairment tests for FCC licenses are performed on an
aggregate basis for each unit of accounting. The Company utilizes a
fair value approach, incorporating discounted cash flows, to
complete the test. This approach determines the fair value of the
FCC licenses, using start-up model assumptions and, accordingly,
incorporates cash flow assumptions regarding the investment in a
network, the development of distribution channels, and other inputs
for making the business operational, These inputs are included in
determining free cash flows of the unit of accounting, using
assumptions of weighted average costs of capital and the long-term
rate of growth for each unit of accounting. The Company believes
that its estimates are consistent with assumptions that marketplace
participants would use in their estimates of fair value. If any of the
assumptions were to change, the Company's FCC licenses may
become impaired.

Following adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002, the
Company completed a transitional impairment test for both its
goodwill and licenses and determined that there were impairments
of $5.0 miltion and $412.0 million, respectively. The Company used
a fair value approach, using primarily discounted cash flows, to
complete the transitional impairment tests. In accordance with
SFAS No. 142, the impairment charges were recorded as a
cumulative change in accounting principle in its consolidated
financial statements for the first quarter of 2002. Under
SFAS No. 142, we performed annual impairment tests in 2003,
2004, and 2005 for our indefinite lived assets. Based on these
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tests, we recorded a noncash impairment charge of $47.1 million
{included in operating expenses) in the fourth quarter of 2004,
There was no impairment charge in 2003 or 2005 related to our
annual assessment under SFAS No. 142.

Deferred Debt lssuance Costs

Deferred debt issuance costs relate to the credit facility, senior
secured notes, senior notes, senior subordinated notes and certain
preferred stock issuances. These costs are being amortized over the
respective instruments’ terms. If the related debt issuance is
extinguished prior to maturity, the debt issuance costs are
immediately expensed.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 13, and Technical Corrections (“‘SFAS No. 145"), effective
January 1, 2003. Accordingly, the Company's financial statements
have been revised to reflect the reclassification requirements of
SFAS No. 145, requiring it to present losses on extinguishment of
debt within continuing operations. The Company has recorded within
interest expense $1.5 million, $12.6 million, and $6.1 million, of
deferred debt issuance costs related to debt extinguishments in
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

The gross valuation and accumulated amortization of deferred
debt issuance costs are as follows:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004

Gross valuation $ 39,005 $ 40,331

Accumulated amortization (11,983) (10,103)
$ 27,022 $ 30,228

Other Assels

Other assets primarily consist of costs related to spectrum
refocation and restricted investments. Restricted investments repre-
sent the Company’s investments in the stock of CoBank and are
stated at cost, which approximates fair value. The restricted
investments were purchased pursuant to the terms of a loan
agreement and are restricted as fo withdrawal,

The gross valuation and accumulated amortization of other
assets are as follows:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004

Gross valuation $ 8,561 $8,375

Accumulated Amortization (2,423) (2,070)
$ 6,138 $ 6,305

Income Taxes

The income and expenses of all consolidated subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated federal income tax return of Rural
Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries. For financial reporting pur-
poses, any tax benefit or provision generated by a consolidated
subsidiary is accounted for in its separate taxes payable and
deferred income tax accounts, computed as if it had filed separate
federal and state income tax returns.

@

RCC uses the asset and liability approach to account for
income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
and their respective tax basis using enacted tax rates in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates
is recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in
the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Changes in valuation allowances from period fo period are included
in the tax provision in the period of change.

Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net loss
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
year. Potential common shares of 1,863,029, 2,044,037, and
2,084,770, related to the Company’s outstanding stock options,
were excluded from the computation of the diluted EPS for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively,
together with 160,167 shares and 118,667 shares of restricted
stock granted in 2005 and 2004, respectively, as the impact had
an antidilutive effect on earnings per share.

Comprehensive Loss

The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. 130, “Rsporting
Comprehensive Income” ("SFAS No. 130”), which established
standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income and
its components. Comprehensive income (loss) refiects the change in
equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions
and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. For
the Company, comprehensive 10ss represents net losses and the
deferred gains on derivative instruments. In accordance with

SFAS No. 130, the Company has chosen to disclose comprehensive
loss in the accompanying consolidated statement of shareholders’
deficit and comprehensive income (l0ss).

Business and Credit Concentrations

RCC operates in one business segment, the operation of wireless
communication systems in the United States.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003,
roaming revenue from Cingular {on a pro forma basis giving effect
to its 2004 merger with AT&T Wireless) accounted for approximately
11.9%, 9.9%, and 14.5%, respectively, of the Company’s total
revenue.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, consisting primarily of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives,
for recoverability accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” In analyzing
potential impairment, the Company uses projections of future
undiscounted cash flows from the assets. These projections are
based on its view of growth rates for the related business,
anticipated future economic conditions; the appropriate discount




ates relative to risk, and estimates of residual values. The

;ompany believes that its estimates are consistent with assumptions
1at marketplace participants would use in their estimates of fair
alue. If changes in growth rates, future economic conditions,
liscount rates, or estimates of residual values were to occur, long-
ved assets may become impaired.

Reflecting the termination of the Company's agreerment with
smdocs in June 2005, RCC recorded a charge to operations of
7.0 million, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, reflecting the write-
fown of certain development costs previously capitalized.

In October 2003, the Company entered into an agreement
vith AT&T Wireless to exchange certain wireless properties. In
:onnection with this transaction, RCC recorded a non-cash
mpairment charge on assets held for sale, in accordance with
SFAS No. 144, of $42.2 million effective in the third quarter of
2003. This transaction was completed on March 1, 2004,

Derivative Financial Instrumenis

Ihe Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities
in its consolidated balance sheets and measures those instruments
at fair value. The Company uses derivative instruments to manage
interest rate risk. Changes in the fair values of those derivative
instruments are recorded as “‘Other Comprehensive Income” when
iney qualify for hedge accounting and “interest Expense’” when they
do not qualify for hedge accounting.

The Company formally documents all relationships between
hedging instruments and hedged items as well as the risk
management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Company also assesses, both at inception and on
an on-going basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are effective. Should it be determined that a derivative
is not effective as a hedge, the Company would discontinue the
hedge accounting prospectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reported periods. Ultimate results could differ from those
estimates.

Recently lssued Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting for Share-Based Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") issued SFAS No. 123(R), “"Share-Based Payment”
(""SFAS No. 123(R)"), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123 and
supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“*APB™) Opinion No. 25.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires alf share-based payments to employees,
including grants of employee stock options, to be valued at fair
value on the date of grant and to be expensed over the applicable
vesting period.

Commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2006, we will
adopt SFAS No. 123(R), utilizing the modified prospective method
for all share-based awards granted on or after January 1, 20086.
Under the modified prospective, compensation cost must be
recognized for all share-based compensation expense arrangements
granted after the adoption date and all remaining unvested share-
based compensation arrangements granted prior to the adoption
date. Prior periods will not be restated.

We use the Black-Scholes mode! to value our stock option
grants. Compensation expense for the unvested awards will be
measured based on the fair value of the awards previously
calculated in developing the pro forma disclosures in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).

Through December 31, 2005, the Company applied APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and
related interpretations to account for its employee and director stock
options and did not record compensation expense for share-based
payment award transactions because the exercise price is equal to
or greater than the fair value of RCC’s common stock at the date of
grant,

If the Company had included the cost of employee stock
option compensation in our financial statements included herein, its
net loss for both the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
would have increased by approximately $2.9 million and would have
increased by $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

3. Stock Compensation Plans:

The following table summarizes plan activity under the Company’s
various stock compensation plans through December 31, 2005:

Employee
Nonemployee Stock Stock
Directors Compensation  Purchase
Plan Plan Plan”
Available for issuance at
December 31, 2004 174,250 61,844 262,312
Options granted (36,750) {20,000) (88,116)
Restricted stock
awarded — (47,500) —
Options cancelled 26,250 47,315 —
Available for issuance at
December 31, 2005 163,750 41,659 174,196

(1) Employee Stock Purchase Plan options granted of 88,116 shares reflect
contributions made in 2005 with corresponding shares being awarded in
January 2006.

Nonemployee Directors Plan. The stock option plan for nonemployee
directors authorizes the issuance of up to 400,000 shares of

Class A common stock. The stock option plan provides that the
option price shall not be less than the fair market value of the
Class A common stock on the date of grant. The options vest and
become exercisable one year following the date of grant and expire
five years thereafter.

Stock Compensation Plan. The stock compensation plan for employees
authorizes the issuance of up to 2,400,000 shares of Class A
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common stock in the form of restricted stock awards, stock options,
stock appreciation rights, or other stock-based awards. The stock

For the year, transactions in restricted stock were as follows:

) . o ) 2005 2004
compensation plan provides that the exercise price of any option Shares Shares
shall not be less than 85% of the fair market value of the Class A
common stock as of the date of the grant (100% in the case of Restricted Stock Awards, beginning of year 118,667
incentive stock options). Options and other awards granted under Issued 47500 120,66
the stock compensation plan vest and become exercisable as Released to employee 676)
determined by the Board of Directors or a stock option committee. Cancelled (5,324) (2,00

' of year 160,167 118,66

covering the issuance of Class A common stock (“‘Restricted
Stock’). The Restricted Stock will be released to the key employees
after a five-year waiting period if the employees are stili employed
by the Company and the Company achieves certain financial goals,
which management anticipates achieving as of December 31, 2005.
Deferred compensation equivalent to the market value of these
shares as of December 31, 2005 is reflected in shareholders’
equity and is being amortized to operating expense over five years.
Deferred compensation expense included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations amounted to $680,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2005. Shares of Restricted Stock have
full voting rights and are entitled to any dividends paid on the
Class A common stock. The restricted shares were granted to the
recipients at no cost.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under the employee stock purchase
plan, employees who satisfy certain length of service and other
criteria are permitted to purchase shares of Class A common stock
at 85% of the fair market value of the Class A common stock on
the first business day of January or the last business day of
December of each year, whichever is lower. The number of shares
authorized to be issued under the employee stock purchase plan is
750,000. The Company issued 88,116, 71,398, and 166,329,
shares, at an exercise price of $5.32, $5.30, and $0.88,
respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003. Compensation cost is recognized for the fair value of the
shares issued under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was
estimated using the Black-Scholes model with the following
assumptions for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively: an expected
life of one year for all years; expected volatility of 85.94%, 88.54%,
and 94.72%, and risk-free interest rates of 7.25%, 5.25%, and
4.39%.

Stock options outstanding under the Company’s Nonemployee Directors Plan and Stock Compensation Plan as of December 31, 2005
have exercise prices ranging between $0.76 and $79.25. Information related to stock options is as follows:

Einancrals

2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Qutstanding, beginning of period 2,044,037 $14.61 2,084,770 $14.64 1,908,084 $17.40

Granted 56,750 $ 6.30 31,500 $ 762 369,500 1.23

Exercised {169,517) $7.02 (14,760) $ 2.80 (5,120) 3.37

Cancelled (68,241) $13.30 (57,473) $15.17 (187,694) 16.72

Outstanding, end of period 1,863,029 $15.09 2,044,037 $14.61 2,084,770 $14.64

Exercisable, end of period 1,409,119 $17.91 1,392,617 $17.46 1,143,970 $18.92
Weighted average fair value of options

granted $ 518 $ 582 $ 1.09




The following table summarizes certain information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable options:

Weighted Average
Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
xercise Price Range Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$00.00 - $ 9.99 957,515 5 $ 4.00 567,825 $ 485
$10.00 - $19.99 382,325 3 $13.40 382,325 $13.40
$20.00 - $29.99 274,100 5 $27.12 216,460 $27.18
$30.00 - $39.99 153,939 4 $35.00 147,359 $34.88
$40.00 - $49.99 14,500 4 $43.25 14,500 $43.25
$50.00 - $59.99 8,500 4 $56.59 8,500 $56.59
$60.00 - $69.99 36,750 0 $68.25 36,750 $68.25
$70.00 - $79.25 35,400 4 $76.91 35,400 $76.91
$00.00 - $79.25 1,863,029 5 $15.09 1,409,118 $17.91

The Company accounts for stock options under APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”” under which
No compensation expense is recognized, as the exercise price has
been the fair value of RCC’s common stock as of date of grant.
The foliowing schedule shows net loss and net loss per share for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, had
compensation expense been determined consistent with
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure,” and SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation.”

The pro forma information presented is based on several
assumptions and should not be viewed as indicative of future
periods. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the
date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with
the following assumptions used for grants in 2005, 2004, and
2003: expected volatility of 85.94%, 88.54%, and 94.72%,
respectively; risk-free interest rates of 7.25%, 5.25%, and 4.39%,
respectively. The per share weighted average fair value of options
granted in 2005, 2004, and 2003, was $5.18, $5.82, and $1.09,
respectively.

(in thousands, except Years Ended Decernber 31,

for per share data) 2005 2004 2003
Net loss applicable to
common shares:
As reported $(71,298) $(71,856) $ (50,082
Fair value compensation
expense (2,921) (2,909 (4,304)
Pro forma $(74,217) $(74,765) §$ (54,386)
Net loss per basic and
diluted share;
As reported $ (5.62) $ 687 $ (415
Fair value compensation
expense (0.23) 0.24) {0.36)
Pro forma $ (3.85) $ (611) § (451)

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R),
which is a revision of SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be valued
at fair value on the date of grant and to be expensed over the
applicable vesting period. Pro forma disclosure of the income
statement effects of share-based payments is no longer an
alternative.

Commencing with the guarter ending March 31, 20086, the
Company will adopt SFAS No. 123(R) utilizing the modified
prospective method for all share-based awards granted on or after
January 1, 2006. Under the modified prospective method,

SFAS No. 123(R) requires compensation cost to be recognized for
all share-based compensation expense arrangements granted after
the adoption date and all remaining unvested share-based
compensation arrangements granted prior to the adoption date.
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4. Long-term Liabilities:
The Company had the following long-term liabilities outstanding as
of December 31 (in thousands):

2005 2004

Line of Credit $ 55,000 $ —
Senior subordinated floating rate

notes™ 175,000 —
8'/.% senior secured. notes 350,000 350,000
Senior secured floating rate notes 16¢,500 160,000
97/:% senior notes 325,000 325,000
9%4% senior subordinated notes 300,000 300,000
95/2% senior subordinated notes™ — 125,000
11%:% senior exchangeable preferred

stock 148,708 174,176
Accrued dividends on 11%:% senior

exchangeable preferred stock 32,520 34,844
12'/4% junior exchangeable preferred

stock 255,558 247,984
Accrued dividends on 124% junior

exchangeable preferred stock 28,490 —
Deferred tax liability 13,361 13,879
Discount on senior subordinated

floating rate notes (2,132) —
Other 3,289 2,096

Long-term liabilities $1,847,994  $1,733,079

(1) Net proceeds from the Senior Subordinated Floating Rate Notes offering
of $172.8 million were used to redeem the 9%:% Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2008, to pay fees and expenses associated with the offering
and repayment, and for general corporate purposes.

Credit Facility—As of December 31, 2005, the Company has drawn
$58 million under its revolving credit facility at a rate of LIBOR plus
3.0% (7.27% as of December 31, 2005). The credit facility is
subject to various covenants, including the ratio of senior secured
indebtedness to annualized operating cash flow (as defined in the
credit facility}, the ratio of total indebtedness to annualized operating
cash flow, and the ratio of annualized operating cash flow to
interest expense. RCC was in compliance with all financial
covenants at December 31, 2005.

In October 2005, the Company amended its revolving credit
facility in connection with the payment of the dividends on the
senior exchangeable preferred stock as described below under
“—11%% Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock™:

* to exclude those dividends from the calculation of cash interest
expense, which is used in various financial ratio tests in its
revolving credit facility and

« to permit the incurrence of up to $50.0 million of senior
indebtedness that matures on the same date as our senior notes
(out of a total of $200.0 million of additional senior indebtedness
that is permitted).

Subsequent to the issuance of the floating rate subordinated
notes and borrowing under the credit facility, the Company elected
not to pay cash dividends in November 2005 or February 2006 on
its senior exchangeable preferred stock and, accordingly a “Voting
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Rights Triggering Event” currently exists. While a Voting Rights
Triggering Event exists certain terms of the Company’s senior
exchangeable preferred stock, if enforceable, may prohibit incur-
rence of additional indebtedness, including borrowing under the
revolving credit facility,

Offering of Senior Subordinated Floating Rate Notes. On November 7,
2005, the Company completed an offering of $175 million of Senior
Subordinated Fioating Rate Notes dug 2012, which were sold at an
original issue discount of $2.2 million, or 1.25%. The effective
interest rate at December 31, 2005 was 10.30%. Interest is reset
quarterly. With the proceeds of this offering, the Company
redeemed all of its outstanding 9%s% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2008. The total amount for such repurchase was approximately
$133.8 million, including $125.0 million aggregate principal,

$6.8 million accrued interest, and a $2.0 million premium for early
repurchase.

The Company may redeem any of the Senior Subordinated
Floating Rate Notes at any time on or after November 1, 2007, in
whole or in part, at prices starting at 102.000% at November 1,
2007, and declining to 101.000% at November 1, 2008 and
100.000% at November 1, 2009, plus accrued and unpaid interest
and liquidated damages, if any, up to, but excluding, the date of
redemption. In addition, on or before Nevember 1, 2007, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of notes issued under the indenture at a redemption price
of 100% of the principal amount plus a premium equal to the
interest rate per annum on the notes applicable on the date on
which notice of redemption is given, plus accrued and unpaid
interest and liquidated damages, if any, up to, but excluding, the
date of redemption, with the proceeds of certain equity offerings.
The Company may make that redemption only if, after that
redemption, at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of
notes issued under the indenture remain outstanding.

Senior Secured Notes—In March 2004, the Company issued

$350 million aggregate principal amount of 8% senior secured
notes due March 15, 2012 (2012 notes") and $160 million
aggregate principal amount of senior secured floating rate notes due
March 15, 2010 (2010 notes”). The effective interest rate on the
2010 notes was 9.0% and 7.00% at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004, respectively. Interest on the 2010 notes is
reset quarterly and payable on March 15, June 15, September 15,
and December 15 of each vyear. Interest on the 2012 notes is
payable on March 15 and September 15 of each year.

After March 15, 2006, the Company may redeem the 2010
notes, in whole or in part, at prices starting at 102.000% of the
principal amount at March 15, 2008, and declining to 101.000% at
March 15, 2007 and to 100.000% at March 15, 2008, plus
accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the date fixed for
redemption. At any time, which may be more than once, before
March 15, 2006, the Company can choose to redeem up to 35%
of the 2010 notes with money that it raises in certain equity
offerings for 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2010
notes redeemed plus a premium equal to the interest rate per
annum on the 2010 notes applicable on the date on which notice




of redemption is given, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the date of redemption. ,

After March 15, 2008, the Company may redeem the 2012
notes, in whole or in part, at prices starting at 104.125% of the
principal amount at March 15, 2008, and declining to 102.063% at
March 15, 2009 and 100.000% at March 15, 2010, plus accrued
and unpaid interest to but excluding the date fixed for redemption.
At any time, which may be more than once, before March 15,
2007, the Company can choose to redeem up to 35% of the 2012
notes with money that its raises in certain equity offerings, as long
as it pays 108.250% of the aggregate principal amourit of the
2012 notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the date of redemption.

9% Senior Notes—In 2003, RCC issued $325 million principal
amount of 97s% senior notes due 2010. Interest is payable on
February 1 and August 1 of each year. The notes will mature on
February 1, 2010. After August 1, 2007, at its option, the Company

may redeem the 9% notes at prices starting at 104.938% of the

principal amount at August 1, 2007, declining to 102.469% at
August 1, 2008 and 100% at August 1, 2009, plus accrued and
unpaid interest to but excluding the date fixed for redemption. Prior
to August 1, 2006, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the
outstanding principal amount of the 8%:% notes at 109.875% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to but
excluding the date fixed for redemption with the net cash proceeds
of certain equity offerings.

9% Senior Subordinated Notes—In 2002, the Company issued

$300 million principal amount of 9%4% senior subordinated notes
due 2010. Interest on the 9%% senior subordinated notes is
payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15. The 9%:% senior
subordinated notes will mature on January 15, 2010. After
January 15, 2008, at its option, the Company may recdeem the
9%:% notes at prices starting at 104.875% of the principal amount
at January 15, 2006, declining to 103.250%, 101.625%, and
100.000% at January 15, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the date fixed for
redemption.

11%% Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock—Due May 15, 2010.
Dividends on the senior exchangeable preferred stock are cumula-
tive, are payable quarterly, and were payable, until May 15, 2003,
at the Company’s option either in cash or by the issuance of
additional shares of senior exchangeable preferred stock having an
aggregate liquidation preference equal to the amount of such
dividends. The Company did not declare or pay the cash dividends
due between August 2003 and August 2005,

Because the Company had failed to pay at least six quarterly
dividends on its senior exchangeable preferred stock, a “'Voting
Rights Triggering Event” occurred and the holders of senior
exchangeable preferred stock had the right to elect two directors to
the Company’s board, which they exercised at the Company's
annual meeting on May 24, 2005.

In October 2005, the Company paid four quarterly dividends
on its outstanding senior exchangeable preferred stock. These
dividends represented the quarterly dividends payable on Novem-

ber 15, 2004, February 14, 2005, May 15, 2005 and August 15,
2005, and totaled $118.69 per share, including accrued intersst,
The aggregate total dividends of approximately $17.8 million
reduced the number of unpaid quarterly dividends to five, which
remedied the then existing “'Voting Rights Triggering Event” and
removed any uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability o incur
indebtedness, including under the revolving credit facility.

Subsequent to the Company’s draw against its credit facility
and its issuance of $175 million in senior subordinated floating rate
notes, the Company chose not to declare a cash dividend due in
November 2005 and February 2006. Accordingly, a "Voting Rights
Triggering Event” again exists. The Company does not anticipate
paying additional cash dividends on the senior exchangeable
preferred stock in the foreseeable future.

The Company has accrued the undeclared dividends by
increasing the carrying amount of the senior exchangeable preferred
stock. At December 31, 2005, RCC had accrued $32.5 million in
undeclared dividends with respect to the Company’s senior
exchangeable preferred stock, which will be payable at the preferred
mandatory redemption date, if not sooner declared and paid.

The Company may redeem the senior exchangeable preferred
stock, in whole or in part, at any time at a redemption price equal
to 102.844% of the liquidation preference at May 15, 2005,
declining to 101.422% at May 15, 2006 and 100.000% at
May 15, 2007, plus accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, to
but excluding the redemption date.

Gain on repurchase of Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock.
During the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the
Company repurchased 14,932 and 80,500 shares of senior
exchangeable preferred stock for $13.4 million and $68.4 million,
respectively. The corresponding $5.5 million and $22.6 million
gains, not including transaction commissions and other refated fees,
were recorded as a reduction of interest expense within the
consolidated statement of operations.

Gain on exchange of Senjor Exchangeable Preferred Stock for
Class A Common Stock. During the year ended December 31,
2005, the Company exchanged an aggregate of 10,535 shares of
our senior exchangeable preferred stock for an aggregate of
1,152,745 shares of Class A common stock in negotiated
transactions, resulting in a gain of $168,241. The shares were
issued in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided in
Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

12':% Junior Exchangeable Preferred Stock—Due February 15, 2011.
Dividends on the junior exchangeable preferred stock are cumula-
tive, are payable guarterly, and are to be paid on any dividend
payment date occurring after February 15, 2005 in cash. The
Company has not declared or paid the cash dividends due since
May 2005.

The Company may redeem the junior exchangeable preferred
stock, in whole or in part, at any time, at a redemption price equal
to 104.594% of the liquidation preference at February 15, 2006,
declining to 103.063% at February 15, 2007, 101.531% at
February 15, 2008, and 100.000% at February 15, 2009, plus
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, to but excluding the

redemption date.
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The shares of the senior and junior exchangeable preferred
stock are non-voting, except as otherwise required by law and as
provided in their respective Certificates of Designation. Each
Certificate of Designation provides that at any time dividends on the
outstanding exchangeable preferred stock are in arrears and unpaid
for six or more quarterly dividend periods (whether or not
consecutive), the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
the affected exchangeable preferred stock, voting as a class, will be
entitled to elect the lesser of two directors or that number of
directors constituting 25% of the members of the Company’s Board
of Directors. The voting rights continue until such time as all
dividends in arrears on the affected class of exchangeable preferred
stock are paid in full (and, in the case of the senior exchangeable
preferred stock after May 15, 2003, or in the case of the junior
exchangeable preferred stock after February 15, 2005, are paid in
cash), at which time the terms of any directors elected pursuant to
stich voting rights will terminate. Voting rights may also be triggered
by other events described in the Cerificates of Designation.

Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteris-
tics of Both Liabilities and Equity. The Company's 11%:% Senior
Exchangeable and 12¥4% Junior Exchangeable Preferred securities,
as a result of adopting SFAS No. 150 effective July 1, 2003, have
been reclassified into lLong-Term Liabilities, because the securities
are exchangeable at the Company’s option for debentures of like
terms. The dividend expense related to these instruments, which
was previously reported as a component of Preferred Stock Dividend
in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, is now
classified as interest expense. For the year ended December 31,
2005 and 2004, dividends on these instruments were $54.8 million
and $55.4 million, respectively.

Accrued dividends payable for the junior exchangeable
preferred securities of $28.5 million and for the senior exchangea-
ble preferred securities of $32.5 million as of December 31, 2005
are included in long-term liabilities. In addition, $7.1 million of
unamortized stock issuance costs related to these instruments was
reclassified as ““Deferred debt issuance costs” upon adoption.

SFAS No. 150 does not permit reclassification of prior year amounts
to conform to the current year presentation. Based on

SFAS No. 150 guidelines, the Company’s Class M Preferred Stock
does not meet the characteristics of a liability and will continue to
be presented between liability and equity on the Company’s balance
sheet.

Current portion of long-term debt—There was no current portion of the
Company’s long-term debt as of December 31, 2005 as compared
to $81,000 as of December 31, 2004.

5. Financial Instruments:

The Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities
in its consolidated balance sheets and measures those instruments
at fair value. The Company uses derivative instruments to manage
interest rate risk. Changes in the fair values of those derivative
instruments are recorded as “‘Other Comiprehensive Income™ when
they qualify for hedge accounting and “‘Interest Expense” when they
do not qualify for hedge accounting. At December 31, 2005, the
Company has no derivatives that are designated as a hedge.

The Company formally documents all relationships between
hedging instruments and hedged items as well as the risk
management objectives and strategies fdr undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Company also assesses, both at inception and on
an on-going basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are effective. Should it be determined that a derivative
is not effective as a hedge, the Company would discontinue the
hedge accounting prospectively.

In connection with the issuance of $175 million of senior
subordinated floating rate notes in November 2005, the Company
entered into a collar to manage interest rates. This collar effectively
fimits interest from exceeding 5.87% and from being less than
4.25% on a $175 million notional amount, through its termination
date of November 1, 2008. This collar is recorded on the
Company's balance sheet at fair market value, with related changes
in fair market value included in the statement of operations, within
interest expense, and not accounted for as a hedge under
SFAS No. 133,

In connection with the repayment df the Company’s former
credit facility in March 2004, the Company terminated its two
remaining interest rate swaps, which had an aggregate notional
amount of $284.0 million, for aggregate cash consideration of
$7.6 miflion. Amounts previously recognized as unrealized losses in
other comprehensive income, when hedge accounting was applied,
were charged to interest expense in the first quarter of 2004.




The notional and estimated fair market values and carrying amounts of RCC’s financial instruments are set forth in the table below. Fair

narket values are based on quoted market prices, if available.

December 31,

/
‘ Estimated Fair Market Value
December 31, December 31,

Carrying Value
December 31,

Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2004
Financial liabilities
Credit facility $ 58,000 $ — § 57,130 $ —
8".% senior secured notes 350,000 350,000 370,128 370,125
Senior secured floating rate notes 160,000 160,000 164,400 165,600
97/s% senior notes 323,000 325,000 342,873 330,688
9% senior subordinated notes — 125,000 —_ 118,750
9%.% senior subordinated notes 300,000 300,000 303,000 271,500
Senior subordinated floating rate notes 172,368 — 176,313 —
11%:% senior exchangeable preferred stock 148,708 174,176 138,495 140,212
12'.% junior exchangeahle preferred stock 255,558 247,984 223,235 131,432
Class M convertible preferred stock™ 173,403 160,198 173,403 160,198
Class T convertible preferred stock™ —_ 8,973 - 8,973
1,943,537 1,851,331 1,848,978 1,697,478
Derivative financial instrument
Interest rate collar agreement
Morgan Stanley (terminates November 1, 2008) 339 — 339 —
Other
Accrued 11%:% senior exchangeable preferred stock
dividends 32,520 34,844 32,520 34,844
Accrued 12'4% junior exchangeable preferred stock
dividends 28,490 — 28,490 —
Other long-term liabilities 2,950 2,096 2,350 2,096
Total financial liabilities $2,007,836 $1,888,271 $2,013,275 $1,734,418

(1) These financial instruments are not actively traded and, therefore, the estimated fair market value is stated at the carrying value.

8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:

in Agril 2000, the Company issued 110,000 shares of Class M
Voting Convertible Preferred stock. The security has a liguidation
preference of $1,000 per share and is to be redeemed on April 3,
2012,

Class M Voting Convertible Preferred security balance sheet
reconciliation (in thousands):

As of
December 31,
2005

Preferred securities originally issued
Accrued dividends
Unamortized issuance costs

$110,000
63,403
(2,427)

$170,976

Dividends on the Class M convertible preferred stock are
compounded quarterly, accrug at 8% per annum, and are payable
upon redemption of the stock or upon liquidation of RCC. The
Class M convertible preferred stock was originally convertible into
the Company's Class A common stock at $53.00 per share, and
subsequently adjusted to $50.43 per share in 2005. Dividends are
not payable if the shares are converted. The holders of the Class M

convertible preferred stock are entitled to vote on all matters
submitted to the holders of the common stock on an as-converted
pasis. The Class M convertible preferred stock is senior to the
Company's common stock with respect to dividend rights and rights
on liquidation, winding-up and dissolution of RCC.

The Class M convertible preferred stock, is redeemable at
100% of its total liquidation preference plus accumulated and
unpaid dividends at April 3, 2012,

In order to comply with the FCC rules regarding cross-
ownership of cellular licensees within a given market, the Company
issued 7,541 shares of Class T convertible preferred stock with a
liquidation preference of $1,000 per share to affiliates of
Telephone & Data Systems, Inc. (‘TDS”) on March 31, 2000 in
exchange for 43,000 shares of Class A common stock and
105,940 shares of Class B common stock owned by these
affiliates.

TDS or RCC could convert the convertible preferred stock into
the original number of shares of Class A or Class B common stock
at any time that ownership by TDS of the common stock would
then be permissible under FCC rules. Accordingly, on October 27,
2005, RCC converted all of the outstanding shares of Class T
convertible preferred stock into the 43,000 shares of Class A and
105,940 shares of Class B common stock at a conversion price of
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$50.63 per share. Dividends were not payable because the shares
were converted into equity. This conversion resulted in a gain of
approximately $6.7 million, which reduced preferred stock dividends
in the fourth quarter of 2005.

7. Shareholders’ Deficit:

Authorized Shares

The Company has 300,000,000 shares of authorized capital stock
consisting of 200,000,000 shares of Class A common stock,
10,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and 90,000,000
undesignated shares.

Common Stock Rights

Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each
share owned while holders of Class B common stock are entitled to
ten votes for each share owned. Each share of Class B common
stock may at any time be converted into one share of Class A
common stock at the option of the holder. All issued Class B
common shares may also be converted into an equivalent number
of Class A common shares upon the affirmative vote of not less
than 66%:% of the then outstanding Class B common shares.
Further, Class B common shares are automatically converted to an
equal number of Class A common shares if they are transferred to
anyone who is not an affiliate of the transferring shareholder.

RCC has shareholder rights plans for its Class A common
stock and Class B common stock. The rights plans give each holder
of Class A common stock the right to purchase "ieoth of a newly
authorized preferred share that is essentially equivalent to one share
of Class A common stock and each holder of Class B common
stock the right to purchase Vieoth of a newly authorized preferred
share, essentially equivalent to one share of Class B common stock.
The exercise price for both the Class A rights and the Class B
rights is $120 per right.

The rights become exercisable by existing sharehclders only
following the acquisition by a buyer, without prior approval of the
Company's board of directors, of 15% or more of the outstanding
Common Stock, Class A and Class B, or following the announce-
ment of a tender offer for 15% of the outstanding Common Stock.
If a person acquires 15% or more of the Company's Common
Stock, each right (except those held by the acquiring person) will
entitle the holder to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A or
Class B common stock, as appropriate, having a market value of
twice the right's exercise price, or, in effect, at a 50% discount
from the then current market value. If the Company were acquired
in a merger or similar transaction after a person acquires 15% of
the Company’s outstanding Common Stock, without prior approval
of the board of directors, each right would entitle the holder (other
than the acquirer) to purchase shares of the acquiring company
having a market value of twice the exercise price of the right, or, in
effect, at a discount of 50%. Until the acquisition by any person of
15% or more of the Company’s Common Stock, the rights can be
redeemed by the board of directors for $.001 per right.

8. Income Taxes:

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company
recorded a benefit for income taxes related to the amortization of
intangibles. The Company incurred losses for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and recorded no provision for income taxes.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal
statutory rate to income tax benefit recorded in the consolidated
financial statements was as follows:

Years Ended December 31, |

2005 2004 2003
Tax at statutory rate (35.0)% (35.0% (350
State taxes (3.0) (3.0) (3.0)
Nondeductible item—amortization (0.8) (2.8) 2.0
Adjustment for valuation allowance 38.0 38.0 36.0
0.6)%  (2.8)% 0.0

The components of the Company’s current year income tax
benefit consist of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Current
Federal $§ — $ — —
State —_ — —_
Deferred
Federal (385) (1,540 —
State (33) (132) —
(418) (1,672 —
Total $(418) $(1,672) $0

The income tax effect of the items that create deferred
income tax assets and liabilities is as follows (in thousands):

As of
December 31,
2005 2004
Deferred income tax assets:
Operating loss carryforwards $ 167,191 $ 159,954
Temporary differences:
Allowance for doubtful
accounts 1,358 925
Intangible assets —_— 27,654
Other 2,885 2,440
Valuation aliowance (160,313) (178,819)
Total deferred income tax
assets 10,921 12,154
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Depreciation {21,191) (24,950)
Intangible assets (2,188) —
Other {1,213) (1,183)
Net deferred income tax
liahility $ (13,561) $ (13,979




As of December 31, 2005, the Company had tax operating
foss carryforwards of approximately $439 million available to offset
future income tax liabilities. These carryforwards expire in the years
2007 through 2025. iInternal Revenue Code Section 382 fimits the
availability and timing of the use of net operating loss carryforwards
in the event of certain changes in the ownership of the Company’s
common stock.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, manage-
ment considers whether it is more fikely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Management has consid-
ered the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, the limitations
under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 following a change in
ownership and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.
Based upon the assessment, management has established a
valuation allowance for net deferred income tax assets currently not
expected to be realized.

9. Commitments and Contingencies:

Employment Agreements

The Company has employment agreements with certain executive
officers with terms of three years. These agreements provide for
payment of amounts up to 2.99 times their average annual
compensation for the three preceding fiscal years if there is a
termination of their employment as a result of a change in control
of the Company, as defined in the agreements. The maximum
contingent liability under these agreements was $9.9 miilion at
December 31, 2005.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered inte various arrangements with its
shareholders or their affiliates. Arrangements involving shareholders
or their affiliates that beneficially own more than 5% of any class of
the Company’s stock and in which total payments or receipts for
these arrangements exceeded $60,000 are described below.

Agreements with Affiliates, The Company has arrangements with
several of its shareholders for celf site feases, interconnection
service agreements and agent sales agreements. During 2005,
2004, and 2003, the Company paid $1,504,401, $1,259,834, and
$1,328,618, respectively, to related parties for these services net of
amounts received from these shareholders for similar ssrvices
provided by the Company. In addition, several of the Company’s
shareholders are customers for its cellular and paging services and,
in connection therewith, also purchase or lease cellular telephones
from the Company. During 2005, 2004, and 2003, the Company
received $249,387, $310,485, and $296,445, respectively, from
related parties for these services.

Roaming Arrangements, The Company has roaming agresments with
United States Cellular Corporation, a subsidiary of Telephone & Data
Systems, Inc. Affiliates of Telephone & Data Systems, Inc.
beneficially own, in the aggregate, more than 5% of the Company's
Class A and Class B Common Stock. Under the roaming

agreements, the Company pays for service provided to its
customers in areas served hy United States Cellular Corporation and
receives payment for service provided to customers of United States
Cellular Corporation in the Company's cefiular service areas. RCC
negotiated the rates of reimbursement with United States Cellular
Corporation, and the rates reflect those charged by all carriers.
During 2005, 2004, and 2003, charges to the Company for
services provided by United States Ceflular Carporation totaled
$1,933,176, $2,555,248, and $1,923,274, and charges by the
Company to United States Cellular Corporation totaled $3,358,774,
$4,123,699, and $5,530,672, respectively.

Legal and Regulatory Matters

The Company is involved from time to time in routine legal matters
and other claims incidental to the Company's business. RCC
believes that the resolution of such routine matters and other
incidental claims, taking into account established reserves and
insurance, will not have a material adverse impact on its
consolidated financial position or resuits of operations.

Regulatory Matters. In the normal course of business, the Company is
subject to various regulatory requirements associated with its
networks. The Company currently does not meet all of the
requirements imposed by regulatory agencies. In some cases, the
Company has received a waiver from such requirements or is in the
process of applying for a waiver, However, management does not
believe such non-compliance will have a material adverse effect on
the Company, although the ultimate outcome of these matters
camnot be determined based on available information.

Leases

The Company leases office space, cellular towers (including land
leases on which the Company's owned towers reside), and real
estate under noncancelable operating leases. These leases typically
include renewal options and escalation clauses. Future minimum
payments under these leases as of December 31, 2005 are as
follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2006 $17,140
2007 15,085
2008 12,746
2009 10,242
2010 5172
Thereafter 4,551

Total $64,916

Under the terms of the lease agreements, the Company also
is responsible for certain operating expenses and taxes. Total rent
expense of $17.7 million, $13.6 million, and $10.6 million, was
charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004, and 2003, respectively.

For the Company’s leases, rent expense is recognized in
accordance with FASB Technical Bulletin 85-3 (Accounting for
Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent Increases) using the straight-
line method over the term of the leases.

®

N

TOXUEN)

=

=l

’




AL

1als

e

Einancia

N

The Company adopted SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations (““SFAS No. 143"), effective January 1,
2003. Pursuant to SFAS No. 143, the Company records the fair
value of a legal liability for contractual obfigations related to costs
associated with removing equipment from cell sites that reside on
leased property. This liability is reviewed and adjusted quarterly and
is recorded in other fong-term liabilities. The asset retirement
obligation (“ARO"Y) liability totaled $1,098,610 and $984,924 at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. There were no
material additions, deletions or changes to the ARO liability during
2005, other than mormal accretion expense.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has made commitments 10 its roaming pariners and
to equipment vendors to further expand its 2.5G networks in 20086.
In 2003, the Company entered into a five-year $56.6 million
purchase commitment with a vendor to install 2.5G network
equipment. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had incurred
$49.4 mitlion in equipment purchases under this commitment.

Qrf-Balance Sheet Financings and Liabilities

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet financing
arrangements or liabilities. The Company does not have any
majority-owned subsidiaries or any interests in, or relationships with,
any material special-purpose entities that are not included in the
consolidated financial statements.

10. Defined Gontribution Plan:

The Company has a defined contribution savings and profit-sharing
plan for employees who meet certain age and service requirements.
Under the savings portion of the plan, employses may elect to
contribute a percentage of their salaries to the plan, with the
Company contributing a matching percentage of the employees’
contributions. Under the profit-sharing portion of the plan, the
Company contributes a percentage of employees’ salaries. Contribu-
tions charged to operations for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004, and 2003, were approximately $732,000, $781,000,
and $599,000, respectively. The percentages the Company matches
under the savings portion of the plan and contributes under the
profit-sharing portion of the plan are determined annually by the
Company's Board of Directors.

11. Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

‘Years ended December 31,

{in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Cash paid for:
interest, net of amounts
capitalized”
Noncash financing
transactions:
Class M and T preferred
stock dividends
Conversion of Class T
preferred stock into
common stack
Reversal of Class T
preferred stock
accrued dividends
Exchange of Senior
Exchangeable
Preferred Stock for
Class A Common
Stock

$132,266  $101,405  $86,801

$ 13885 §$ 12915 $38877
$ 7,540

$ 1,681

$ 13,435

(1) Includes four Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock quarterly dividends
totaling approximately $17.8 million paid in cash.

12. Quarterly Results of Operations
(Unaudited):

The Company experiences seasonal fluctuations in revenue and
operating income. RCC's average monthly roaming revenue per
cellular customer increases during the second and third calendar
quarters. This increase reflects greater usage by its roaming
customers who travel in the Company’s cellular service area for
weekend and vacation recreation or work in seasonal industries.
Because RCC’s cellular service area includes many seasonal
recreational areas, it expects that roaming revenue wilt continue to
fluctuate seasonally more than service revenue.

Certain unaudited quarterly resuits for 2005 and 2004 are set
forth below (in thousands, except per share data):

2005 Quarter Ended 2004 Quarter Ended
Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec

Revenue:
Service $ 94695 $ 98865 $ 98287 $ 96001 | 88585 $ 94979 § 97,093 § 96,562
Roaming 19,622 25,112 41,785 36,255 25,740 26,266 29,739 23,759
Equipment 9,054 9,420 8,220 7,619 5,523 5,338 5,589 5,644

Total Revenue 123,371 133,397 148,292 139,875 | $119,848 $126,583 $132421 $125,965
Operating income {loss) 23,814 21,033 35,931 25,168 | $ 38,831 $ 38,291 $ 40,156 $(15,565)
Income (loss) before income tax

benefit (18,574)  (16,269) (7,721)  (21976)| $(15348) § 6,597 § 5437 $(57,299
Net income (loss) applicable to

common shares $(21,804) $(19597) $(11,151) $(18,744) | $(18482) $ 3403 $ 2184 $(58961)
Net income (loss) per lbasic share $ 7 % (159 $ 089 $ (138]$ (51 $ 028 $ 018 § (481)
Net income (loss) per diluted share  $ (1.77) $ (159 $ (8% $ (138|$ (b5 $ 027 $ 017 $ (4.81)




13. Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Condensed
Consolidating Financial Information

RCC's obligations under the Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due
2010 and 8 1/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 are senior
secured obligations and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on
a senior, secured, second-priority basis by certain of its subsidiar-
ies. Wireless Alliance, LLC is not a guarantor of the notes.

The Company accounts for its investment in subsidiaries using
the equity method for purposes of the supplemental consolidating
presentation. The principal eliminating entries eliminate investments
in subsidiaries and inter-company balances and transactions.

The financial accounting records of RGI Group, Inc. ("RGI"}, a
guarantor subsidiary, are not maintained on a stand-alone basis
and, accordingly, are included in the parent company financial
presentation. RGI's assets were approximately $7 million as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004.

The following consolidating financial information as of the
dates and for the periods indicated of Rural Cellular Corporation (the
Parent), its guarantor subsidiaries, and its non-guarantor subsidiar-
jes reflects all inter-company revenue and expense.




Balance Sheet Information as of December 31, 2005
(in thousands, except per share data):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 84,136 $ 28639 $ 47 $ — $ 86,822
Short-term investments 66,778 — — — 66,778
Accounts receivable, tess allowance for :
doubtful accounts 25,166 45,486 2,235 — 72,887
Inventories 3,721 8,945 183 — 12,849
Other current assets 1,590 2,606 84 — 4,280
Current intercompany receivable 40,778 11,460 — (52,238) —
Total current assets 222,169 71,136 2,549 (52,238) 243,616
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 53,423 214,960 9,025 — 277,408
LICENSES AND OTHER ASSETS:
Licenses, net — 539,834 8,679 — 548,513
Goodwill, net 3,151 345,533 — — 348,684
Customer lists, net 956 28,345 — — 29,301
Deferred debt issuance costs, net 27,022 — — 27,022
Investment in consolidated subsidiaries 1,145,748 — — (1,145 748) —
Other assets, net 3,569 5,624 2,218 (5,273) 6,138
Total licenses and other assets 1,180,446 919,336 10,897 1,151,021} 959,658
$1,456,038 $1,205,432 $ 22,471 $(1,203,259) $1,480,682
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 26,894 $ 25989 $ 609 $ — $ 53,492
Advance billings and customer deposits 2,395 9,239 251 — 11,885
Accrued interest 39,336 — — 39,336
Other accrued expenses 34,936 49,676 39 (75, 670) 8,981
Current intercompany payable — 105,672 (4,435) (101,237) —
Total current liabilities 103,561 190,576 (3,536) (176,907) 113,694
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 1,833,483 1,037,347 41,027 (1,063,863) 1,847,994
Total liabilities 1,937,044 1,227,923 37,491 (1,240,770) 1,961,688
REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK 170,976 — — — 170,976
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Class A common stock; $.01 par value,
200,000 shares authorized, 13,530
outstanding 135 918 — 918) 135
Class B comman stock; $.01 par value;
10,000 shares authorized, 427
outstanding 4 — — — 4
Additional paid-in capital 212,420 760,152 31,679 (791,831) 212,420
Accumulated earnings (deficit) (862,742) (783,561) (46,699) 830,260 (862,742)
Unearned compensation {1,799 — —_ — {1,799
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) {651,982) (22,491) (15,020) 37,511 (651,982
$1,456,038 $1,205,432 $22,471 $(1,203,259) $1,480,682




Statement of Operations Information for the year ended December 31, 2005

(in thousands):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
REVENUE:
Service $ 95,620 $ 285,681 $ 7,555 $ (1,008 $ 387,848
Roaming 25,061 88,877 8,839 3 122,774
Equipment 6,733 26914 666 — 34,313
Total revenue 127,414 401,472 17,060 (1,017) 544,935
OPERATING EXPENSES: ‘
Network costs, excluding depreciation 23,270 94,688 3,117 (753) 120,322
Cost of equipment sales 11,744 45,472 1,050 — 58,266
Selling, general and administrative 39,021 108,517 4,958 (258) 152,238
Stock based compensation—SG&A 680 _ — — 680 K
Depreciation and amortization 18,128 78,779 3,556 — 100,463
Impairment of assets 7,020 — — —_ 7,020
Total operating expenses 99,863 327,456 12,681 {1,011) 438,989
OPERATING INCOME 27,551 74,016 4,379 — 105,946
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense (171,745) (105,133) (2,890) 108,037 (171,831
Interest and dividend income 110,222 34 2 {108,037 2,221
Inter-company charges 10,140 (10,140) -~ — —
Equity in subsidiaries (39,134) — — 39,126 {8
Other 18 (884 2 — (868)
Other expense, net (90,499) (116,123) (2,990) 39,126 (170,486) \v
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (62,948 42,107) 1,389 39,126 (64,540)
INCOME TAX PROVISION (BENEFIT) 1,174 (1,649) — 57 (418) /
NET INCOME (LOSS) (64,122) (40,458) 1,389 39,069 (64,122)
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDEND (7,174) — — —_ (7,174) o
NET INCOME (LOSS) APPLICABLE TO COMMON ‘ fﬁ‘
SHARES $ (71,296) $ (40,458) $ 1,389 $ 39,069 $ (71,296) 3
i\
\\




Statement of Cash Flows Information for the year ended December 31, 2005
(in thousands):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss) $ 64,122)  $(40,458) $1,389 $ 39,069 $ (64,122
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and customer list amortization 18,128 78,779 3,556 — 100,463
Loss on write-off of debt and preferred stock issuance
Costs 1,533 — — — 1,533
Mark-to-market adjustments—financial instruments 339 — — — 339
Gain on repurchase of preferred stock (6,722) — — — (5,722)
Non-cash preferred stock dividends 3,797 — — — 3,797
A Impairment of assets 7,020 - — — 7,020
oo Stock-based compensation 680 — — — 680
Deferred income taxes 1,174 {1,649) — 57 (418)
Other 5,627 1,196 2 — 6,825
Change in other operating elements:
Accounts receivable (9,175) (5,241) 154 — (14,262
Inventories (1,817 (3,510) 136 — {5,191}
Other current assets 78 (180) 3 — (105)
Accounts payable 5,086 1,952 (281) — 6,757
- Advance billings and customer deposits 248 620 (39) — 809
Accrued preferred stock dividends 33,211 — — — 33,211
Accrued interest 2,021 — — — 2,021
Other accrued expenses {681) (14) 3 — (698)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
N activities (2575) 31,495 4,891 39,126 72,937
~ INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (18,920) (75,604) (427) — (94,951)
Purchases of short-term investments (66,778) — — — (66,778)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 34 213 — — 247
Other (103) — — — (103)
Net cash used in investing activities (85,767) {75,391) @427 — (161,585)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Change in parent company receivable and payable (1,721) 45,282 (4,435) (39,126} —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to
employee stoek purchase plan and stock options 1,570 — — — 1,570
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt under the credit
' : facility 58,000 — — — 58,000
Proceeds from issuance of senior subordinated floating
rate notes 172,816 — — — 172,816
. Redemption of 9%:% senior subordinated notes (125,000 — — — (125,000
i Repurchases of preferred stock (13,355) — — — {13,355)
h Payments of debt issuance costs (3,798) — — : — {3,798)
3‘ Other {(102) — — — (102)
Net cash {used in) provided by financing
g activities 88,410 45282 {4,435) (39,126) 90,131
u NET INCREASE IN CASH 68 1,386 29 — 1,483
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at beginning of year 84,068 1,253 18 — 85,339
j CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at end of year $ 84136 $ 2,639 $ 47 — $ 86,822

68)]




Balance Sheet Information as of December 31, 2004
(in thousands, except per share data):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
CURRENT ASSETS;
Cash and cash equivalents $ 84,068 $ 1,253 $ 18 $ — $ 85339
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
doubtful accounts 17,047 43252 2,250 — 62,549
Inventories 1,905 5,435 318 — 7,608
Other current assets 1,669 2,425 81 — 4175
Total current assets 104,689 52,365 2,667 — 159,721
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 61,016 203,148 11,969 — 276,133
LICENSES AND OTHER ASSETS:
Licenses, net — 539,834 8,679 — 548,513
Goodwill, net 3,149 345,533 — — 348,682
Customer lists, net 1,268 46,600 — — 47,868
Deferred debt issuance costs, net 30,228 — — 30,228
Investment in consolidated subsidiaries 1,184,801 — — (1,184 801) —
Other assets, net 3,463 10,245 2,518 (9,911) 6,305
Total licenses and other assets 1,222,899 942,212 11,197 (1,194,712 981,596
$1,388,604 $1,197,725 $ 25,833 $(1,194,712) $1,417,450
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 22609 $ 28991 $ 865 $ — $ 52465
Current portion of long-term debt 81 — — — 81
Advance billings and customer deposits 2,147 8,619 310 — 11,076
Accrued interest 41,112 — — 41,112
Other accrued expenses 34,442 49,248 42 (74, 053) 9,679
Total current liabilities 100,391 86,858 1,217 (74,053) 114,413
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 1,718,255 1,852,703 41,025 {1,878,904) 1,733,079
Total liabilities 1,818,646 1,939,561 42,242 (1,852,957) 1,847 492
REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK 166,296 — — — 166,296
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Class A common stock: $.01 par value;
200,000 shares authorized, 11,836
outstanding 118 918 — (918) 118
Class B common stock; $.01 par value;
10,000 shares authorized, 540
outstanding 5 — — — 5
Additional paid-in capital 193,347 349 31,679 (32,028) 193,347
Accumulated earnings (deficit) (791,4486) (743,103) (48,088) 791,191 (791,446)
Unearned compensation {698) — — — {698)
Accumulated other comprehensive incoms 2,336 — — — 2,336
Total shareholders' equity (deficit) (596,338 (741,836) {16,409) 758,245 (596,338)
$1,388,604 $1,197,725 $ 25,833 $(1,194,712) $1,417,450
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Statement of Operations [Information for the year ended December 37, 2004

(in thousands):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
REVENUE:
Service $ 86,138 $ 282,453 $8,044 $ (316 $377,219
Roaming 15,555 82,727 7,230 {8 105,504
Equipment 5,667 15,652 775 — 22,094
Total revenue 107,360 380,832 16,949 (324) 504,817
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Network costs, excluding depreciation 18,298 82,602 3,435 (264) 104,071
Cost of equipment sales 8,671 30,627 1,074 — 40,372
Selling, general and administrative 33,657 96,341 5,232 (60) 135,170
Depreciation and amortization 15,630 57,188 3,537 — 76,355
Impairment of assets — 47,136 — — 47,136
Total operating expenses 76,256 313,894 13,278 (324) 403,104
OPERATING INCOME 31,104 66,938 3,671 — 101,713
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense (163,870} (166,004) (2,438) 168,335 (163,977}
Interest and dividend income 170,044 18 — (168,335) 1,727
Inter-company charges (26,971) 26,971 — — —
Equity in subsidiaries (69,242) — — 69,239 ©)
Other (6) 67) — — (73)
Other expense, net (90,045) {139,082 (2,438) 69,239 (162,326)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (58,941) (72,144) 1,233 69,239 (60,613)
INCOME TAX PROVISION (BENEFIT) — 13,742 — (15,414) (1,672)
NET INCOME (LOSS) (58,941) (85,886) 1,233 84,653 (68,941)
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDEND {12,915 — — — (12,915)
NET INCOME (LOSS) APPLICABLE TO COMMON
SHARES $ (71,856) $ (85,886) $1,233 $ 84,653 $ (71,856)




Statements of Cash Flows Information for the year ended December 31, 2004
(in thousands):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ (58,941) $(85,886) $1,233 $ 84,653 $ (58,941)
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by i
{used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and customer list amortization 15,830 57,188 3,537 — 76,355
Loss on write-off of debt and preferred stock
issuance costs 12,8605 — — — 12,605
Mark-to-market adjustments—financial
instruments 4,339 — — — 4,339
Gain on repurchase of preferred stock (22,573 — — — (22,573)
Non-cash preferred stock dividends 28,626 o — — 28,626
Impairment of assets — 47,136 — — 47136 \_
Stock based compensation 4 — — — 41
Deferred income taxes — 13,741 — (15,413) (1,672
Other 5,594 2,143 (44) — 7,693
Change in other operating elements:
Accounts receivable 2,425 (3,690 {556) — {1,821)
Inventories (131) 704 (26) — 547
Other current assets 600 (511) — — 89
Accounts payable (4,877) 11,276 (246) — 6,153
Advance billings and customer deposits (115) 558 39 — 482
Accrued preferred stock dividends 26,747 — — — 26,747
Accrued interest 6,598 — — — 6,598
Other accrued expenses (1,376) (680) (71) — (2,127
Net cash provided by (used in} operating
activities 15,192 41,979 3,866 69,240 130,277
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: _
Purchases of property and equipment (24,768) (66,956) (2,693) — 94,417) |
Purchases of wireless properties, net — (725) — — (725)
Net proceeds from property exchange — 13,567 — — 13,567 Py
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 25 67 — — 92 =
Other 231 (207) — — 24 5
Net cash used in investing activities (24,512 (54,254) (2,693) — (81,459 ;
FINANCING ACTIVITIES: ‘ %
Change in parent company receivable and payable 58,151 12,262 (1.173) (69,240) — I &
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to |
employee stock purchase plan and stock options 188 — — — 188 i
Repayments of long-term debt under the credit ‘
facility (525,724) — — — (525,724) \\M
Proceeds from issuance of 8'4% senior secured
notes 350,000 — — — 350,000
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured floating
rate notes 160,000 — — — 160,000
Repurchase of preferred stock (68,351) — — — (68,351)
Payments to settie interest rate swaps (7,645) — — — (7,645)
Payments of debt issuance costs (14,293) — — — {14,293
Other (201) — — — (201)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing
activities (48,875) 12,262 (1,173) (69,240) (106,026)
NET DECREASE IN CASH (57,195) {13) — — (57,208)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at beginning of year 141,263 1,266 18 — 142,547
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at end of year $ 84,068 $ 1,253 $ 18 $ — $ 85,339 K_
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Statement of Operations information for the year ended December 31, 2003

(in thousands):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
REVENUE:
Service $ 71,073 $275,224 $ 8,893 S (152 $ 355,038
Roaming 15,410 112,300 4199 (13 131,896
Equipment 4,433 15,101 921 — 20,455
Total revenue 90,916 404,625 14,013 (165) 507,389
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Network costs, excluding depreciation 16,922 76,037 3,275 (165) 96,069
Cost of equipment sales 6,661 29,548 1,427 — 37,636
Selling, general and administrative 30,670 95,564 5,527 — 131,761
Depreciation and amortization 15,290 57,868 3,271 — 76,429
L.oss on assets held for sale — 42,244 — — 42,244
Total operating expenses 69,543 301,261 13,500 (165) 384,139
OPERATING INCOME 21,373 101,364 513 — 123,250
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): '
Interest expense {135,590) (143,975) {2,330) 145,633 (136,262)
interest and dividend income 146,522 25 2 (145,633) 916
inter-company charges (15,815) 16,297 482) — —
Equity in subsidiaries (14,388) — — 14,385 3
Other 1,001 (107) — — 894
Other expense, net (18,270) (127,760) 2,810) 14,385 (134,455)
NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (3,103 (26,396) (2,297) 14,385 (11,209)
INCOME TAX PROVISION (BENEFIT) 14,308 22,279 — (36,587) —
NET INCOME (LOSS) (11,205) (48,675) (2,297) 50,972 (11,205)
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDEND (38,877 — — — (38,877)
NET INCOME (LOSS) APPLICABLE TO COMMON
SHARES $ (50,082) $ (48,675) $(2,297) $ 50,972 $ (50,082)




Statements of cash flows information for the year ended December 31, 2003
(in thousands):

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ (11,205) $(48,675) $(2,297) $50,972 $ (11,209)
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided
by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 15,290 57,868 3,271 — 76,429
Loss on write-off of debt and preferred
stock issuance costs 6,134 — — — 6,134
Adjustments of interest rate derivatives to
fair market value (2,225) — — — (2,225)
Non-cash preferred stock dividends 13,074 — — — 13,074
Tax adjustments 14,308 22,279 — (36,587) —
Loss on assets held for sale — 42,244 — — 42 244
Other 3,596 401 16 — 4,013
Change in other operating elements:
Accounts receivable (6,483) (7,597) (206) — (14,286)
Inventories (889) (704) 12 — (1,581)
Other current assets (1,249 174 M — (1,076)
Accounts payable 4,428 248 2 —_ 4,678
Advance billings and customer deposits (219) 729 (364) — 146
Accrued preferred stock dividends 14,899 — — — 14,899
Accrued interest 12,188 — — — 12,188
Other accrued liabilities 1,578 (338) (151) — 1,089
Net cash provided by operating
activities 63,225 66,629 282 14,385 144,521
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment {17,496) (33,625) (2,583) — (53,704)
Proceeds from property exchange, net 121 503 — — 624
Proceeds from sale of property and
equipment — (7,200) — — {7,200)
Other (176) 2 — — (174)
Net cash used in investing activities {17,551) (40,320 (2,583) — (60,454)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Change in parent company receivable and
payable 32,135 (20,035) 2,285 (14,385) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
related to employee stock purchase plan

and stock options 131 — — — 131
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
under the credit agreement 120,000 — — — 120,000
Repayments of long-term debt under the
credit agreement (388,128) (6,500) — — (394,628)
Proceeds from issuance of 8s% senior
secured notes 325,000 — — — 325,000
Proceeds from issuance of variable rate notes
Repayment of swaption (34,184) — — — (34,184)
Proceeds from unwinding derivative hedge
agreements 2,632 — — — 2,632
Payments of debt issuance costs (13,374) — — — (13,374)
Other (885) — — — (885)
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities 43,327 (26,535) 2,285 (14,385) 4,692
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH 89,001 (226) {16) — 88,759
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at beginning of
year 52,262 1,492 34 — 53,788
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at end of year $141,263 $ 1,266 $ 18 3 — $ 142,547
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Rural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule ll—VYaluation and Qualifying Accounls

Allowance for Doubiful Accountis:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2035 2004 12003

Balance, at beginning of year $ 2456 $ 3,333 $ 3,09
Additions charged to income 20,712 12,584 12,784
Write-offs (19,001) {13,461) (12,547)

Balance, at end of year $ 3,867 $ 2456 $ 3,333

Included on the following pages are the fnancial statements for RCC Minnsseta, e., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Rural Cellular Corporation. Rural Cellular Corporation is reguired lo provide thess
fimancial statements under Regulation S=X Rule No. 3-16, “Financial Statements of Affliates Whese
Seeurities Collateralize an Issue Registered or Being Registered.” The securities of RECC Minneseta,
Ine. collzteralize RCC’s Senicr Secured Floating Rate Notes dus 2010 and 8Y«% Senicr Seeured Notes
due 2072.
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Beport of Independent Begistersd Public Accounting Firm

Shareholder and Board of Directors
Rural Cellular Corporation Minnesota
Alexandria, Minnesota

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of RCC Minnesota, Inc. ("RCCM"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Rural Cellular
Corporation (*RCC™), as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related statements of operations, shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of RCCM’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control \'
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RCCM at December 31, 2005
and 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared from the separate records maintained by Rural Cellular Corporation and
may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed or the results of operations if RCCM had been operated as an
unaffiliated company. Portions of certain income and expenses represent allocations made to and from RCCM, as discussed in Note 2 to the
financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 10, 2006
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RCC Minnesota, Inc.
(A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of Rural Cellular Corporation)

Balance Sheels

As of December 31,

{in thousands, except shares and per share data) 2005 2004
Assets
INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLE $ 11,460 $ —
LICENSES AND QTHER ASSETS:
Licenses, net 443,098 445,098
Deferred tax asset 5,266 9,905
Total assets $461,324 $455,003
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of inter-company long-term debt $ 49,000 $ —
Inter-company taxes payable 20,940 20,940
Total current liabilities 59,940 20,940
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Inter-company long-term debt 301,000 418,529
Total liabilities 370,940 439,469
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common stock; '$0.01 par value; 200,000 shares authorized; 1,000 issued and outstanding — —
Additional paid-in capital 68,530 1
Accumulated equity 22,354 15,533
Total shareholders’ equity 90,334 15,534
$461,824 $455,003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




RCC Minnesota, Inc.
(A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of Rural Cellular Corporation)

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
REVENUE:
License management revenue $49,797 $99,058 $108,349
Total revenue 49,797 99,058 108,349
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Corporate management expense 2,939 3,775 3,714

Other operating 693 407 280

Impairment of assets - 24,307 28,318

Total operating expenses 3,632 28,489 32,312
OPERATING INCOME 46,163 70,569 76,037
OTHER EXPENSE:

Inter-company interest 34,703 37,942 34,206
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX PROVISION 11,460 32,627 41,831
INCOME TAX PROVISION 4,639 13,051 16,732
NET INCOME $ 6,821 $19,576 $ 25,099

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RCC Minnesota, Inc.
(A Whalty-Owned Subsidiary of Rural Cellular Corporation)

Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficlt)
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2004, and 2003

Additional Accumuiated Total

Paid-In Earnings Shareholders’

(in thousands) Capital (Deficit) Equity (Deficit)
BALANCE, December 31, 2002 $ 1 $(29,142) $(29.141)
Net income — 25,099 25,099
BALANCE, December 31, 2003 1 (4,043) {4,042
Net income — 19,576 19,576
BALANCE, December 31, 2004 1 15,533 15,534
Net income — 6,821 6,821
Parent company capital contribution ‘ 68,529 — 68,529
BALANCE, December 31, 2005 $68,530 $ 22,354 $90,884

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




iCC Minnesota, Inc.
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of Rural Cellular Corporation)

statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

n thousands) 2005 2004 2003
JPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 6,821 $19,576 $ 25,099
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities:
Impairment of assets —_ 24,307 28,318
Income taxes 4,639 13,051 16,732
Net cash provided by operating activities 11,460 56,934 70,149
INVESTING ACTMITIES:
Assignment of licenses from wholly-owned subsidiaries of RCC — (98,804) —
Acquisition of licenses — (14,526) (7,200)
Disposition of licenses —_ 34,175 —
Net cash used in investing activities -— (79,155) (7,200)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in inter-company (receivable)/long-term debt (11,460) 22,221 (62,949)
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities (11,460) 22,221 (62,949)
NET CHANGE IN CASH — —_ _
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at beginning of year — — —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at end of year $ -_— $ — $  —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RCC Minnesota, Inc.
(A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of Rural Cellular Corporation)

Notes to Financial Statements

Background and Basis of Presentation:

RCC Licenses, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rural Cellular
Corporation (“RCC"”), was incorporated in 1997. In July 1998,
RCC Licenses, Inc. changed its name to RCC Minnesota, Inc.
{("RCCM”). RCCM’s operations are subject to the applicable rules
and regulations of the Federal Communications Commission
("FCC"). Since inception, this subsidiary has not engaged in any
business activity other than acquiring and holding FCC licenses and
conducting business activities incidental to hoiding and acquiring
FCC licenses.

The financial statements of RCCM are presented o comply
with the requirement under Rule 3-16 of Regulation S-X of the
Securities and Exchange Commission to provide financial statements
of affiliates whose securities collateralize registered securities if
certain significance tests are met.

History of RCC Minnesota, Inc.

1) The following reflects the history of
RCC Licenses, Inc. founded in 1997 and
renamed RCC Minnesota, Inc. in 1998:

* October 1897, RCC assigned its cellular licenses in its Midwest
territory to RCC Licenses, Inc.

¢ July 1998, RCC Licenses, Inc. changed its name to RCC Minne-
sota, Inc.

* December 2000, RGI Group, Inc., Western Maine Cellular, Inc.,
RCC Holdings, Inc., and MRCC, Inc., wholly-owned subsidiaries of
RCC, assigned certain ficenses to RCCM. Management agree-
ments between RCCM and RCC operating subsidiaries com-
menced on December 1, 2000.

e January 2001, Star Cellular, a wholly-owned subsidiary of RCC,
was acquired by RCC and assigned certain licenses to RCCM.

« February 2001, RCCM entered into an agreement to selt its
10MHz PCS licenses in its Northwest territory.

* October 2003, RCCM acquired 1900 MHz spectrum from
AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. (“AWE™} and one of its affiliates.

* March 2004, RCCM exchanged certain wireless properties with
AWE. Under the agreement, RCCM sold to AWE its Oregon RSA 4
license. RCCM received from AWE licenses in Alabama and
Mississippi. In addition, RCCM received from AWE unbuilt
PCS licenses covering portions of RCC’s Scuth, Midwest, and
Northwest territories.

* May 2004, RCC Holdings, a wholly-owned subsidiary of RCC,
assigned licenses in its Alabama and Mississippi markets to
RCCM.

* November 2004, RCCM acquired additional 1900 MHz PCS Ii-
censes, which cover selected areas in its Midwest and Northwest
territories.

Principles of Presentation

The financial statements include all of the accounts of RCC Minne- -
sota, Inc., a wholly-owned, license-only subsidiary of Rural Cellular
Corporation. .
The financial information included herein may not necessarily
be indicative of the financial position, results of operations or cash
flows of RCCM in the future or what the financial position, results of
operations or cash flows would have been if RCCM had been a
separate, independent company during the periods presented,

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reported periods. Ultimate results could differ from those
gstimates.

2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Revenue Recognition—License management
revenue

RCCM recognizes inter-company management revenue based upon
agreements with RCC’s other operating subsidiaries, which have
assigned all or a portion of their ficenses to RCCM. This allocation
is based on 85% of the respective subsidiary's operating income
(excluding impairment charges) relating to such assigned licenses.
Effective January 1, 2005, RCCM entered into new agree-
ments with RCC's other operating subsidiaries to amend the method
used by RCCM to charge license management fees. Pursuant 1o the
new agreements, RCCM charges each of the other operating
subsidiaries a fixed monthly amount for the use of the licenses
based on a detailed transfer pricing analysis conducted by RCC.

Expense Recognition

Corporate management expense. RCCM recognizes an inter-company
corporate management charge in accordance with an agreement
with RCC’s other operating subsidiaries reflecting a proportionate
share of RCC’s operating expenses. The allocation to RCCM is
based on relative revenues.

Other operating expenses. RCCM recognizes other operating expenses,
including costs directly related to legal and FCC license renewal
fees.

Interest expense. [n the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
RCCM recognized inter-company interest expense using a rate equal
to the weighted average rate of RCC'’s total external debt, including
preferred securities.




ncome Tax Provision

“he income and expenses of RCCM are included in the consolidated
ederal income tax return of Rural Cellular Carporation and
subsidiaries. Any tax benefit or provision generated by RCCM from
such Inclusion in Rural Cellular Corporation and Subsidiaries
~onsolidated federal income tax return is accounted for in taxes
sayable and deferred tax accounts. For financial reporting purposes,
:ie income tax provision or benefit of RCCM has been computed as
i it had filed separate federal and state income tax returns.

RCCM uses the asset and liability approach to account for
ncome taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
and their respective tax basis using enacted tax rates in effect for
tie year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilitiss of a change in tax rates
is recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in
the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Changes in valuation allowances from period to period are included
in our tax provision in the period of change.

Licenses

RCCM holds licenses either granted to it by the FCC, received
through acquisition, or assigned to it from Rural Cellular Corpora-
tion's other subsidiaries. The valuation of RCCM'’s licenses reflects
their original acquisition cost adjusted by subsequent impairment
adjustments as determined by the application of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (‘'SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations,”" and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets’” (“"SFAS No. 142").

The changes in carrying amount of licenses are as
follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004

Beginning of year $445,098 $356,075

Acquisitions — 14,526

Impairment of assets — (24,307)

License held for sale —_ —
Assigned from RCC wholly-

owned subsidiary —_ 98,804

End of year $445,098 $445,008

RCCM is a wholly-owned subsidiary of RCC and applies
SFAS No. 142 in evaluating license impairment. Impairment tests for
indefinite-lived intangible assets, consisting of FCC licenses, are
required to be performed on an annual basis or on an interim basis
if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the
asset might be impaired. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF") No. 02-7, Unit of Accounting for Testing of
Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets, impairment tests for
FCC licenses are performed on an aggregate basis by unit of
accounting. RCCM utilizes a fair value approach, incorporating

discounted cash flows, to complete the test. This approach
determines the fair value of the FCC licenses, using start-up model
assumptions and, accordingly, incorporates cash flow assumptions
regarding the investment in a network, the development of
distribution channels, and other inputs for making the business
operational. These inputs are included in determining free cash
flows of the unit of accounting, using assumptions of weighted
average costs of capital and the long-term rate of growth for the
unit of accounting. RCCM believes that its estimates are consistent
with assumptions that marketplace participants would use in their
estimates of fair value. If any of the assumptions were to change,
RCCM's FCC licenses may hecome impaired.

RCC as a consolidated entity also tests for impairment as
required under SFAS No. 142. This is done at the lowest reporting
level for which identifiable cash flows exist. Under this guidance
RCC has identified four separate units of accounting in 2005,
however due to a reorganization going forward, the Company
expects to have one unit of accounting. The testing required by
SFAS No. 142 at the RCC level resulted in no license impairments
in 2005 and 2003 and a $24.3 million impairment in 2004.

In connection with the property exchange with AWE, RCCM
recorded a $28.3 million non-cash impairment charge on assets
held for sale in the third quarter of 2003.

Inter-company receivable:

RCC funds RCCM through an inter-company account. The receivable
balance as of December 31, 2005 was $11.5 million, The balance
adjusts as RCCM earns revenue and recognizes expense or as
licenses are acquired or sold. This account is settled with the
parent company on a periodic basis.

Inter-company long term debt:

RCCM has a $350 million long-term inter-company note with the
parent company which matures on March 15, 2011. As of
December 31, 2005, the current portion of the note is $49.0 mil-
lion and the long-term portion is $301.0 million. The note bears an
interest rate which is equal to the weighted average cost of
indebtedness of the parent company and is adjusted annually. At
December 31, 2005, the weighted average cost of indebtedness
was 9.78%. The note requires annual payments of $24.6 million.

During 2005, the parent company made a capital contribution
of $68.5 million to RCCM, which was used by RCCM to reduce
inter-company debt. The parent company anticipates it will continue
to fund the operations of RCCM as needed.

3) Income Taxes:

RCCM's reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal
statutory rate to income tax benefit recorded in the consolidated
financial statements was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Tax at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 350%
State taxes 5.0 50 50

40.0%  40.0% 40.0%
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The components of the Company's income tax provision
consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Current
Federal § — $ 1,919 $13,703
State — 281 1,958
- 2,200 15,661
Deferred
Federal 4,059 9,495 986
State 580 1,356 85
4,639 10,851 1,071
Total $4,639 $13,051 $16,732

The income tax effect of the items that create deferred
income tax assets are as follows:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004
Deferred income tax assets:
Operating loss carryforwards $14,304 $ —
Temporary differences:
intangible assets —_ 9,905
Total deferred income tax assets 14,304 —
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (9,038) —
Net deferred income tax asset $ 5,268 $9,905

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, manage-
ment considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible.
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Articles of Incorporation

Amendment to Articles of Incorporation effective March 24, 2000

Amended and Restated Bylaws

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws effective March 22, 2000

Indenture dated March 25, 2004, between Rural Cellular Corporation, as Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee, with respect to the senior secured notes, including the forms of Senior Secured Notes.

Collateral Agreement dated as of March 25, 2004, made by Rurat Cellular Corporation and each of its subsidiaries that
are signatories in favor of U.S. Bank National Assaciation, as Collateral Trustee.

Indenture dated August 1, 2003 between Rural Cellular Corporation, as Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee, with respect to the 97% Senior Notes Due 2010, including the form of 97/s% Senior Notes Due 2010
Indenture dated January 16, 2002 between Rural Celiular Corporation, as Issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee,
with respect to the 9%.% Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2010, including form of 9%.% Senior Subordinated Notes Due
2010

indenture dated November 7, 2005 between Rural Cellular Corporation, as Issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank National
Association, as Trustee, with respect to the Senior Subordinated Floating Rate Notes Due 2012, including form of Senior
Subordinated Notes Due 2012

Certificate of Designation of 11%:% Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock

Certificate of Designation of 12'4% Junior Exchangeable Preferred Stock

Class A Share Rights Agreement dated April 30, 1999

Amendment to the Class A Share Rights Agreement dated March 31, 2000

Registration Rights Agreement dated March 31, 2000 by and between Rural Cellular Corporation and Telephone and Data
Systems, Inc.

Certificate of Designation of Voting Power, Preferences and Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights,
Qualifications and Restrictions of Class T Convertible Preferred Stock of Rural Cellular Corporation

Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 3, 2000 among Rural Cellular Corporation, Madison Dearborn Capital
Partners Ill, L.P., Madison Dearborn Special Equity ll, L.P., Special Advisors Fund I, LLC, Boston Ventures Limited
Partnership V and Toronto Dominion Investrent, Inc. (collectively “Class M Investors™)

Certificate of Designation of Voting Power, Preferences and Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights,
Qualifications and Restrictions of Class M Fedeemable Voting Convertible Preferred Stock of Rural Cellular Corporation
Registration Rights Agreement dated April 3, 2000 among Rural Cellular Corporation and Class M Investors

Credit facility dated as of March 25, 2004 among Rural Cellular Corporation, Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc., as
Administrative Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent.

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dated as of March 25, 2004 among Rural Cellular Corporation, Lehman Commercial
Paper Inc., as Administrative Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent.

Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2004, among Lehman Commercial Paper Inc., as Senior Agent and
Account Agent, U.S. Bank National Association, as Indenture Trustee and Collateral Trustee, Rural Cellular Corporation, a
Minnesota corporation, and the Guarantors.

1985 Stock Compensation Plan, as amended to date

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to 1995 Stock Compensation Plan.

Stock Option Plan for Nonemployee Directors, as amended to date

Employment Agreement with Richard P. Ekstrand effective January 22, 1999

Amendment to Employment Agreement with Richard P. Ekstrand effective January 1, 2001

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement with Richard P. Ekstrand effective July 24, 2001

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement with Richard P. Ekstrand effective August 23, 2001

Fourth Amendment to Employment with Richard P. Ekstrand effective February 27, 2003

Fifth Amendment to Employment with Richard P. Ekstrand effective February 17, 2005

Employment Agreement with Wesley E. Schultz effective January 22, 1999

Amendment to Employment Agreement with Wesley E. Schuitz effective January 1, 2001

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement with Wesley E. Schultz effective July 24, 2001

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement with Wesley E. Schultz effective August 23, 2001

Fourth Amendment to Employment Agreemant with Wesley E. Schultz effective February 17, 2005

Employment Agreement with Ann K. Newhall effective February 6, 1999
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*10.6()  Amendment fo Employment Agreement with Ann K. Newhall effective January 1, 2001
“10.6(c)  Second Amendment to Employment Agreement with Ann K. Newhall effective July 24, 2001
{d)  Third Amendment to Employment Agreement with Ann K. Newhall effective August 23, 2001

) Fourth Amendment to Employment Agresment with Ann K. Newhall effective February 17, 2005
*10.7(@)  Change of Control Agreement with David Del Zoppo effective January 2, 2001

) Amendment to Change of Control Agreement with David Del Zoppo effective July 24, 2001
*10.8(a)  Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan
*10.8(b)  Amendment to Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan
*10.8{c)  Second Amendment to Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan
*10.9 Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan |l
*10.10 Management Incentive Plan
**10.11(@@)  Master Purchase Agreement dated March 14, 2002 by and between Rural Cellular Corporation and Ericsson Inc.
**10.11(b)  Addendum dated August 4, 2003 to Master Purchase Agreement
**10.12(@@) Intercarrier Muiti-Standard Roaming and Colocation Agreement by and between Cingular Wireless LLC and Rural Cellular

Corporation effective June 8, 2003 (“Roaming Agreement’)

**10.12(b) Amendment No. 1 to Roaming Agreement
**10.13 Billing Services and License Agreement between VeriSign, Inc and Rural Celluiar Corporation.

21 Subsidiaries of Registrant
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP regarding financial statements of Rural Cellular Corporation
23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP regarding financial statements of RCC Minnesota, Inc.

311 Section 302 Certification Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Section 302 Certification Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
321 Certification of principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act

[1] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

[2] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.

[3] Filed with Report on Form 10-Q for quarter ended June 30, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference

[4] Filed as an Exhibit to Report on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference

[5] Filed as an exhibit to Registration Statement on Form S-4 (SEC No. 333-57677), filed June 25, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.

[6] Filed as an exhibit to Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed May 19, 1399 and incorporated herein by reference.

[7} Filed as an exhibit to Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A-1 filed April 18, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

(8] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 8-K dated April 1, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

[9] Filed with definitive Proxy Statement for 2000 Annual Meeting on April 7, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.
[10] Filed with definitive Proxy Statement for 2002 Annual Meeting on April 8, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.
[11] Filed as an exhibit to Repert on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference.
[12] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.
[13] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.
[14] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.
[15] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.
[16] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference
[17] Filed with definitive Proxy Statement for 2001 Annual Meeting on April 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.
[18] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.
[19] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.
[20] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
[21] Filed as an exhibit to Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

* Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form.

** Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Secretary of the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Registrant’s
request for confidential treatment of such information under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

*** Filed herewith.
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RURAL CELLULAR CORPORATION /
3905 Dakota Street S.W.
Alexandria, Minnesota 56308
April 20, 2006
Dear Shareholder;

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management of Rural Cellular Corporation, it is my pleasure to invite you to the annual meeting of
shareholders.

The annual mesting will be held on Thursday, May 25, 2006, at the Holiday Inn of Alexandria, 5637 Hwy 29 South, Alexandria, Minnesota,
at 10:00 a.m., Minnesota time. At the meeting, we will vote on the matters described in the attached proxy statement and notice of annual
meeting of shareholders.

I urge you to read the enclosed Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement so that you may be informed about the business to come
before the meeting. It is also important that you complete and sign the enclosed proxy. RCC is your company, and | strongly urge you to
exercise your right to vote. Included with the Proxy Statement is Rural Cellular Corporation’s Annual Report for fiscal year 2005.

Please mark, sign and return your proxy(ies) promptly in the enclosed envelope, which requires no postage if mailed in the United States.
You may also cast your vote electronically via the Internet by following the detailed instructions on the proxy card. Please retumn your proxy or |
cast your vote electronically even if you plan to attend the meeting. |

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management, | thank you for your participation by voting and for your continued support of and
interest in Rural Cellular Corporation.

We hape that you will be able to attend the meeting and look forward to seeing you there.
Sincerely, ?

=

Richard P. Ekstrand
President and Chief Executive Officer

Notice of Annval WMesting of Sharchelders
May 25, 2006
Please take notice that the annual meeting of the shareholders of Rural Cellular Corporation, a Minnesota corporation,

will be held at the Holiday Inn of Alexandria, 5637 Hwy 29 South, Alexandria, Minnesota, at 10:00 a.m., Minnesota
time. At the meeting, holders of RCC's common stock will consider and vote upon the foliowing matters:

* the election of two Class Il directors, each for a three-year term expiring in 2009,
» the ratification of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent auditors; and
« the approval of a new incentive plan.

In addition, the Class M preferred shareholders and the Senior Preferred Shareholders, each voting separately as a
group, will each elect two directors for terms expiring in 2007.

The Board of Directors of RCC has fixed the close of business on March 27, 2006, as the record date for the determination
of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vole at the annual meeting. The transfer books of RCC will not be closed.

You are urged to complete, date, sign, and return the accompanying proxy card in the enclosed, self-addressed
envelope or to vote electronically via the Internet as described on the proxy card. In addition, please attend the annual
meeting if you can do so.

By Order of the Board of Directors

o Yol

Ann K. Newhall
Secretary
Dated: April 20, 2006
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RURAL CELLULAR CORPORATION
3905 Dakota Street S.W.
Alexandria, Minnesota 56308
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ING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Solicitation and Revecation of Proxies

(he accompanying proxy is solicited by the board of directors of Rural Cellular Corporation in connection with the annual meeting of its
shareholders, which will be held on May 25, 2006, and any adjournments thereof. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to
ine “Company,” “we,” ““us,” and “RCC" refer to Rural Cellular Corporation and its subsidiaries.

RECORD DATE
You may vote if you were a shareholder of record on March 27, 2006.
HOwW TO VOTE

By signing and returning the enclosed proxy card or voting electronically via the Internet, you will be giving your proxy to our Board of
Directors and authorizing them to vote your shares.

HOW YOQUR PROXY WILL BE VOTED

Your shares will be voted in accordance with your instructions. If you do not give any voting instructions, your proxy, subject to the following,
will be voted FOR the election of the directors nominated by the Board, FOR the ratification of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent
auditors, and FOR the approval of the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

HOW TO REVOKE YOUR PROXY

You have the power to revoke your grant of proxy at any time prior to the convening of the annual meeting. Revocation must be in writing,
signed in exactly the same manner as the proxy, and dated. Revocations of proxy will be honored if received at our offices, addressed to
Ann K. Newhall, Secretary, on or before May 24, 2006. In addition, on the day of the meeting, prior to the convening thereof, revocations
may be delivered 1o the tellers, who will be present at the meeting. Revocation may also be effected by delivery of an executed, later dated
proxy prior to the convening of the annual meeting. Unless revoked, all properly executed or electronically submitted proxies received in time
will be voted.

ABSTENTIONS

If you abstain from voting as to any matter, then your shares will be deemed present at the meeting for purposes of determining a quorum
and for purposes of calculating the vote with respect to such matter, but shall not be deemed to have been voted in favor of such matter.
Abstentions, therefore, as to any proposal will have the same effect as votes against such proposal.

BROKER NON-VOTES

If & broker turns in a “‘non-vote™ proxy, indicating a lack of voting instruction by the beneficial holder of the shares and lack of discretionary
authority on the part of the broker to vote on a particular matter, then the shares covered by such non-vote proxy shall be deemed present
at the meeting for purposes of determining a quorum but shall not be deemed to be represented at the meeting for purposes of calculating
the vote required for approval of such matter.

COSTS OF SOLICITATION

We will pay for costs of soliciting proxies, including the casts of preparing and mailing the notice of annual meeting of shareholders and this

proxy statement. Solicitation will be primarily by mailing this proxy statement to all shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting. Proxies may be

solicited by our officers or other employees, who will receive no special compensation for their services. We may reimburse brokers, banks, and

others holding shares in their names for others for the costs of forwarding proxy material to, and obtaining proxies from, beneficial owners.
Copies of this proxy statement and proxies will first be mailed to shareholders on or about April 20, 2008.
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Voling Rights

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on March 27, 2006 are entitlied to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting or any
adjournment thereof. As of that date, there were issued and outstanding 13,808,549 shares of Class A Common Stock, 427,334 shares of
Class B Common Stock, and 110,000 shares of Class M Convertible Preferred Stock. Each holder of record of Class A Common Stock is
entitled to one vote for each share registered in his or her name as of the record date, and each holder of record of Class B Common Stock
is entitled to ten votes for each share registered in his or her name as of the record date. In addition, the holders of the Class M Convertible
Preferred Stock are permitted to vote with the holders of the common stock on an as-converted basis. As of March 27, 2006, these holders
are entitled to a total of 2,181,239 votes at the annual meeting. No shareholder will have appraisal rights or similar dissenter's rights as a
resuit of any matters expected to be voted on at the meeting. The presence in person or by proxy of holders of a majority of the voting
power represented by the outstanding shares of the Class A and Class B Common Stock, in the aggregate, entitled to vote at the annual
meeting will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

The following table shows certain information relating fo outstanding shares and voting rights as of the record date;

Shares Votes Votes
Class of Stock QOutstanding Per Share Per Class
Class A Common Stock 13,808,549 1 13,808,549
Class B Common Stock 427,334 10 4,273,340
Class M Convertible Preferred Stock” 2,181,239 1 2,181,239
Total 16,417,122 20,263,128

{1} Reflects voting rights on an as-converted basis

Board Recommendations

Our board of directors recommends that you vote FOR the election of directors nominated by the Board, FOR the ratification of Deloitte &
Touche LLP as independent auditors, and FOR approval of the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Pian.

Directors are elected by plurality of the votes cast, in person or by proxy, at the annual meeting, which means that the two nominees
for Class Ill directors receiving the highest number of votes will be elected. Because there are only two Class lll nominees, sach will be
glected if he receives any number of votes. If you do not wish to have your shares voted for a particular nominee, you may withhold
authority as indicated on the proxy card. For all other matters, approval requires the affirmative vote by holders of at least a majority of the
voting power of the shares voting on such matter.

®)




Iwnership of Voling Securitics

Common Sfock. The following table sets forth information provided to us by the holders, or contained in our stock ownership records,
regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 27, 2006 (except as otherwise noted) by:

« each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our outstanding common stock;

« each Named Executive Officer (as defined in the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission);

» each director and nominee as a director; and

« all directors and executive officers as a group.

Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares listed. A “currently

exercisable’ option is an option exercisable as of, or becoming exercisable within 80 days following, the record date.

Class A Class B Percentage
Name and Address Number Percentage Number Percentage of Combined
of Beneficial Owner of Shares of Class of Shares of Class Voting Power

Kevin Douglas (1) 1,919,000 13.9% - — 9.5% K

1101 Fifth Avenue, Suite 360
San Rafael, CA 94901

Madison Dearborn Partners (2) 1,122,119 7.5 — — 55
Three First Plaza, Suite 330
Chicago, Il 60602

Knickerbocker Partners LLC (3) 1,033,761 7.5 — — 5.1
708 3rd Avenue, 6th Floor :
New York, NY 10017

Philippe Laffont (4) 778,305 5.6 — — 3.8

126 East 56th Strest
New York, NY 10022

Boston Ventures Management, Inc. (5) 758,580 5.2 — — 37 k
One Federal Street

23rd Floor

Boston, MA 02110

Telephone and Data Systems, Inc. (6) 586,799 4.2 132,597 31.0% 94

30 North LaSalle Street
Chicago, IL 60602

Arvig Enterprises, Inc. — — 121,664 28.5 6.0
160 2nd Ave. SW.
Perham, MN 56573

Garden Valley Telephone Co. 85,418 * 45,035 105 2.6

201 Ross Avenue

Erskine, MN 56535 K
North Holdings, Inc. 97,276 * 32,708 7.7 2.1 /
P.0. Box 211

Lowry, MN 56349 g
Rothsay Telephone Co. — — 28,607 8.7 1.4 ¥
137 1st Street NW 3
Rothsay, MN 56579 @
Gardonville Coop — — 26,200 6.1 13 %
P. 0. Box 187 e
Brandon, MN 56315 g
Richard P. Ekstrand (7) 504,830 3.6 32,708 7.7 4.0 3 u
Anthony J. Bolland (5) 758,580 5.2 — — | [ 37 \\_




Class A

Class B

q Percentage
' Name and Address Number Percentage Number Percentage of Combined
i of Beneficial Owner of Shares of Class of Shares of Ciass Voting Power
James V. Continenza (8) 5,250 * — — *
Paul J. Finnegan (2) 1,122,119 7.5% —_ — 5.5%
Jacques Leduc (8) 5,250 * — — *
Ann K. Newhall (9) 286,047 2.0 — — 1.4
George M. Revering (10) 125,350 * — — *
' Wesley E. Schultz (1) 257,660 1.8 — — 1.3
j Don C. Swensor (10) 31,500 * — — *
- ' George W. Wikstrom (12) 59,723 * — — *
E David J. Del Zoppo (13) 57,344 * — — *
\:1 All directors and executive officers as a 3,213,653 19.3 32,708 7.7 16.6

group (11 persons) (14)

* Denotes less than 1%.

Partners, LLC.

(4) Based on Schedule 13G/A dated February 14, 2006,

Limited Partnership V.
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(3) Based on Schedule 13G/A dated February 14, 2008, filed jointly by Marc Buchheit and Knickerbocker Partners LLC.

(1) Based on Schedule 13G/A dated February 13, 2006, filed jointly on behalf of Kevin Douglas, Michelle Douglas, the Douglas Family Trust, the James
: Douglas and Jean Douglas Irrevocable Descendants’ Trust, the Estate of Cynthia Douglas, and James E. Douglas Ill.

(2) Based on Schedule 13D dated April 13, 2000 {the “April 2000 13D") filed jointly by Boston Ventures Company V, L.L.C., Boston Ventures Limited
Partnership V, Madison Dearborn Capital Partners I, L.P., Madison Dearborn Partners lll, L.P., Madison Dearborn Partners, LLC, Madison Dearborn
Special Equity Iil, L.P., Special Advisors Fund |, LLC, The Toronte-Dominion Bank, Toronto Dominion Holdings (U.S.A.), Inc. and Toronto Dominion
Investments, Inc. Reflects 1,090,619 shares of Class A common stock into which the 55,000 shares of Class M convertible preferred stock held by
certain affiliates of Madison Dearborn Partners, LLC may be converted. The shares of Class M preferred stock may vote on all matters submitted for a
vote of the holders of the common stock on an as-converted basis. Also includes 31,500 shares of Class A common stock that may be issued upon
exercise of currently exercisable options. Paul J. Finnegan is a Managing Director of Madison Dearborn Partners, Inc., an affiliate of Madison Dearborn

(5} Based on the April 2000 13D. Reflects 727,080 shares of Class A common stock into which 36,667 shares of Class M convertible preferred stock
owned by Boston Ventures Limited Partnership V may be converted. The shares of Class M preferred stock may vote on all matters submitted for a
vote of the holders of the common stock on an as-converted basis. Also includes 31,500 shares of Class A common stock that may be issued upon
exercise of currently exercisable options. Anthony J. Bolland is a general partner of Boston Ventures Management, Inc., an affiliate of Boston Ventures

(6) Based on Schedule 13G/A dated February 14, 2008, filed jointly by Telephone and Data Systems, Inc., Arvig Telephone Company, Mid-State Telephone
Company, United States Cellular Corporation, United States Cellular Investment Company, TDS Telecommunications Corporation, USCCI Corporation, TDS!
Telecommunications Corporation, and The Trustees of the TDS Voting Trust.

(7) Includes 97,276 shares of Class A common stock and 32,708 shares of Class B common stock owned by North Holdings, Inc., of which Mr. Ekstrand
is the sole shareholder and president, and 500 shares of Class A common stock held by or on behalf of one of Mr. Ekstrand’s children. Also includes

(12) Includes 28,233 shares of Class A common stock owned by Wikstrom Telephone Company, Inc., of which Mr. Wikstrom is a shareholder and Vice

P
% i 332,943 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options.
‘%Zb_ i‘ (8) Includes 5,250 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options.
b= , (9) Includes 245,485 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options. Also includes 5,000 shares
3% i of Class A common stock held by Ms. Newhall's spouse and 1,000 shares of Class A common stock held in an IRA account.
5 [ (10) Includes 31,500 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options.
;@5 { (11) Includes 201,985 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options.
=
|

\

upon exercise of currently exercisable options,

President. Mr. Wikstrom disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares. Also includes 31,500 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased



{13) Includes 48,614 shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options.

(14) Includes 1,817,699 shares of Class A common stock into which 91,667 shares of Class M convertible preferred stock may be converted and 997,027
shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of currently exercisable options.

Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock. Because we have failed to pay the dividends on our 11%s% Senior Exchangeable Preferred Stock (*'Senior
Preferred”’} for six quarters, the holders of such shares have the right to elect two members of our board of directors. These directors would
be in addition to the directors elected by the holders of the common stock and the Class M preferred stock. Based upon information
available to us, we are aware of the following holders (other than custodians) of more than five percent of the shares of Senior Preferred
stock currently outstanding.

Name and Address Number Percentage
of Beneficial Owner of Shares of Class
Iridian Asset Management, LLC 10,000 6.9%

276 Post Road West
Westport, CT 06880

OppenheimerFunds, Inc. 8,187 57
225 Liberty St

2 World Financial Center
New York, NY 10281

Fairfield Greenwich Advisors, LLC 7,599 5.3
919 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022

Deutsche Bank AG 7,523 52
Taunusanlage 12
Frankfurt, Germany 60325
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Item No. 1 Election of Directors

Rural Cellular's Articles of Incorporation provide that directors are
divided into three classes, with each class serving a three-year term
and approximately one-third of the Board of Directors to be elected
gach year. The two directors in Class Il whose terms are expiring,
Richard P. Ekstrand and George W. Wikstrom, have been nominated
by the Board of Directors for reelection.

Anthony J. Bolland and Paul J. Finnegan were selected to
serve as directors for a term expiring at the 2005 annual meeting
by the holders of the Class M convertible preferred stock, who have
the right, voting separately as a class, to elect two directors.
Accordingly, concurrently with the annual meeting, the Class M
holders are expected to reelect Messrs. Bolland and Finnegan to the
Board of Directors. In accordance with our Articles of Incorporation
and Bylaws, these individuals will not be designated to serve in any
of the three classes, but will be elected as provided for under the
terms of the issuance of the Class M convertible preferred stock.

The holders of the Common Stock are being asked to vote for
Richard P. Ekstrand and George W. Wikstrom as Class 1l directors,
to terms expiring in 2009. In each case, the individual will be
elected to hold office until the expiration of the term and until a
successor has been elected and qualified or until his death,
resignation, or removal, if earlier.

Election of directors is determined by a plurality vote of the
combined voting power of all shares of Common Stock present in
person or by proxy and voting at the Annual Megting. if any nominee
is not a candidate for election at the meeting, the Proxies may vote
for such other person as they, in their discretion, may determine.

Our Board of Directors recommends that the ahove
nominees be elected. Unless instructed not to vote for the
election of the nominees, the Proxies will vote to elect the
nominees above named.

Certain information regarding the nominees and the continuing
directors of RCC is set forth below:

Nominees for Election as Class Il Directors
(terms expiring in 2009)

Richard P. Ekstrand, 56, has served as our President, Chief Executive
Officer, and a director since 1990. He currently serves on the board
of directors and executive committee of the Cellular Telecommunica-
tions and Internet Association (CTIA) and the Wireless Foundation.
Mr. Ekstrand previously served as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of both CTIA and the Wireless Foundation. He also was a
founding director of the Rural Cellular Association and served as a
director until 2000. In addition, he is past President of the
Minnesota Telephone Association, the Association of Minnesota
Telephone Utilities, and the Minnesota Telecommunications Associa-
tion. Mr. Ekstrand is the sole shareholder, president, and a director
of North Holdings, Inc. (formerly Lowry Telephone Co., Inc.), which
is a shareholder of Rural Cellular. From 1980 through 2000,

Mr. Ekstrand had served as vice president and a director of Lowry
Telephone Co., Inc. North Holdings, Inc. is a member of Lowry
Telephone Company, LLC, of which Mr. Ekstrand is the treasurer

and a member of the board of governors. He also serves on the
board of directors of the Minnesota Zoo Foundation.

George W. Wikstrom, 68, has been a director since 1990 and was Vice
President from 1991 until 2000. Mr. Wikstrom has been Vice President
of Wikstrom Telephone Company, Incorporated, a local exchange
telephone company and a shareholder of Rural Cellular, for more
than ten years. He has been the Commissioner of the Northwest
Regional Development Commission since 1979 and has served as a
director of the Minnesota Association of Rural Telecommunications.

Continuing Class [ Director
{term expiring in 2007)

Wesley E. Schultz, 49, has served as Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer since 2000 and as a director since 1999. He
joined us in 1996 as Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial
Officer. tn 1999, he was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer and Assistant Secretary. Mr. Schultz is a certified
public accountant and served for three years as an auditor with
Deloitte and Touche LLP.

Continuing Class I Directors
(terms expiring in 2008)

Ann K. Newhall, 55, has served as Executive Vice President, Chief
Operating Officer, and Secretary since 2000 and as a director since
1999. She joined us as Senior Vice President and General Counsel
in 1999. Prior to joining us, Ms. Newhall was a shareholder
attorney with Moss & Barnett, A Professional Association, most
recently serving as President and a director of the firm.

Ms. Newhall received her J.D. from the University of Minnesota Law
School in 1977, She serves on the board of directors of Alliant
Energy Corporation, a gas and electric utility.

George M. Revering, 64, has been a director since 1990. Mr. Revering
is currently retired and had served as president and general manager
of Midwest Information Systems Inc. from 1976 until 2001,

Don C. Swenson, 64, has been a director since 1990 and served as
Secretary from 1995 until 2000. Mr. Swenson served as Director of
Operations of Arvig Communications Systems, Inc. from 1981 until
his retirement in 2001. Mr. Swenson also serves as a director of
Arvig Enterprises, Inc., one of our shareholders. Mr. Swenson has
been a member of the board of directors of United Community
Bank, Perham, Minnesota, since 1993.

Nominees for Election by Class W Shareholders

Anthony J. Bolland, 51, has been a General Partner of Boston
Ventures Management Inc. since its formation in 1983. From 1981
through 1983, he was a vice president of First Venture Capital
Corporation, a subsidiary of Bank of Boston Corporation, and had an
active role in initiating, structuring and monitoring First Ventures’
investments. Mr. Bolland received his L.L.B. degree from Warwick
University, England in 1975. He is currently on the boards of
directors of Integra Telecom and Production Resource Group.

Mr. Bolland was elected to the Board df Directors by the holders of




ur Class M convertible preferred stock and has served as a
director since 2004,

aiii J. Finnegan, 53, is a Managing Director of Madison Dearborn
Partners, Inc., where he concentrates on investments in the
communications industry. Mr. Finnegan has been with Madison
Dearborn Partners since he co-founded the company in 1993. Prior
fo that time, Mr. Finnegan worked at First Chicago Venture Capital
for ten years. Mr. Finnegan serves on the boards of directors of
Allegiance Telecom, Inc. and Fecal Communications, Inc. He also
serves on the Board of Trustees of The Skyline Fund, a small cap
mutual fund. Mr. Finnegan received his B.A. from Harvard College
and his M.B.A. from the Harvard Graduate School of Business
Administration. Mr. Finnegan was elected to the Board of Directors
by the holders of our Class M convertible preferred stock and has
served as a director since 2000.

Directors to be Elected by Holders of Senior
Preferred Stock

As noted above, the holders of our senior exchangeable preferred
stock have the right to elect two members of our Board of
Directors. We anticipate these two directors will be elecied at the
Annual Meeting. The holders of Senior Preferred will submit
nominees for these positions. At the 2005 annual meeting, holders
of the Senior Preferred elected James V. Continenza and Jacques
Leduc. At the time of the mailing of this proxy statement, we have
not been advised whether they will be nominated for reelection.

James V., Continenza, 43, served as Chief Executive Officer, President,
and a director of Teligent, Inc. from September 2002 through June
2004. From September 2000 to September 2002, Mr. Continenza
served in various positions, including as Chief Operating Officer and
a director of Arch Wireless, Inc. Mr. Continenza was President and
Chief Executive Officer of Lucent Technologies Product Finance from
1999 through 2000. Mr. Continenza served as a director of
Microcell Telecommunications, Inc. from May 2003 to November
2004. He is currently on the boards of directors of MAXIM Crane
Works, Inc. and U.S.A. Mobility, Inc., which was formed by the
merger of Arch Wireless, Inc. and Metrocall, Inc. Mr. Continenza
was elected to the Board of Directors in May 2005 by the holders
of our senior exchangeable preferred stock.

Jacques S. Ledue, 43, currently serves as Managing Partner of Trio
Capital, Inc. He served as Chief Financial Officer of Microcell
Telecommunications, Inc. from 1995 through November 2004 and
as Director of Corporate Planning from 1995 to 1998. Mr. Leduc
was elected to the Board of Directors in May 2005 by the holders
of our senior exchangeable preferred stock.

Meetings of the Board of Directors

During fiscal 2005, the Board of Directors held five regular and
three special meetings. All directors attended at least 85% of the
meetings of the Board and the committees on which they served.
Directors are expected to attend board meetings, board
committee meetings, and annual shareholder meetings. Five of the

Company's then ning directors attended the 2005 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee, a
Compensation Committee, and a Nominating Committes.

Audit Committee. Don Swenson (Chair), Anthony J. Bolland, Jacques
Leduc, and George M. Revering currently serve on the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committeg’s duties include examination of
matters relating to the financial affairs of RCC, including reviewing
our annual financial statements, the scope of the independent
annual audit, and the independent accountant’s letter to manage-
ment concerning the effectiveness of our internal financial and
accounting controls. In addition, the Audit Committee serves as a
“qualified legal compliance committee.” The Audit Committee held
six meetings during 2005. The Audit Committee operates under a
written charter adopted by the Board of Directors. All members of
the Audit Committee are independent as defined in rules of The
Nasdag Stock Market.

Compensation Committee. Paul J. Finnegan (Chair), James V.
Continenza, and George W. Wikstrom currently serve on the
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee’s duties
include consideration of and recommendations to our Board of
Directors with respect to programs for executive compensation,
employee benefit and incentive plans, and other compensation
matters-and policies. The Compensation Committee held seven
meetings during 2005.

Nominating Committee. The nominating committee consists of
Anthony J. Bolland, James V. Continenza, Paul J. Finnegan,
Jacques Leduc, George M. Revering, Don C. Swenson, and
George W. Wikstrom, all of whom have been determined by the
board to be independent as defined in the Nasdag rules. The
nominating commitiee operates under a written charter adopted by
the board of directors. A copy of the nominating committee charter
is focated on our website at www.unicel.com (click on “‘Investor
Relations,” then “'Corporate Governance').

The purpose of the nominating committee is to identify
individuals qualified to be nominees to the board. Qualifications and
attributes that the nominating committee believes are important in a
director may include the following:

* personal and professional integrity,

« the ability to apply good business judgment,

« the ability to understand and exercise his or her duties of loyalty
and care,

* willingness to devote the required time to the Company’s affairs,
including attendance at board, committee, and shareholder meetings,

« broad training and experience at policy-making levels in business,

« financial acumen, and

* experience in telecom or similar businesses.

In considering director candidates, the nominating committee
will consider an appropriate balance of experience, skills, and
background and assure that at least a majority of the directors are
independent. Other important factors in assessing qualifications of
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director nominees are the candidates' other commitments, such as
employment and other board positions, and whether the candidate
would qualify under the Gompany’s guidelines for membership on
the audit committee, the compensation committee, or the nominat-
ing committee. In considering whether current directors should be
nominated for reelection, the nominating committee will consider the
above criteria as well as the individual's past performance as a
Company director. Members of the nominating committee who are
being considered for reelection will not participate in any
deliberations regarding their candidacy.

In the event that there are vacancies on our board, or
vacancies are anticipated, the nominating committee will consider
various candidates for director positions. Candidates may come to
the attention of the nominating committee through current board
members, shareholders, management, or, when appropriate, re-
tained search firms. Although the Company has not paid any third
party a fee to assist in the identification or evaluation of director
candidates, the nominating committee has the authority to retain
search firms or other qualified advisers for this purpose in the
future, at the Company's expense. After a preliminary assessment
of each director candidate based upon his or her resume and other
biographical information, his or her willingness to serve, and other
background information, promising candidates will be invited to
participate in interviews with some or all of the members of the
nominating committee. At the conclusion of this process, the
nominating committee will determing whether a candidate is a good
fit and recommend a candidate to the hoard. The committee will
use the same process for svaluating all candidates, regardiess of
the source of the nomination.

The nominating committee will consider candidates recom-
mended by shareholders. If you wish to propose a candidate, please
forward the candidate’s name and a detailed description of the
candidate’s background and qualifications, including all information
relating to the candidate that would be required to be disclosed in
the proxy statement, the candidate’s written consent o being
considered as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected,
your name and address, as they appear on the corporation’s
shareholder records, and the class and number of shares of RCC
that you own beneficially to:

Nominating Committee
Rural Cellular Corporation
3905 Dakota Street SW
P.0. Box 2000
Alexandria, MN 56308-2000

In order for an individual proposed by a shareholder to be
considered by the nominating committee for recommendation as a
board nominee at the 2007 Annual Meeting, the nominating
committee must receive the proposal no later than 5 p.m. central
time on December 21, 2006. Such proposals must be sent via
registered, certified, or express mail (or other means that allows the
shareholder to determine when the proposal was received by the
Company). Shareholders submitting nominations are encouraged to

‘person, and $350 for each Board meeting and committee meeting

submit them as early as possible in order to allow the nominating
committee time to make an appropriate evaluation.

In addition, RCC's bylaws permit shareholders to nominate
directors at an annual meeting of the shareholders or at a special
meeting at which directors are to be elected if they comply with the
requirements set forth in our bylaws, a copy of which may be obtained
from RCC at the above address. Our bylaws require, among other
things, that the corporate secretary receive written notice of a proposed
nomination for the 2007 Annual Meeting no later than April 5,
2007, and that the notice contain the information outlined above.

Sharecholder Communications with the Board

Shareholders who wish to do so may communicate directly with our
Board, or any one or more of the members of our Board, by writing
to the following address:

Board of Directors
Rural Cellular Corporation
3905 Dakota Street SW

P.0. Box 2000
Alexandria, MN 56308-2000

If a shareholder wishes to communicate with a specific committee,
such submission may be addressed to the chair of the committee.

Compensation of Directors

Directors’ Fees. In fiscal 2005, each of our nonemployee directors was
paid an annual fee of $20,000, $1,000 for each Board meeting
attended in person, $500 for gach committee mesting attended in

attended via telephone conference and is reimbursed for travel and
other expenses incurred in attending meetings and serving as a
director. The Chair of the Audit Committee was paid an additional
$250 per meeting attended either in person or by teleconference. Total
fees paid to all nonemployee directors as a group for services rendered
during 2005 were $198,067.

Beginning in 2008, in lieu of fees for attendance at committee
meetings, members of the audit committee will each receive an
annual retainer of $5,000 and members of the compensation
committee will each receive an annual retainer of $3,000, The chair
of the audit committee will receive an annual retainer of $10,000.

Directors’ Stock Option Plan. Directors who are not employees are
eligibie for options under RCC’s Stock ‘Option Plan for Nonemployee
Directors. The plan provides that all nonemployee directors serving
as of the day following an annual meeting will be granted options to
purchase 5,250 shares of Class A Corimon Stock on that date.
Pursuant to the plan, nonemployee directors serving as of the day
following the 2005 annual meeting were granted options to
purchase an aggregate of 36,750 shares of Class A Common Stock
at $4.89 per share. Upon approval of the proposed Omnibus
Incentive Plan, directors will be granted options or other equity
awards pursuant to that plan and there will be no further grants
under the current plan.




Section 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance

Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and the rules promulgated thersunder require RCC’s officers,
directors, and holders of 10% or more of our outstanding common
stock to file certain reports with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. To our best knowledge, based solely on information
provided to us by the reporting individuals, all of the reports
required to be filed by these individuals were timely filed, except
that a Form 4 reporting the grant of an option to Jacques Leduc
was filed one day late.

Item No. 2 Ratification of Deloitte &
Touche LLP as Independemnt
Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP (“DT") has served as our independent
auditors since June 2002. The Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors has considered the qualifications and experience of DT
and, based upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the
Board of Directors has appointed DT as independent auditors for the
current fiscal year, which ends December 31, 2006 (“‘Fiscal
2006").

Representatives of DT are expected to be present at the
Annual Meeting and will have the opportunity to make & statement,
if they desire to do so, and to respond to appropriate questions.
The affirmative vote of a majority of the combined voting power of
the shares of common stock present and voting on such matter is
required for ratification of the appointment of DT as our
independent auditors.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote
FOR the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte &
Touche LLP as RCC’s independent auditor for fiscal 2006.
Your proxy will be so voted unless you specify otherwise.

Report of Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised of four
nonemployee directors, all of whom are independent as defined in
the rules of The Nasdag Stock Market. In addition, the Board of
Directors has determined that Anthony J. Bolland and Jacques
Leduc are “‘audit committee financial experts”" as defined by
applicable regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Audit Committee held six meetings during fiscal 2005,
The mestings were designed to facilitate and encourage communi-
cation between the Audit Committee, management, and DT, our
independent public accountants.

The Audit Commitiee reviewed and discussed the audited
financial statements for fiscal 2005 with management and
representatives of DT.

The Committee’s discussions with DT included the matters
required by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communica-
tion with Audit Committees). DT also provided to the Audit
Committee the written disclosures and the letter regarding their

independence as required by the Independence Standards Board
Standard No. 1. This information was discussed with the auditors.
The Audit Committee also considered whether the provision by DT
of services other than audit services is compatible with the auditors’
independence.

Based on these discussions, the Audit Committee recom-
mended to the Board of Directors that the audited financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 be
included in our annual report on Form 10-K.

Don Swenson, Chair  Anthony J. Bolland  Jacques Leduc  George M. Revering
Members of the Audit Committee

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following is a summary of the fees billed to RCC by DT for
professional services rendered for the fiscal years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and 2004

Fee Category | Fiscal 2005 Fees | Fiscal 2004 Fees
Audit fees $747,375 $ 942,690
Audit-related fees 27625 27,625
Tax fees 54,582 84,425
All other fees — —
Total fees $829,582 $1,054,740

Audit Fees, Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered
for the audit of RCC’s annual consolidated financial statements,
review of the interim consolidated financial statements included in
quarterly reports, services that are normally provided by DT in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements, and
services related to the review of and attestation to RCC'’s internal
control of financial reporting as required under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Also included are fees of $125,000
and $187,925 in 2005 and 2004, respectively, for services related
to RCC's senior subordinated notes offering in November 2005 and
senior secured notes offering in March 2004,

Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed for assurance and related
services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit
or review of RCC’s consolidated financial statements and are not
reported under “Audit Fees.” These services include employee
benefit plan audits, accounting consolidations in connection with
acquisitions and divestitures, attest services that are not required by
statute or regulation, and consultations concerning financial ac-
counting and reporting standards.

Tax Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services for tax
compliance, tax advice and tax planning. These services include
assistance regarding federal and state tax compliance, tax audit
defense, and acquisitions and divestitures.

All Other Fees. Consists of fees for products and services other than
the services reported above.
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Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and
Permissible Non-Audit Services of independent Auditors

All services provided by our independent auditor, DT, are
subject to pre-approval by our Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee has authorized the Chair of the Committee to approve
services by DT in the event there is a need for such approval prior
to the next full Audit Committee meeting. However, a full report of
any such interim approval must be given at the next Audit
Committee meeting. Before granting any approval, the Audit
Committee {or the committee Chair, if applicable) must receive: (i) a
detailed description of the proposed service; (i) a statement from
management as to why they believe DT is best qualified to perform
the service; and (iii} an estimate of the fees to be incurred. Before
granting any approval, the Audit Committee (or the committee Chair,
if applicable) gives due consideration to whether approval of the
proposed service will have a detrimental impact on DT's
independence.

All audit and nen-audit services provided by DT during fiscal
2005 and 2004 were approved in advance in accordance with our
pre-approval policy.

ltem No. 3 Approval of 2006 Cmnibus
Incentive Plam

On February 16, 2006, the Board unanimously approved and
adopted, subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at
the annual meeting, the Rural Cellular Corporation 2006 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Pian affords the Board, acting
through its Compensation Committee, the ability to design compen-
satory awards that are responsive to the Company’s needs and
includes authorization for a variety of awards designed to advance
the Company’s interests and long-term success by encouraging
stock ownership among officers, directors, and employees.

The Company has historically granted stock options and
restricted stock under various incentive compensation plans,
including the Company's 1995 Stock Compensation Plan and the
Stock Option Plan for Nonemployee Directors (the “Prior Plans™). No
further awards may be made under these Prior Plans after approval
of this Plan, but unissued shares from those plans are being
transferred to this Plan. If approved by shareholders, the Plan will
become effective and will replace the Prior Plans and the
Management Incentive Plan. The Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan will continue in effect.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in
person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote is required
for approval of the Plan. The following summary of the principal
provisions of the Plan is not intended to be exhaustive and is
qualified in its entirety by the terms of the Plan, a copy of which
may be obtained from the Company. A copy of the Plan has been
filed electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission as
an appendix to the proxy statement and is available through the
Commission’s website at www.sec.gov.

Plan Highlights

The Plan authorizes the Compensation Committeg to provide equity-
based compensation in the form of stock options, stock appreciation
rights ("SARs'"), restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance
shares and units, cash-based awards, and other stock-based
awards for the purpose of providing the Company’s officers,
directors, and employees performance incentives. Some of the key
features of the Plan that reflect the Company’s commitment to
effective management of incentive compensation are set forth below
and are described more fully under the heading "“Summary of the
Plan" and in the Plan,
« Plan Limits. The Plan limits the aggregate number of stock options
and SARs that may be granted to any one participant in a
calendar year to 100,000 in each instance, the aggregate number
of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units,
performance shares, and shares underlying other equity-based
awards that may be granted to any one participant in a calendar
year to 100,000 in each instance, and no participant will receive
performance units in any calendar year having a value at the date
of grant in excess of the value of 100,000 shares. No cash
award may exceed more than $2,000,000.
Share Counting. The Plan provides that shares covering awards that
expire or are forfeited will again be available for issuance under
the Plan. In addition, the following shares will be added back to
the aggregate plan timit: (1) shares tendered in payment of the
option price and (2) shares withheld by the Company to satisfy
tax withholding obligations. Further, only the shares actually
issued when a SAR is exercised and settled in shares will be
deemed delivered for purposes of determining the maximum
number of shares available pursuant to the Pian.
« No Repricing. Option repricing is prohibited without shareholder
approval.
« Qther Features.

* The Plan also provides that no stock options or SARs will be
granted with an exercise or base price less than the fair
market value of the Company’s Class A common stock on
the date of grant. The closing market price of the
Company’s Class A common stock as reported on The
Nasdaq Stock Market on March 31, 2006 was $14.71 per
share.

« The Plan is designed to allow awards made under the Plan
to qualify as performance-based compensation under Sec-
tion 162(m} of the Internal Revenue Code.

* |t is intended that the Compensation Committee of the
Board, pursuant to Board delegation, will have all of the
power and authority necessary to administer the Plan.

Summary of the Plan

Shares Available Under the Plan. The number of shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock that may be issued or
transferred under the Plan will not exceed 1,000,000 shares plus
any shares not issued or subject to outstanding awards under the
Company’s Prior Plans as of the effective date of the Plan or any




such shares which cease for any reason to be subject to the Prior
Plans after the effective date of the Plan. As of March 31, 2006,
197,783 shares were not subject to outstanding awards under the
Prior Plans and 1,692,669 shares were subject to currently
outstanding awards. Shares covered by an award granted under the
Plan will not be counted as used unless and until they are actually
issued and delivered to a participant. Upon payment in cash of the
benefit provided by any award granted under the Plan, any shares
that were covered by that award will again be available under the
Plan. Shares issued under the Plan may be shares of original
issuance or shares reacquired by the Company or a combination of
the foregoing. The Plan contains limits on the number of shares
that can be issued, including to any one participant in a calendar
year as described above. Further, the Plan limits the aggregate
number of shares that may be issued or transferred by the
Company upon the exercise of incentive stock options (“150s™) to
2,890,452 shares, or all of the shares potentially awardable under
the Plan. The limits contained in the Plan are subject to certain
adjustments as provided in the Plan in the event of stock splits,
stock dividends, and certain other events.

Eligibility. All employees, directors, and third party service providers
of the Company, its affiliates and/or its subsidiaries, may be
selected by the Committee to receive benefits under the Plan. As of
March 31, 2006, approximately 55 officers, directors, and
employees were eligible to participate in the Plan.

Types of Awards Authorized. The Plan provides for the granting of
option rights, SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance shares, performance units, cash awards, dividend
equivalents and other awards that may be denominated or payable
in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based
on or related to, the Company’s Class A common stock or factors
that may influence the value of its Class A common stock. Awards
granted under the Plan will be upon such terms as may be
approved by the Committee and set forth in an award agreement.
An award agreement will contain such terms and provisions,
consistent with the Plan, as the Committee may approve, including
provisions for the acceleration of vesting or satisfaction of other
reguirements upon the occurrence of certain events, including
change in control events. No option right or appreciation right may
be exercisable more than ten years from the date of grant.

Performance Measures. The Plan contemplates that the Committee will
establish “'performance measures” for purposes of performance
shares and performance units and cash awards. When so
determined, option rights, SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock
units, other awards under the Plan or dividend credits may also
specify performance measures that must be achieved as a condition
to exercising such rights in the case of options and SARs or to result
in termination or early termination of the restrictions applicable to
such shares in the case of restricted stock and restricted stock units.
Performance measures may be described in terms of either
Company-wide objectives or objectives that are related to the
performance of the individual participant or a subsidiary, affiliate or

business unit. The Committee may provide, in connection with the
setting of performance measures, that any evaluation of performance
measures may include or exclude certain items, including but not
limited to, asset write-downs, litigation or claim judgments or
settlements, the effect of changes in tax laws, accounting principles
or other laws or provisions affecting reported results, any reorganiza-
tion and restructuring programs, extraordinary nonrecurring items as
described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/or in
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to
shareholders for the applicable year, acquisitions or divestitures, and
foreign exchange gains and losses. To the extent such inclusions or
exclusions affect the awards to “covered employees” (as defined in
the Plan), they will be prescribed in a form that meets the
requirements of 162(m) for deductibility.

Performance measures applicable to any award to a partici-
pant who is, or is determined by the Committee likely to become, a
“covered employee” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code, will be limited to: net earnings or net
income (before or after taxes); earnings per share; net sales,
revenue growth, or focal service revenue; net operating profit;
operating income; return measures (including, but not limited to,
return on assets, capital, invested capital, equity, sales, or revenue);
cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow, free
cash flow, cash flow return on equity, and cash flow return on
investment); eamings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation,
and/or amortization (including adjusted EBITDA); EBITDA margin;
gross or operating margins; productivity ratios; share price
{including, but not limited to, growth measures and total shareholder
return); expense targets; margins; operating efficiency; market
share; customer satisfaction; working capital targets; capital
expenditures; customer growth, net customer growth, or local
service revenue growth; and economic value added or EVA® (net
operating profit after tax minus the sum of capital multiplied by the
cost of capital), in each case as defined by the Committee from
time to time. Such performance measures may be used to measure
the performance of the Company, subsidiary, and/or affiliate as a
whole or any business unit of the Company, subsidiary, and/or
affiliate or any combination thereof, as the Committee may deem
appropriate, or any of the above performance measures may be
compared to the performance of a group of comparative companies,
or published or special index that the Committee, in its sole
discretion, deems appropriate, or the Company may compare share
price to various stock market indices.

Administration and Amendments. The Plan is to be administered by the
Committee. The Committee is authorized to interpret the Plan and
related agreements and other documents. The Board may amend
the Plan from time to time without further approval by the
Company’s shareholders, except where the amendment must
otherwise be approved by the shareholders of the Company in order
to comply with applicable law or the rules and regulations of The
New York Stock Exchange or The Nasdaq Stock Market.
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Change in Control. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as
defined in the Plan), unless otherwise specifically prohibited under
applicable laws, or by the rules and regulations of any governing
governmental agencies or national securities exchanges, or unless
the Committee shall determine otherwise in the award agreement,
any and all options and SARs granted under the Plan shall become

imposed on restricted stock or restricted stock units shall lapse.

In addition, target payout opportunities attainable under all
outstanding awards of performance-based restricted stock, perform-
ance-based restricted stock units, performance units, performance
shares, and performance-based cash-based awards shall be

all relevant targeted performance goals as of the effective date of
the Change of Control, and the vesting of all awards denominated
in shares shall be accelerated as of the effective date of the
Change of Control and shall be paid out to participants within thirty
i days following the effective date of the Change of Control and

i awards denominated in cash shall be paid to participants in cash
}

within thirty days following the effective date of the Change of
Control, The Committee may, in its sole discretion, elect to pay out
all awards in cash in lieu of shares.

i “Change in Control’ means the happening of any of the following:

L (@ A majority of the directors of the Company elected by the

5 holders of Company’'s Common Stock shall be persons other

/ than persons:

()  for whose election proxies shall have been solicited by

: the Board, or

(il who are then serving as directors appointed by the
Board to fill vacancies on the Board caused by death or
resignation (but not by removal) or to fill newly-created
directorships,

30% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the Company

is acquired or beneficially owned (as defined in Rule 13d-3

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or any successor

rule thereto) by any person (other than the Company or a

subsidiary of the Company) or group of persons acting in

concert (other than the acquisition and beneficial ownership by

a parent company or its wholly-owned subsidiaries, as long as

they remain wholly-owned subsidiaries, of 100% of the

outstanding voting stock of the Company as a resuit of a

merger which complies with paragraph (¢){i(B) hereof in all

respects), or
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73 (c) The consummation of:

;_ ‘ () a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into
& another entity other than

& (A) a merger or consolidation with a subsidiary of
:‘ ‘ the Company, or

S (B) a merger in which the persons who were the
I beneficial owners, respectively, of the out-

standing Common Stock and outstanding
voting stock of the Company immediately prior
/" to such merger beneficially own, directly or

G
P

|

immediately exercisable and any period of restriction and restrictions

deemed to have been earned based on an assumed achievement of

indirectly, immediately after the merger, a
majority of, respectively, the then outstanding
common stock and the then outstanding
voting stock of the surviving entity or its
parent entity, or

(i) an exchange, pursuant to a statutory exchange of shares

of outstanding voting stock of the Company held by
shareholders of the Company immediately prior to the
exchange, of shares of one or more classes or series of
outstanding voting stock of the Company for cash,
securities, or other property, except for voting securities
of a direct or indirect parent entity of the Company (after
giving effect to the statutory share exchange) owning
directly, or indirectly through wholly-owned subsidiaries,
both beneficially and of record 100% of the outstanding
voting stock of the Company immediately after the
statutory share exchange if (i) the persons who were the
beneficial owners, respectively, of the outstanding voting
stock of the Company and the outstanding Common
Stock of the Company immediately before such statutory
share exchange own, directly or indirectly, immediately
after the statutory share exchange a majority of,
respectively, the voting power of the then outstanding
voting securities and the then outstanding common stock
{or comparable equity interest) of such parent entity, and
{iiy all holders of any class or series of outstanding voting
stack of the Company immediately prior to the statutory
share exchange have the right to receive substantially the
same per share consideration in exchange for their
outstanding voting stock of the Company as all other
holders of such class or series (except for those
exercising statutory dissenters’ rights), or

(i) the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of

the assets of the Company (in one transaction or a
series of transactions), or
(d The approval by the shareholders of the Company of the
liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

The Committee may, in its sole discretion, determine that any
or all outstanding awards granted under the Plan, will be canceled
and terminated and that in connection with such cancellation and
termination the holder of such award may receive for each share
subject to such award a cash payment (or the delivery of shares of
stock, other securities or a combination of cash, stock and
securities equivalent to such cash payment) equal to the difference,
if any, between the consideration received by shareholders of the
Company in respect of a share in connection with such transaction
and the purchase price per share, if any, under the award
multiptied by the number of shares subject to such award; provided
that if such product is zero or less, the awards may be canceled
and terminated without payment therefor.

Transferability. Except for qualified domestic relations orders, or as
otherwise determined by the Committee, no option right or SAR or
other derivative security granted under the Plan is transferable by a




participant except, upon death, by will or the Jaws of descent and
distribution. Except as otherwise determined by the Board or
Committee, option rights and SARs are exercisable during the
optionee’s lifetime only by him or her or by his or her guardian or
legal representative.

Adjustments. The number of shares covered by outstanding awards
under the Plan and, if applicable, the prices per share applicable
thereto, are subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends,
stock splits, combinations of shares, recapitalizations, mergers,
consolidations, spin-offs, split-offs, spin-outs, split-ups, reorganiza-
tions, liquidations, issuances of rights or warrants, and sirnilar
events. In the event of any such transaction or event or in the event
of a Change in Control, the Committee, in its discretion, may
provide in substitution for any or all outstanding awards under the
Plan such alternative consideration (including cash), if any, as it, in
good faith, may determine to be equitable in the circumstances and
may require the surrender of all awards so replaced. The
Committee may also make or provide for such adjustments in the
number of shares available under the Plan and the other limitations
contained in the Plan as the Committee may determine appropriate
to reflect any transaction or event described above.

Withholding Taxes. To the extent that the Company is required to
withhold federal, state, local, or foreign taxes in connection with any
payment made or benefit realized by a participant under the Plan,
the Company may require the participant to remit the taxas required
to be withheld.

Termination. No grant will be made under the Plan more than ten
years after the date on which the Plan is first approved by the
Company’s shareholders, but all grants made on or prior 10 such
date will continue in effect thereafter subject to the terms thereof
and of the Plan.

Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a brief summary of some of the federal
income tax consequences of certain transactions under the Plan
based on federal income tax laws in effect on January 1, 20086.
This summary is not intended to be complete and does not
describe state or iocal tax consequences.

Tax Consequences to Participants

Non-qualified Option Rights. In general, (1) no income will be
recognized by an optionee at the time a non-qualified option right is
granted; (2) at the time of exercise of a non-qualified option right,
ordinary income will be recognized by the optionee in an amount
equal to the difference between the option price paid for the shares
and the fair market value of the shares, if unrestricted, on the date
of exercise; and (3) at the time of sale of shares acquired pursuant
to the exercise of a non-qualified option right, appreciation (or
depreciation) in value of the shares after the date of exercise will
be treated as either short-term or long-term capital gain (or loss)
depending on how long the shares have been held.

Incentive Option Rights, No income generally will be recognized by an
optionee upon the grant or exercise of an 1S0. The exercise of an
ISG, however, will result in an alternative minimum tax adjustment
to the extent the fair market value of the shares exceeds the option
price paid for the shares, which may result in a tax liability for
alternative minimum tax purposes. if shares are issued to the
optionee pursuant to the exercise of an IS0, and if no disqualifying
disposition of such shares is made by such optionee within two
years after the date of grant or within one year after the transfer of
such shares to the optionee, then upon sale of such shares, any
amount reaiized in excess of the aption price paid for the shares
will be taxed to the optionee as a long-term capital gain and any
loss sustained will be a long-term capital loss.

If common shares acquired upon the exercise of an 1SO are
disposed of prior to the expiration of either holding period described
above, the optionee generally will recognize ordinary income in the
year of disposition in an amount equal to the excess (if any) of the
fair market value of such shares at the time of exercise (or, if less,
the amount realized on the disposition of such shares if a sale or
exchange) over the option price paid for such shares. Any further
gain (or loss) realized by the participant generally will be taxed as
short-term or fong-term capital gain (or loss) depending on the
holding period.

SARs. No income will be recognized by a participant in connection
with the grant of a tandem SAR or a free-standing SAR. When the
SAR is exercised, the participant normally will be required to include
as taxable ordinary income in the year of exercise an amount equal
to the amount of cash received and the fair market value of any
unrestricted shares received on the exercise.

Restricted Stock. The recipient of restricted stock generally will be
Subject to tax at ordinary income rates on the fair market value of
the restricted stock (reduced by any amount paid by the participant
for such restricted stock) at such time as the shares are no longer
subject to forfeiture or restrictions on transfer for purposes of
Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”) (""Restrictions”). However, a recipient who so elects under
Section 83(b) of the Code within 30 days of the date of transfer of
the shares will have taxable ordinary income on the date of transfer
of the shares equal to the excess of the fair market value of such
shares (determined without regard to the Restrictions) over the
purchase price, if any, of such restricted stock. If an election under
Section 83(b) of the Code has not been timely made, any dividends
received with respect to restricted stock that is subject to the
Restrictions generally will be taxed as ordinary income to the
participant.

Restricted Stock Units. No income generally will be recognized upon
the award of restricted stock units. The recipient of a restricted stock
unit award generally will be subject to tax at ordinary income rates
on the fair market value of unrestricted shares on the date that such
shares are transferred to the participant under the award (reduced by
any amount paid by the participant for such restricted stock units),
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and the capital gains/loss holding period for such shares will also
commence on such date.

Performance Shares and Performance Units. No income generally will be
recognized upon the grant of performance shares or performance
units. Upon payment in respect of the eamn-out of performance
shares or performance units, the recipient generally will be required
to include as taxable ordinary income in the year of receipt an
amount equal to the amount of cash received and the fair market
value of any unrestricted shares received.

Tax Consequences to the Company. To the extent that a participant
recognizes ordinary income in the circumstances described above, the
Company will be entitled to a carresponding deduction provided that,

New Plan Benefits

among other things, the income meets the test of reasonableness, is
an ordinary and necessary busingss expense, is not an “‘excess
parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the
Code, and is not disallowed by the $7 million limitation on certain
executive compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code.

Registration with the SEC

The Company intends to file a Registration Statement on Form S-8
relating to the issuance of common shares under the Plan with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, as soon as is practicable after approval of
the Plan by the Company's shareholders.

The Board of Directors, upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee, has approved prospectively the grant of stock options and
restricted stock units (RSUs) under the Plan to three executive officers of the Company (listed below) and to the nonemployee directors,
subject to the approval of the Plan by the Company's shareholders at the annual meeting.

The following table provides certain information with respect to such grants;

Estimated Estimated

Doliar Number of Number of
Name and Position Value (3)® Options®™ RSUs®
Richard P. Ekstrand — 32,667 31,778
President and Chief Executive Officer
Wesley E. Schultz — 18,000 12,000
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Ann K. Newhall — 18,000 12,000
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Nonemployee directors as a group (7 persons) — — 18,669

(a) The actual dollar value of the options and RSUs cannot be determined at this time. The options will be granted at the fair market value of the Company’s
Class A common stock on the date of grant, which will be the date of shareholder approval of the Plan.

(b) The estimated number of options provided above is based on a $15 closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock. The actual number of
options granted to each executive or director will differ significantly only if the stock price is significantly different from $15 on the date of grant.

(c) The estimated number of RSUs provided above is based on a $15 closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock. The actual number of RSUs
granted to each executive or director will differ significantly only if the price is significantly different from $15 on the date of grant. In addition, this
number reflects the number of target RSUs to be earned. Because the RSUs are subject to performance-based conditions, the number of RSUs actually
earned will depend on the following factors: () 70% of the units will be earned based on the achievement of target EBITDA goals for 2006 and (i) 30%
will be earned based on the achievement of net postpaid customers added during 2008. Further, the earned units will only vest if the executive is still
employed with the Company as of December 31, 2008. The RSUs to be granted to the nonemployee directors are not subject to performance-based
conditions and will vest over a one-year period; however, actual payment will not occur until six months after termination of service. Vested units will be
paid out in shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, with one unit equaling one share.

Other than the options and RSUs detailed above, no awards have been made to date under the Plan. Awards for which benefits may
be paid under the Plan are made at the discretion of the Compensation Committeg, subject to the maximum plan and individual limitations

described above.
Vote Reguired

The affirmative vote of a majority of the combined voting power of the shares of common stock present and voting on such matter is

required for the approval of the Plan.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the approval of the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan. Your proxy will be

so voted unless you specify otherwise,




Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes share and exercise price information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2005.

Number of
securities
remaining
Number of available for future
securities to be issuance
issued upon Weighted-average under equity
exercise of exercise price of compensation
outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants options, warrants securities reflected
Plan Category and rights and rights in the first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders™ 1,863,029 $ 15.09 379,605
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders® — — —
TOTAL 1,863,029 $ 15.09 379,605

(1) Includes stock subject to outstanding options and stock available for issuance under our 1995 Stock Compensation Plan, Stock Option Plan for

Nonemployee Directors, and Employee Stock Purchase Plar.

(2) We have not adopted any equity compensation plans that have not been approved by our shareholders. The 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan is subject to

shareholder approval and is not included in this table.

o

@)

X

NMUSTEENE A




Execulive GCompensation

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information with regard to compensation paid to our Chief Executive Officer and to each other executive officer
whose total annual salary and bonus for fiscal 2005 exceeded $100,000 (the “Named Executive Officers").
Long-Term
Compensation
Awards
. Securities
Fiscal Annual Compensation Underlying Al Other
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Options Compensation
Richard P. Ekstrand 2005 $ 518,000 $ 407,264 — $ 18,6209
President and Chief Executive Officer 2004 518,000 207,200 —_ 18,470
/ 2003 508,000 535,093 80,000 19,082
Wesley E. Schultz 2005 $ 402,000 $ 254,958 — $ 14,1609
Executive Vice President and 2004 402,000 128,640 — 14,010
Chief Financial Officer 2003 394,000 337,789 60,000 13,835
Ann K. Newhall 2005 $ 402,000 $ 254,958 — $ 15,319
Executive Vice President and 2004 402,000 128,640 — 15,169
Chief Operating Officer 2003 394,000 337,789 60,000 13,843
David J. Del Zoppo 2005 $ 190,550 $ 37,380 — $ 6300
Senior Vice President, Finance and 2004 185,000 37,555 — 6,150
Accounting 2003 166,000 62,051 5,000 4,506
(1) Except as otherwise indicated, for alf years, All Other Compensation consists of RCC’s contributions on behalf of sach Named Executive Officer to RCC's
401(k) Plan and to the deferred compensation plan.

NG

N

(2) Includes RCC's matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan of $6,300 and payment of $12,320 of premiums for long-term care insurance for Mr. Ekstrand

and his spouse.

(3) Includes RCC’s matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan of $8,300 and payment of $7,860 of premiums for long-term care insurance for Mr. Schultz and

his spouse.

{4} Includes RCC's matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan of $6,300 and payment of $9,019 of premiums for long-term care insurance for Ms. Newhall

and her spouse.

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year
No options were granted to the Named Executive Officers during the 2005 fiscal year.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table provides information relating to option exercises during fiscal 2005 and the number and value of shares of Class A
Common Stock subject to aptions heid by the Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2005.

\ Number of S_hares querlying Value of Unexerci_sed

\ Shares Unexercised Options In-the-Money Options
2 Acquired Value at Fiscal Year-End" at Fiscal Year-End®
Zé Name on Exercise Realized Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable |
% . Richard P. Ekstrand — — 349,743 96,000 $ 1,473,863 $ 1,000,160
% f Wesley E. Schultz 90,000 $490,185 165,985 72,000 $ 802,085 $ 750,120
ih) Ann K. Newhall — — 209,485 72,000 $ 870,880 $ 750,120
% David J. Del Zoppo — — 43,614 9,000 $ 155,230 $ 84970
O
:}E ‘ (1) Rural Cellular has not granted any stock appreciation rights.

|

(2) Value is calculated as the difference between the closing price of Class A Common Stock on December 31, 2005 ($14.60) and the related option
exercise price muttiplied by the number of sharas underlying the option (assuming the option exercise price is higher than the clasing price).

\




Long-Term Incentive Plans — Awards In Last Fiscal Year

the following table provides information regarding restricted stock awards made to the Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2005, The awards
«cre made under the 1995 Stock Compensation Plan.

Number of
Shares, Units or

Performance or

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Non-Stock Price-Based Plans!”

QOther Rights (Other Period Until Threshold Target Maximum
Name # Maturation or Payout # # #
Richard P. Ekstrand 12,000 1/01/05 to 12/31/09 11,400 12,000 12,000
Wesley E. Schultz 9,000 1/01/05 to 12/31/09 8,550 9,000 9,000
Ann K. Newhall 8,000 1/01/05 to 12/31/09 8,550 9,000 9,000
David J. Del Zoppo 2,500 1/01/05 to 12/31/09 2,375 2,500 2,500

(1) The restricted stock awards to Messrs. Ekstrand and Schuliz and Ms. Newhall were granted in February 2005 and will vest in January 2010. The
restricted stock award to Mr. Del Zoppo was granted in December 2005 and will vest in December 2010. The shares will vest only if the grantee is still
employed by the Company on the vesting date and the Company’s average actual EBITDA for the five fiscal years ending December 31, 2009 is at least
95% of average budgeted EBITDA. If the 95% level is achiaved, 95% of the shares will vest. If a higher level is achieved, the percentage of shares

vesting will increase by the same percentage. The maximum number of shares that can vest is 100%.

If the grantee is terminated without cause or as a result of disability or death, the award will vest on a prorata basis, provided that the performance goal
has been met for the full fiscal years preceding termination. In the event of a change in control (as defined in the 1995 Stock Compensation Plan), ali
shares will immediately vest. in addition to the shares, Mr. Ekstrand, Mr. Schultz, and Ms. Newnhall will also receive a cash payment equal to 50% of the
value of the shares vesting to cover income taxes payable upon receipt of the shares. During the restricted period, grantees have the right to vote the
shares and receive any dividends that may be paid on the shares. The value of the shares on the date of grant was: Mr. Ekstrand, $81,240, Mr. Schultz

and Ms. Newhall, $60,930, and Mr. Del Zoppo, $32,450.
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Employment Agreements/Change in Control
Provisions

RCC has entered into employment agreements with

Messrs. Ekstrand and Schultz and Ms. Newhall. Each agreement
prohibits the individual from engaging in any activity competitive
with our business or contacting our customers or employees for that
purpose for a period of one year (for Mr. Ekstrand) or six months
(for Mr. Schultz and Ms. Newhall) following termination of
employment. The employment agreements, which were entered into
in January 1999, provide for an initial term ending December 31,
2001 and, unless RCC or the executive gives notice otherwise, are
automatically renewed each year for an additional one-year period,
so that the remaining term of employment is never less than

two years. Fach agreement may be terminated at any time by either
the individual or us. If any of the agreements is terminated at any
time by us for other than “just cause’ (as defined in the
employment agreements), we are obligated to continue payment of
salary and other benefits for the remainder of the term of the
agreement. The employment agreements provide for annual base
salaries plus increases as may be determined from time to time,
but at least annually.

In the event any of these individuals is terminated for other
than just cause or terminates his or her employment for “‘good
reason” (as defined in the employment agreements), within
24 months following a change in control of RCC, he or she will be
entitled to receive compensation in an amount equal to 2.99 times
the average of the sum of his or her annual base salary and annual
incentive payments for the three fiscal years immediately preceding
such termination. In addition, the individual will be entitled to
continue to participate in our group medical, dental, life, and
disability plans on the same basis as he or she participated
immediately prior to termination for a period of eighteen months
following the date of termination. The individual shal! be responsible
for payment of premiums to the same extent as prior to termination,
and we will reimburse the individual for any amount by which the
premium exceeds the amount for which the individual was
responsible at the time of termination. If the individual obtains
substantially equivalent coverage or benefits from another source,
we will have no further obligation for these benefits. Also, in the
event of a change in control, the Company has agreed to pay all
remaining premiums on any long-term care insurance policies then
provided by the Company for each of the officers and his or her
spouse, provided the officer is employed by the Company at the
time of the change in control.

We have also entered into a change in control agreement with
Mr. Del Zoppo providing that in the event he is terminated for other
than “just cause” or terminates his employment for “good reason”
{each as defined in the agreement), within 24 months following a
change in control of RCC, he will be entitled to receive
compensation in an amount equal to 100% of the sum of his
highest annual base salary as in effect during the period beginning
twelve months prior to the change in control until the date of
termination and the highest annual incentive payment to him for the
period beginning twelve months prior to the change in control until
the date of termination. In addition, he will be entitled to continue

to participate in our group medical, dental, life, and disability plans
on the same basis as he participated immediately prior to
termination for a period of six months following the date of
termination. He shall be responsible for payment of premiums to the
same extent as prior to termination, and we will reimburse him for
any amount by which the premium exceeds the amount for which
he was responsible at the time of termination. If he obtains
substantially equivalent coverage or benefits from another source,
we will have no further obligation for these benefits.
In addition, in the event of a change in control, any award
granted under our 1995 Stock Compensation Plan will become fully
vested and exercisable.
A change in control occurs when
« the majority of our directors are not persons whose election was
solicited by our board or who were appointed by our Board,

* any person or group of persons acquires 30% or more of our
outstanding voting stock, or

» the shareholders approve liquidation, or dissolution, or specified
mergers or consolidations or exchanges of shares, or dispositions
of substantially ail of our assets.

Deferred Compensation Plan

We have adopted a deferred compensation plan, which permits
designated key employees to defer between 5% and 100% of his
or her compensation during any plan year. In fiscal 2006,

Messrs. Ekstrand and Schultz and Ms. Newhall were eligible to
participate in the deferred compensation plan. The purpose of the
deferred compensation plan is to allow the individual to defer
amounts in addition to the amounts permitted under the tax rules
for contributions to 401(k) plans. Under the terms of the plan, RCC
is required to make a matching contribution in an amount equal to
50% of the individual's deferred amaount, but only 1o the extent the
deferred amount, when added to any amounts contributed by the
individual to our 401(k) plan, does not exceed 6% of the
individual’s compensation. The matching contribution is made in the
discretion of RCC at the end of the year and is contingent upon
reaching established financial goals. No matching payments were
made by the Company in 2005,

Payment of benefits from the deferred compensation plan is to
be made after termination of the participant’s employment. In the
gvent of the participant’s death, the balance in the participant’s
account is to be paid to the participant's beneficiary. Payment may
be made by lump sum or in up to ten annual installments, as
glected by the participant. The Company adopted a new plan,
effective January 1, 2005, that complies with Section 409A of the
Cade.

Long-Term Care Insurance

Beginning in 2004, the Company agreed to pay premiums on long-
term care insurance for the three top executives and their spouses
in lieu of matching contributions to the deferred compensation plan.
The insurance policies provide for payment of premiums over a ten-
year pericd. In the event of a change in control, the premiums for
any remaining portion of the ten-year period are to be paid in full
by the Company. In 2005, the aggregate amount of these
premiums for the three executive officers was $29,199.




Jeport of Compensation Committee

Tverview. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
JAhe "Committee”) is comprised solely of directors who are not
zurrent or former employees of Rural Cellular, and each is
independent as defined by the Nasdaq Stock Market gcvernance
rules. The Committee is responsible for establishing cormpensation
policies and evaluating the compensation programs for the
Company's executive officers and other key employees. The
Committee engages an independent compensation consultant to
assist it in this process.

Compensation Philesophy. The compensation program for RCC’s

executive officers is designed to:

* attract and retain superior talent and reward individual
performance;

* encourage strong financial performance by emphasizing perform-
ance-based compensation; and

* encourage executive stock ownership and alignment with share-
holder interests by providing a significant portion of compensation
in the form of the Company’s common stock or options to
purchase the common stock.

The principal elements of the executive compensation program
consist of base salary, annual cash incentives, and long-term
incentives in the form of stock options and restricted stock. The
Company strives to be competitive with compensation programs of
comparable wireless telecommunications companies. In comparing
Rural Cellular to these companies, the commitiee relies upon salary
survey data developed and published by external sources, including
the Cellular Telecommunications and Internet Association.

The Compensation Committee periodically conducts a review of
our executive compensation programs to ensure that the programs
are meeting the objectives listed above. In that review, the
Committee considers data submitted by management and external
data, including the data referred to in the preceding paragraph, and
additional input from the consultant.

Base Salary. In making recommendations to the Board of Directors
regarding an individual's base salary, the Compensation Committee
considers the compensation levels of similar positions at comparable
companies, the responsibilities and performance of the individual
executive officer, and RCC’s recent financial performance.
Generally, salary determinations are made prior to or at the
beginning of each calendar year based upon evaluations and
recommendations made by the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief
Executive Officer provides the Compensation Committee with a
performance appraisal for each other executive officer that assesses
the individual's performance in the following areas: accountabilities
of the position, individual goals and objectives, special projects and
assignments, and management skills. A salary recommendation is
made based upon the individual’s overall performance assessment
and where the individual's salary falls within the range of salaries
for similar positions at comparable companies within the industry.
For fiscal 2005, base salaries of the top three Named Executive
Officers did not increase, and the base salaries of other officers
increased 3%. This decision was made after analysis of the state of

the national economy, the low inflation rate, the downturn in the
wireless industry as a whole, and the individual's performancs.

Incentive Bonuses. Each executive officer is eligible to receive a cash
bonus at the end of the fiscal year based upon RCC's financial
performance and the officer’s achievement of specified individual
goals. The purpose of this annual cash incentive program is to
provide a direct financial incentive to the executive officers to meet
or exceed financial and other performance objectives.

Potential bonus awards for executive officers are determined at
the beginning of each fiscal year. For fiscal 2005, each Named
Executive Officer’s potential annual bonus (in target amounts ranging
from 35% to 100% of the individual's base salary, with possible
increase if the goals were exceeded) was based on attainment of
certain financial goals as reflected in RCC's fiscal 2005 budget and
specified individual goals. For fiscal 2005, the financial goals were
based upon achievement of specified levels of budgeted EBITDA
(earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) and
customer growth, Because the customer growth goal was not
reached, that portion of the targeted bonus was not paid for 2005.
The Committee also determined that the top three Named Executive
Officers had not fully attained their specified individual goals, and,
accordingly, that portion of their targeted bonus was reduced as well.
For fiscal 2005, bonuses paid to the Named Executive Officers
ranged between 19% and 78% of base salary.

Stock-based Compensation. Stock-based compensation is designed to
align the interest of RCC's executives with those of shareholders by
encouraging executives to enhance the value of RCC and, hence,
the price of the Class A Common Stock and return to shareholders.
The objective of stock-based compensation is to assist in the
recruitment, motivation, and retention of key professional and
managerial personnel as well as to reward eligible employees for
outstanding performance. In addition, through deferred vesting, this
component of the compensation system is designed to create an
incentive for the individual executive to remain with RCC.

In 2005, the Company granted shares of restricted stock to
executive employees. These restricted shares will cliff vest after five
years, so long as the Company reaches certain levels of budgeted
EBITDA over the five-year period. In the event the executive's
employment is terminated (other than voluntarily or for cause), the
shares will vest pro rata, so long as the goals have been met for
the relevant period. In the event of a change in control, the shares
will immediately vest in full, whether or not the goals have been
met. The Named Executive Officers were granted an aggregate of
32,500 shares of restricted stock in 2005.

The Company maintains an employee stock purchase plan
pursuant to which all eligible employees, including executive
officers, are given the opportunity to purchase shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock at a discount. The board of
directors has discretion to limit the number of shares that may be
purchased by any employee in any fiscal year. (n 2005, that limit
was 1,000 shares. Each of the Named Executive Officers purchased
1,000 shares at $5.32 per share during 2005.

Deferred Compensation. The Company has established a deferred
compensation plan, in which the top three executives are eligible to
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participate. Prior to 2004, the Company made contributions to the
deferred compensation plan, subject to the limits of employer
contributions under defined contribution plans. Matching contribu-
tions to the deferred compensation plan were discontinued in 2004.

Long-Term Care Insurance. Beginning in 2004, the Company agreed to
pay premiums on long-term care insurance for the three top
executives and their spouses in lieu of matching contributions to the
deferred compensation plan. The insurance policies provide for
payment of premiums over a ten-year period. In the event of a
change in control, the premiums for any remaining portion of the
ten-year period are to be paid in full by the Company. In 2005, the
aggregate amount of these premiums for the three executive
officers was $29,199.

Ghief Executive Officer’s Compensation. The Compensation Committee
determines Mr. Ekstrand’s compensation package in accordance
with the methodology described above. In evaluating and setting the
Chief Executive Officer's target annual compensation, the committee
reviews RCC's business and financial performance, considering such
factors as sales, earnings, customer growth, and market share, as
well as RCC's progress with respect to its long-term goals and
strategies. The Committee does not assign relative weights or
rankings to these factors, but instead makes a subjective
determination based upon a consideration of all of these factors.
For fiscal 2005, the Compensation Committee recommended
that the Chief Executive Officer’s salary remain at $518,000, based
upon its evaluation of the state of the national economy, the low
inflation rate, and the downturn in the wireless industry as a whole.
As noted above, because a portion of the goals for fiscal
2005 was not achieved, Mr. Ekstrand’s bonus of $407,264 reflects
such partial achievement. In addition, in 2005, Mr, Ekstrand was
granted 12,000 shares of restricted stock, which will vest in

January 2010, provided that the Company meets certain financial
goals (subject to earlier vesting upon termination of employment,
other than voluntarily or for cause, or a change in control).

Mr. Ekstrand also is the beneficiary of a long-term care insurance
policy covering him and his spouse, for which the Company pays
the premiums. The premium in fiscal 2004 was $12,320. The
Committee also considered the long-term service of Mr. Ekstrand to
the Company and has agreed to allow Mr. Ekstrand and his spouse
to continue participation in the Company’s employee health
insurance program after his retirement upon the same terms and
conditions as if he were still employed.

Tax Deductibility under Section 162(m). Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code imposes an annual deduction fimitation of $1.0 mil-
lion on the compensation of certain executive officers of publicly
held companies. The Compensation Committee considered the
impact of this limitation on RCC and determined that it would be in
the best interests of RCC to preserve the tax deduction for
compensation paid to the chief executive officer and other Named
Executive Officers to the extent possible consistent with RCC’s
executive compensation program. Accordingly, based on the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee, we have adopted
a management incentive plan, which was approved by the
shareholders, in order to provide for compensation that meets the
requirements of Section 162(m). The Committee also beligves that
there may be circumstances in which the Company’s interests are
best served by maintaining flexibility in the way compensation is
provided, whether or not the compensation is fully deductible.

Paut J. Finnegan, Chair James V. Continenza George W. Wikstrom

Members of the Gompensation Committee




stock Perfoermance Graph

(he following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder
eturn on our common stock for the period beginning December 31,
2000 through December 31, 2005, with the cumulative total returns
of the Standard & Poor’s Corporation (‘S&P") 500 Stock Index, and
4 peer group index consisting of six publicly held wireless
sompanies. The comparison assumes $100 was invested in our
common stock and in each index at the beginning of the
comparison period and reinvestment of dividends.

Qur peer group consists of Alltel Corporation, Centennial
Communications Corp., Dobson Communications Corporation, Leap
Wireless International, Inc., Suncom Wireless Holdings, Inc. (formerly
Triton PCS Holdings, Inc.), and United States Cellular Corporation.
AT&T Wireless Services, Inc., Sprint Corp. PCS Group, and Western
Wireless Corporation, which were included in prior years, were no
longer separate entities at the end of 2005.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG RURAL CELLULAR CORPORATION,
THE S&P 500 INDEX AND A PEER GROUP

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return*
Among Rural Cellular Corporation, The S&P 500 index and a Peer Group
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B Rural Cellutar Corporation A S&P 500 @ Peer Group

- *$100 invested on 12/31/00 in stock or index-including reinvestment of
dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31,
Copyright © 2006, Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc. All rights reserved. www.researchdatagroup.com/S&P.htm

Cumulative Total Return
12/00 | 12/01 | 12/02 | 12/03 | 12/04 | 12/05
RURAL CELLULAR
CORPORATION 100.00 | 75.11 287 | 26.84 | 2167 | 50.79
S & P 500 100.00 | 88.12 | 68.64 | 88.33 | 97.94 (102.75
PEER GROUP 100.00 | 9219 | 68.10 ) 6866 | 85.21 | 100.35

Certain Transaciions

Rural Cellular Corporation and its security holders and their
respective affiliates engage in a variety of transactions between or
among each other in the ordinary course of their respective
businesses. In accordance with rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market,
such transactions are reviewed and approved by the audit
committee.

Transactions with Security Holders

We have entered into various arrangements with our shareholders
or their affiliates. Arrangements involving shareholders or their
affiliates that beneficially own more than 5% of any class of our
stock and in which total payments for all of these arrangements
exceeded $60,000 in fiscal 2005 are described below. Except as
may be otherwise indicated below, we anticipate that amounts paid
or earned in 2006 will be similar to the 2005 amounts.

Leases, Interconnection Service, and Agency Agreements. We have

arrangements with several of our shareholders for cell site leases,

interconnection service agreements, and agent sales agreements,

We currently lease office space in Detroit Lakes, Minnesota, from

an affiliate of Arvig Enterprises, Inc. In addition, several of our

shareholders and their affiliates serve as agents for the sale of our
cellular and paging services.

« During 2005, we paid $880,783 to Arvig Enterprises, Inc. and its
affiliates for all services. Arvig Enterprises, Inc. is the beneficial
owner of more than 5% of our outstanding Class B Common
Stock. Don C. Swenson, one of our directors, chairman of our
audit committeg, and former member of our compensation
committee, serves as a director of Arvig Enterprises, Inc. and had
served as director of operations for Arvig Gommunications, Inc.,
an affiliate of Arvig Enterprises, Inc., from 1981 until his
retirement in 2001.

» During 2005, we paid $119,954 to Garden Valley Telephone Co.
and its affiliates, which beneficially own more than 5% of our
outstanding Class B Common Stock, for all services.

¢ During 2005, we paid $31,251 to Telephone and Data Systems,
Inc. and its affiliates, which beneficially own, in the aggregate,
more than 5% of our Class A and Class B Common Stock, for all
services.

Roaming Arrangements. We have roaming agreements with United
States Cellular Corporation, a subsidiary of Telephone and Data
Systems, Inc. Under the roaming agreements, we pay for service
pravided to our customers in areas served by United States Cellular
Corporation and receive payment for service provided to customers
of United States Cellular Corporation in our cellular service areas.
We negotiated the rates of reimbursement with United States
Cellular Corporation, and the rates reflect those charged by all
carriers. Roaming charges are passed through to the customer.
During 2005, charges to our customers for services provided by
United States Cellular Corporation totaled $1,933,176, and charges
by us to customers of United States Cellular Corporation totaled
$3,358,754.
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Cellutar and Paging Service and Equipment. Several of our shareholders
are customers for our cellular and paging services and, in
connection therewith, also purchase or lease cellular telephones and
pagers from us. During 2005, Arvig Enterprises, Inc. and its
affiliates were billed $93,254, and Garden Valley. Telephone Co. was
bilied $24,119 for these services and equipment.

Employment with RCC. Dean Revering, the son of George M.
Revering, one of our directors and a member of our audit
committee, is one of our sales managers and received $69,312 in
compensation in 2005. He is not an executive officer and does not
reside in the same household as Mr. Revering.

Other Watters

The Board of Directors is not aware that any matter other than
those described in the Notice will be presented for action at the
annual meeting. If, however, other matters do properly come before
the meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the
enclosed Proxy to vote the proxied shares in accordance with their
best judgment on such matters.

Shareholder Proposals for 2007

Amnual Meeiing

Our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is expected to be held
on or about May 25, 2007, and proxy materials in connection with
that meeting are expected to be mailed on or about April 7, 2007.
in order to be included in our proxy materials for the 2007 Annual
Meeting, shareholder proposals prepared in accordance with the

proxy rules must be received by us on or before December 19,
2006.

Under our bylaws, for business to be properly brought before
the 2007 Annual Meeting, a shareholder must give notice in writing
to the Secretary of RCC no later than April 5, 2007. Any proposal
not submitted by such date will not be considered at the 2007
Annual Meeting.

In addition, pursuant to Rule 14a-4 under the Exchange Act, if
we receive notice of a proposal on or after April 5, 2007, under
Rule 14a-4, the persons named in the proxy solicited by our Board
of Directors for the 2007 Annual Meeting may exercise discretionary
voting power with respect to such proposal.

Copies of Report on Form 10-

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, accompanies the Notice of Annual Meeting
and Proxy Statement,

It is important that Proxies be returned promptly. Shareholders are
urged to sign, date, and forward the Proxy by return mail.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

o i

Ann K. Newhall
Secretary
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